
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD REMOTELY ON ZOOM 

 
ON MONDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2021 AT 2.30 PM 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

MONDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2021
  PAGE 
 

1   Presentation on Sandymount Coastal Flood Defence Scheme   
 

9 - 30 

2   Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 12th July 2021   
 

31 - 58 

3   Environment and Transportation Department Matters 
 

i. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group Meeting held on 31st August 2021. 
 

59 - 70 

4   Culture, Recreation and Emergency Services Matters 
 

i. Report on proposed Part 8 works at Donnybrook Graveyard, Donnybrook.  
For information purposes only. 

 

71 - 86 

5   Planning and Property Management Department Matters 
 

I. Report on proposed disposal fee simple: site to rear of 12 Coolevin Road, 
Dublin 12. 
 

II. Further report on proposed disposal fee simple: plot to rear of 20 
Cambridge Avenue, Rathmines, Dublin 4.  
 

III. Report on proposed disposal: 15 year licence playing field Bushy Park, 

87 - 120 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 

This meeting may be f ilmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s w ebsite. At the start of the meeting the Chair w ill confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being f ilmed. 
 
You should be aw are that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 

General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this w ebcast w ill be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., y ou are 

consenting to being f ilmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If  you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100.  

 



 

Dublin 6W to Sportsworld Running Club. 
 

IV. Report on proposed disposal: fee simple lands at Berth 47A adjacent to 
Pigeon House Road to Dublin Port Company. 
 

V. Report on proposed disposal: Surrender of existing lease and grant of new 
10 year lease retail unit at junction of Drury Street and Stephen Street 
Lower to Deenish Ltd. T/A Masa. 
 

VI. Report on proposed disposal: 31 year lease of 133 Upper Rathmines 
Road, to HAIL Housing Association. 
 

VII. Report on proposed disposal: 10 year lease of 190A Rathmines Road to 
MART Gallery & Studios DAC. 
 

VIII. Report on proposed disposal: fee simple plot to rear of 363 Crumlin Road. 
 

6   South East Area Office Matters 
 

i. Report of the Director of Services, South City. 
 

ii. Report on proposed naming and numbering of a development at Parnell 
Avenue, Dublin 12 as An Linn Mhuilinn/Mill Pond. 
 

iii. Report on proposed naming and numbering of a development at South 
Dock Street as An Longlann / The Dockyard. 

 

121 - 
146 

7   Motions 
 
Emergency Motion 31 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

That Dublin City Council:  
 
- notes with alarm the rat infestations which came to the fore during the summer 
in the new York Street flats despite works to contain the problem, 
 
- acknowledges the regular rat infestations faced by City Council tenants as an 
ongoing public health hazard, 
 
- recognises the work done to combat these infestations in some flat complexes 
with work done to bin storage areas, maintenance and improvement of public 
spaces, and other works done to combat infestations, 
 
- regrets that the dispersion of these works has been constrained by resources 
and, consequently, has been uneven with consequences in particular for, but not 
limited to, older complexes, 
 
- further recognises the consequent neglect to the remaining complexes which 
has damaged the City Council's reputation as a landlord, 
 
- deems the current public health response arrangement with the HSE as 
unaccountable and recognises that pest control is the responsibility of the 
landlord, 
 
- commits to expanding the City Council's in-house pest control capabilities, 
 
- resolves to re-examine the Housing Maintenance budget in the context of the 
forthcoming budget to combat neglect and expand pest control, and 

147 - 
150 



 

 
- calls on the Lord Mayor to ensure that a report addressing these matters is 
presented within 2 months. 
 
Motion 1 from Councillor Dermot Lacey 

This Committee agrees to seek agreement with Irish Water on the establishment 
of a Community Liaison Committee including residents and Councillors along with 
Dublin City Council and Irish Water that can deal with local issues arising from the 
operation of the plant. 
 
Motion 2 from Councillor Dermot Lacey 

This Committee requests an update on the status of the disposal agreement with 
Bective LTC to facilitate the development of the Dodder Greenway. 
 
Motion 3 from Councillors Dermot Lacey and Claire Byrne 

This Committee supports the initiative of the Ballsbridge Tidy Towns Group for the 
development of a community garden at the ESB owned lands at Beatty’s Avenue 
as outlined in the document circulated with this Motion and requests the Manager 
to write to the ESB expressing our support for the proposal and requesting their 
support and co-operation for same. The Committee further requests the 
Community Development Team to give whatever support it can to this initiative.  
See attachment in pack. 
 
Motion 4 from Councillor Mannix Flynn 
That this committee of DCC South East Area, calls on the City Manager to initiate 
the process for a Sandymount Local Area plan to coincide with the Dublin City 
Council development plan. This area of Dublin is a unique residential location with 
many important amenities and historical structures.  It is a unique village business 
and residential area that is in very great need of a proper local area plan that 
would protect this vibrant area and its environs into the future and give it a proper 
planning process. 
 
Motion 5 from Councillor Mannix Flynn 

That this committee of the South East area call on the elected members and the 
executive to begin a process of delisting from the order of protected structures 
certain inner city flat complexes.  Many of these flat complexes are not fit for 
purpose and they need entire modernisation.  In many cases, certain sections of 
these flat complexes need to be considered for demolition, particularly where we 
have a number of examples of their architecture. 
Many of these flat complexes were designed by Herbert Simms.  Indeed, Herbert 
Simms was mindful of the dreadful conditions at the time that many of our city 
dwellers were living in, particularly the tenement slums. If Herbert Simms were 
alive today, I am sure he would have no hesitation and doubt in coming to the 
conclusion that many of these flat complexes are now unfit for purpose 
notwithstanding their architectural merit.  Housing is about people and at this 
present moment a large amount of our tenants and residents are suffering greatly 
in flat complexes such as Oliver Bond, Pearse House, Markievicz House, 
McDonagh House, Whitefriar Gardens etc., to mention but a few.  
 
We need to reconstitute these entire blocks and there is a unique opportunity here 
to make proper interventions and bring these flat complexes up to a human living 
standard. 
Architectural sensibilities and aesthetics should not be imposed on our residents 
that is going to lead to further suffering. 
Like Herbert Simms, we need to think anew and create a better future for our 
tenants in these dreadful flat complexes.  
 



 

Simply retro-fitting many of these buildings is a complete waste of time, rather 
grandiose and an appeasement to a certain professional clique who don’t live in 
these flats and these damp unsafe inhuman conditions.   
 
Motion 6 from Councillor Mannix Flynn 

That this committee of DCC agrees to set up a city centre special committee to 
deal with the ongoing issues of anti-social behaviour, public safety, assaults and 
criminality that is now widespread in our entire city centre and indeed throughout 
our city. 
 
Motion 7 from Councillor Mannix Flynn 

That this committee of DCC call on the Commemorations committee of Dublin 
City Council to erect a plaque in the honour of the first RIC policeman to be killed 
during 1916 rising at Dublin Castle Gates on Castle Street.  (Constable James O 
Brien, from Limerick) 
In recent years there has been a wreath laying process here on Cork Hill. It would 
now be appropriate that a permanent marker would identify this person.   It is also 
important to note that many in the RIC worked as secret agents for the cause of 
Irish freedom and the Irish Republic.  Many of these individuals were unknown 
and unidentified for various reasons.  
It is time to honour all of our dead and those who died in the conflicts.  
 
Motion 8 from Councillor Mary Freehill 

More than 316 bus stops in the Dutch city of Utrecht have been transformed into 
mini urban havens for bees.  The bus stops, which are owned and managed by 
operator RBL Outdoor on behalf of the local government, have been installed with 
green roofs to help meet the city’s requirements for healthy urban living.  Green 
roofs help to capture fine dust and rainwater and encourage biodiversity by 
providing ideal conditions for bees to thrive. 
I successfully tabled a motion to this effect to the review of the Development Plan 
asking the NTA to allow us use our bus stops in Dublin.  In the meantime, it is 
agreed that DCC consult with NTA to set up a pilot area from Grand Canal rough 
Harold’s Cross Rd to Terenure village to provide green roofs on all bus stops on 
this route as a first step in using these bus stop roofs for biodiversity. 
 
Motion 9 from Councillor Mary Freehill 

This committee has on a number of occasions unanimously agreed that the gate 
at Rathmines Town Hall leading to Gulistan be kept open during the day.  Despite 
this, our decision has been ignored, it is agreed yet again that the Council provide 
access to the Gulistan Bring Centre from Rathmines Road. 
 
Motion 10 from Councillor Mary Freehill 

Recognising the very serious lack of publicly accessible playing fields for GAA 
and soccer in the Dublin 6 area, this committee agrees to establish a working 
group to investigate all possible opportunities and recommend solution.  The 
group will comprise of personnel from Parks Dept., Sports Officer and elected 
members who will work in consultation with local sports clubs to examine ways to 
facilitate young people in the area who have very poor access to sports facilities 
locally.  It is agreed that this group reports back to this committee by November 
LAC. 
 
Motion 11 from Councillor Claire Byrne 

That this area committee calls on the Area Manager to meet with the residents of 
Glovers Court flats to discuss the range of ongoing issues that the residents in the 
complex are experiencing which includes: 
 

 Rats 



 

 Inadequate Bin Storage  
 Smells and dirty water in the flats and the along the shared 

corridors 

 Trees in need of pruning 

 Damp 

 Poor drainage 

 Anti -social behaviour inside and outside the complex 

 Overall redevelopment of the complex  
 
These issues have been raised repeatedly yet they still persist and immediate 
action needs to be taken. 
 
Motion 12 from Councillor Claire Byrne 

That this area committee calls on the Area Manager to meet with the residents of 
York Street flats to discuss the range of issues that the complex are experiencing. 
 
Motion 13 from Councillor Claire Byrne 

That this area committee agrees to write to the owners of Brown Thomas 
requesting that they engage in detailed discussions with Dublin City Council with 
a view to finding a solution for exiting the Brown Thomas Car Park so that we can 
facilitate the further pedestrianisation of South William Street. 
 
Motion 14 from Councillor Danny Byrne 
That this area committee would agree to see how we can progress an initiative to 
have a policy to have a community and family memorials policy, which would 
involve family memorial benches and tree planting in a park, cemetery, street or 
other public space (subject to the availability of suitable locations).  See 
attachment in agenda pack.  
 
Motion 15 from Councillor Danny Byrne 
That’s this area committee would agree to request our parks department to 
conduct an audit throughout the south east area with the aim to make provision 
for more allotments and community gardens. This would have numerous social, 
health, economic and environmental benefits. 
 
Motion 16 from Councillor Mary Freehill 

That the Traffic Dept. set out their plan to provide bus arrival times at all bus stops 
and also explain the criteria currently used.  
 
Furthermore to facilitate west/east movement in e.g. Dublin 6 and 4 who do so 
many of No. 18 bus stops not have the expected bus time of arrival, furthermore 
because this is a contracted service, it’s not on bus connects time table.  This is a 
serious impediment to encourage people leave their cars at home and use public 
transport when they cannot plan their journey. 
 
Motion 17 from Councillor Mary Freehill 

I have tabled many motions in relation to a tree outside 35 Mt. Drummond Square 
that when in full bloom completely covers the telegraph poles and their 
connections.  This has resulted in neighbours losing broadband connections.  
Despite my efforts would the Parks Dept. explain why nothing is done about this 
tree? 
 
Motion 18 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
This area committee supports the community initiative to commemorate the writer, 
Christy Brown. The small green close to his family home on Ferns Road in 
Crumlin is under the control of our Parks Section.  Local community groups are 
keen to develop this as a community garden with an appropriate memorial. 



 

 
Motion 19 from Councillor Pat Dunne 

This area committee asks that our Parks Section maintains and improves the 
public greens in Crumlin and Kimmage to the same standard as the local parks. 
These greens were incorporated in the Herbert Simms design of the Public 
Housing Scheme and form the shape of the Clonmacnoise Cross. These greens 
were to designed to provide a public amenity and should be seen as "Parks 
without railings" and maintained as such.  Local community groups are keen to 
work with our Parks Section to achieve this objective. 
 
Motion 20 from Councillor Anne Feeney 

To call upon this committee to request Dublin City Council Parks and the South 
East Area Office to jointly lead an inclusive working group to address the ongoing 
anti-social behaviour issues in Mount Argus Park.  These issues are resulting in a 
much loved park being abused and becoming an increasingly hostile and unsafe 
environment for many local residents, including young children.  Gardaí are called 
all too often and do respond, but longer term solutions are required. 
 
Motion 21 from Councillor Anne Feeney 

That this committee calls upon the Manager to address the ongoing illegal parking 
and congestion issues at Kimmage Grove. The popularity of Larkview Football 
Club (DCC property) with limited/no parking has resulted in congestion, parking 
on green spaces and causing a blockage at the entrance to this small estate and 
its cul de sacs.  Both the club and representatives of the residents would like the 
possibility of flexible bollards put in place or other measures to deter illegal and 
irresponsible parking. 
 
Motion 22 from Councillor Anne Feeney 

That this committee calls upon the Manager to arrange deep cleaning of the Swan 
Leisure Plaza forecourt (Rathmines), including cleaning of the public seating 
currently available. The area is very dirty, largely from bird droppings.  In addition, 
enhancement of the plaza is badly needed for this much used and central amenity 
in Rathmines.  Enhancements should include more seating and cycle stands, 
planters and bins. 
 
Motion 23 from Councillor Anne Feeney 

That this committee requests the Manager to conduct a survey and study 
amongst businesses, local resident groups and other appropriate stakeholders to 
ascertain the positives and negatives following Covid related initiatives in local 
areas, with a view to continuing or reintroducing in Spring/Summer 2022 what 
worked well and added value to our communities.  This study should reach 
beyond the city centre area and into our urban villages. 
 
Motion 24 from Councillor Pat Dunne 

This area committee notes the enthusiasm that the extended public swimming 
hours, this summer, in Crumlin Swimming Pool received. Given this public support 
we call for these extended hours to be continued on a permanent basis. 
 
Motion 25 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

That this area committee calls for the City Manager to ensure that the football 
clubs that use Ringsend Park are able to develop club membership and increase 
capacity of the park to ensure that this happens. 
 
Motion 26 from Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

That this area committee calls on the Council Management to ensure that the 
football clubs that currently use Ringsend Park are able to develop and meet the 
local demand by the local community before clubs that are not current park users 



 

and use up the limited capacity of the park. 
 
Motion 27 from Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

This area committee agrees to trial the installation of bicycle repair stations in the 
area committee.  Such stations should include a variety of repair tools and pumps 
for cyclists. 
 
Motion 28 from Councillor James Geoghegan 

That the South East Area Committee agrees that a review for proposals for the 
future of Sandymount Green, involving a consultation similar to the one taking 
place for Capel Street and Parliament Street, is commenced, now that that the 
pedestrianisation trial initiated by Sandymount and Merrion Residents’ 
Association, and local businesses has ended; that the committee agrees that the 
objective of this review is to explore whether some or all of the changes 
introduced in the trial could be made permanent.  
 
Motion 29 from Councillor James Geoghegan 

That the South East Area Committee agrees that a presentation be given at our 
next area committee meeting on all flood relief measures along Sandymount 
Strand.  
 
Motion 30 from Councillor Hazel Chu 

That this area committee agree to open the access through Gulistan Depot so 
there can be thoroughfare between Mount Pleasant Avenue and Rathmines. 
Understand that the access was closed due to previous health and safety 
assessment during Covid. I would ask this committee to determine what 
specifically the risks are and how to mitigate to ensure that we can provide more 
avenues of travel by foot especially in light of the new school service that will be 
going into the former Rathmines DIT site. 
 
Motion 31 from Councillor Carolyn Moore 
That this committee will give full support to progressing the community endeavour 
to transform the stretch of public green space from 155 to 153 Leinster Road into 
a ‘Biodiversity Pathway’ - acknowledging the proposal would offer community 
gain, aesthetic and educational benefits, along with biodiversity enhancement for 
an urbanised part of the city and the improvement of an area that attracts litter 
and complaints from local residents and requires maintenance by DCC.  
 

8   Questions to the Chief Executive 13th September 2021   
 

151 - 
162 

 





Sandymount Coastal Flood Defence Scheme–Phase 1&2 

Presented by: Gerard O’Connell
Senior Engineer, Fellow Chartered Engineer

To South East Area Committee 13th September 2021

Regional Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 1

P
age 9



Regional Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 2

Location Map Phase 1 - Promenade

P
age 10



Introduction

The Sandymount Coastal Flood Defence Scheme currently consists of two phases. Phase 1 relates

to the back of footpath wall along the existing promenade from Gilford Ave to St. Alban’s Park.

Phase 2 relates to the seawall between Gilford Ave and Seafort Ave.

Phase 1 flood defence works will consist of the following:

 The extension (i.e. raising) of existing back of footpath wall (Figure 2.1) by up to 
approximately 360mm. Similar stone to existing will be used for the raising of the wall. 

 Repair and refurbishment of existing back of footpath wall, to current visual standard.

 Provision and installation of flood gates.

 Construction of ~65m of a new stone wall 800mm high around the sea side of the Martello 
Tower.

 Erection of site compound on promenade.

 Remove existing shrubbery and replace as required by Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape 
Services.

 Closure of sections of the existing footpath during construction.

 Access to be maintained to the promenade. 

 Reconstruction of promenade and footpath (where required) to existing standard.

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 3

P
age 11



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 4

P
age 12



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 5

P
age 13



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 6

P
age 14



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 7

P
age 15



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 8

P
age 16



Flood Defence Level
 The proposed flood defence level is 4.2m Malin Head, that is 4.2m above average 

sea level.

 This level is from the Dublin Coastal Flood Protection Project and new waves 
modelling which includes for the breaking up of sea waves by undulations in the 
long sandy beach and the existing promenade.

 It is roughly made up of 3.25m Malin Head, which is the current estimated 200 year 
tide still water level, which is the National design recommended defence level for 
which funding is available.

 0.25m for the associated wave with 200 year tidal flood event.

 0.4m for sea level rise due to global warming, 0.13m having occurred already.

 0.3m free board or safety margin, National recommended level for solid wall.

 3.25 Malin Head+0.25+0.4+0.3= 4.2m Malin head   

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 9

P
age 17



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 10

P
age 18



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 11

P
age 19



Proposed Wall Height Variance

 As the level of the roadway above mean sea level varies along Beach 
road and Strand road the height of a flood wall varies to maintain a 
constant flood protection height above mean sea level.

 Overall approximately 1,150 properties will be protected from the 
estimated 200 year tidal flood event plus associated wave action and 
around 3,000 properties will have reduced flooding risk from the 1,000 
year flood event.

 The allowance in sea level rise for global warming has to be 
continuously reviewed as this has implications for the associated wave 
height as well. The deeper the sea water the larger the waves with the 
same wind driving them.

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 12

P
age 20



Opposite Hse No. 95

Opposite Hse No. 129

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 13

P
age 21



Sandymount Flood Alleviation Scheme Phase 2 

 This proposed section is approximately 800m long from 
the north of the promenade to the southern end of Sean 
Moore Park.

 Previous studies indicated four main very preliminary 
options.

 Option 1 building a new wall up to 1.5m above footpath 
level with rock armour protection on the sea side.

 Option 2 raising the existing wall to a maximum level of 
1.2m above footpath level with an 8m wide promenade with 
rock armour on the sea side.

 Option 3, same as Option 2 but with a 30m wide 
promenade.

 Option 4, Build a new higher flood wall on the sea side of 
the existing sea wall.  

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 14

P
age 22



Phase 2 – Existing Layout
Promenade to Sean Moore Park

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 15

P
age 23



Sandymount Phase 2 - Option 1

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 16

Sean Moore 
Park

Promenade

Rock Armour

P
age 24



Option 2 – 8m wide promenade

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 17

Sean Moore 
Park

Promenade

Rock Armour

P
age 25



Option 3 – 30m wide promenade

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 18

Sean Moore 
Park

Promenade

Rock Armour

P
age 26



Option 4 – New wall on sea side

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 19

Sean Moore 
Park

Promenade

P
age 27



Funding requirements Phase 2
 Option 1-Rock armour and wall height increase. Prelim Est. 

10m euro. Possible mainly OPW funding. Business case 
required. Significant environmental constraints. Foreshore 
licence. DCC Boundary extension required for all options.

 Option 2 - 8m wide promenade. Prelim est 12.3 million 
euro. Possible mainly OPW funding. Business case 
required. Large environmental issues. Foreshore licence.

 Option 3, 30m wide promenade. Prelim est 49m euro. 
Other sources of funding required to OPW. Large 
environmental mitigations. Foreshore licence.

 Option 4, 21 million euro, new flood wall on sea side. 
Diversion of 110kV ESB cable. Other funding sources 
required. Large environmental issues. Foreshore licence.

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 20

P
age 28



Next Steps -
 Construction of flood defences on existing promenade 

programmed for Q4 2021 to Q4 2022 depending on COVID 
restrictions, OPW direct labour and funding.

 Appointment of consultant for Phase 2 and increase in rock 
armour size for Phase 1, programmed for Q4 2021.

 Evaluate all existing and any other options for Phase 2.
 Non statutory public options consultation Q3 2022.
 Planning target Part 10 to ABP Q3 2024.
 Decision Q3 2025.
 Procure contractor Q1 2026.
 Construction Q2 2026 to Q3 2028.
 Handover Q4 2028. 12 month maintenance period 2029.

Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 21

P
age 29



Flood Projects & Water Framework Directive Division 22

Thank You

P
age 30



1 
 

 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
HELD ON MONDAY 12 JULY 2021 

 
 

 
 
1   Presentation on Belmont Avenue Traffic Proposals 

Order: Noted. 
 

 

2   Video viewing of "My Home is Crumlin" 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

3   Election of Chairperson 
Order: Cllr. Dermot Lacey elected as Chairperson. 

 

 

4   Election of Vice-Chairperson 
Order: Cllr. Tara Deacy elected as Vice-chairperson. 
 

 

5   Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 14th June 2021 
Order: Agreed. 
 

 

6   Environment and Transportation Department Matters 
 

i. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group Meeting held on 29th June 2021. 
Taken with Motions 3, 6, 9, and 10 
Order: Noted. 

 

 

7   Culture, Recreation and Economic Services Department Matters 
 

i. Update on Sculpture Dublin. 
Order: Noted. 
 

ii. Dublin City Council Play Strategy. Presentation and report. 
Order: Noted. 
 

iii. Report on Successful Community Monuments Fund Applications 2021. 
Order: Noted. 

 

 

8   Planning and Property Management Department Matters 
 

i. Report on Proposed Disposal: Grant of licence for The Junction, 121 
Pearse Street, Dublin 2 to St. Andrew’s Resource Centre. 
Order: Agreed to recommend to City Council. 

 

 

9   South East Area Office Matters 
 

 

Page 31



 
 

i. Report of the Director of Services South City. 
Order: Noted. 
 

 
10   Motions 

 
Motion 1 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
Further to my motion last month in relation to provision of public seating on 
Rathmines Plaza and also to make space for table and chairs it is agreed that 
 

1. The bench that is already in poor condition be removed to provide for 
more tables and chairs around the canopy of the Swan Leisure Centre.  
This would be a very real asset to the Rathmines area as the amount of 
open dining space in the area is very limited.  
 

2. The process of taking Rathmines Plaza in charge commence forthwith. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 2 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
That DCC take in charge the strip of land on the east corner of Grosvenor Square 
and Leinster Road Rathmines, (I have already been in contact with Development 
Dept. regarding ownership).  Furthermore, that through discussion with the 
Biodiversity Officer, we agree this area be designated a biodiversity area. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 3 from Councillor Mary Freehill Taken with Item 6.i, Motions 6, 9 and 
10 
On foot of the Traffic Report agreed at June City Council meeting which states 
there must be a clearance of 2.5 meters on footpath; to protect residents of 
narrow roads in our area, that a working group comprising Traffic and Planning 
Departments and councillors be established to focus on finding a sustainable 
parking solution to protect residents of these narrow roads in our area.  
Furthermore in the meantime that both departments agree to a zoom meeting with 
affected residents to discuss possible options and protection from being clamped 
in the meantime until we find a solution. 
Order: Agreed. 
 
Motion 4 from Councillor Tara Deacy 
That this committee agree to create a breast-feeding area in Stannaway Park to 
allow new and nursing mothers a place to meet and socialise. To add to the new 
benches put in place and to install a cover/shelter be in through trees planting 
around it or a physical shield. Please see photo attached as an example. 

 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 5 from Councillor Tara Deacy 
Based on the needs identified through the excellent video ‘My home is Crumlin’ 
created by young people through Blooming Crumlin, that this committee agree to 
identify a suitable area/building/premises for young people to ‘hang out’, for those 
young people interested in the arts and other activities to call their own. This could 
take place in collaboration with youth services and also through collaboration with 

 

Page 32



 
 

the CYPSC locally.  
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 6 from Councillor Mary Freehill Taken with Item 6.i, Motions 3, 9 and 
10,  
 
This committee expresses serious concerns to NTA and An Bord Pleanála if they 
recommend a 24/7 Bus Gate on Rathmines Road. Local residents accept the 
need for this gate at rush hours but not on a nonstop continuous basis. 
Such a proposal would have serious implications for the residents and 
commercial life of the village of Rathmines 

 It would landlock residents of Grove Park making it impossible for them to 
enter and egress their road 

 it would turn Rathmines shopping area into a ghost town and have serious 
implications for the commercial life which would make it impossible for 
Rathmines small traders in the area to survive who depend on the weekly 
shopping of local residents  

 A 24/7 bus gate would drive traffic into small narrow roads which would 
have serious safety implications for local residents of these road. 

Order: Motion amended to include An Bord Pleanála and Agreed. 
 
Motion 7 from Councillors Pat Dunne, Carolyn Moore and Tara Deacy 
That this Area Committee recognises the opportunity to greatly improve the public 
domain entrance to Eamonn Ceannt Park at the Rutland Grove, as part of the 
Part 8 development of a new depot.  
 
We commend Parks Management for their engagement with local residents and 
ask that the observations of those residents be fully considered as part of the 
development.  
 
We also refer to Part 8 Ref 176/2007 for the pavilions which included the 
provision of 30 new car parking spaces and is still valid. These car parking spaces 
have still not been provided and this is causing ongoing issues for local residents 
with illegal and dangerous parking. We now ask that the provision of legal parking 
spaces be included as part of the depot development, that cycle parking is 
provided, that enforcement of illegal parking is increased, and that the public 
realm improvements at the entrance be also included. 
 
We believe that this is a once in a lifetime opportunity to enhance this section of 
the park and will support any necessary increase in the funding allocated to this 
project to achieve these objectives. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 8 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
This Area Committee notes with concern the withdrawn of the local Dog Warden 
Service from Dublin 12 which was servicing Eamonn Ceannt and Brickfields 
Parks. We call for the immediate restoration of this service. 
Order: Report to Councillor.   
 
Motion 9 from Councillor Mary Freehill Taken with Item 6.i, Motions 3, 6, and 
10. 
There have been incidents of double yellow lines being painted out with grey 
paint. The latest being on Mount Argus Road.  It is important that the Traffic 
Department takes urgent action and furnish the clampers with maps where 
parking is not allowed.  In the Mount Argus Road case, parking on the pinch point 
where the DYLs have been painted out means that traffic cannot get through. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 

Page 33



 
 

 
Motion 10 from Councillor Deirdre Conroy Taken with Item 6.i, Motions 3, 6, 
and 9. 
That this committee supports the request that the Traffic Department and Parking 
Enforcement can ban speeding on The Grove, the entrance to Terenure Rugby 
Club which has caused locals significant problems over the past number of years 
with speeding cars all day and night. The enquirer states that the club grounds, 
Lakelands are visited by 1000s of people to enjoy the park and look at the swans 
who are breeding now. However the cul de sac is narrow and the speed of traffic 
will cause serious injuries if it continues.  In the first instance Dublin City Council 
must review the traffic movements on Greenlea Grove and address traffic calming 
measures, including ramps and double yellow lines BECAUSE the parking on the 
Grove makes the Cul de Sac narrow and dangerous. The local resident 
recommends the solution to this problem is to provide an alternative entrance 
from the main road where there is wider access. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 11 from Councillor Deirdre Conroy 
That the South East Area Committee asks the manager if a new underground 
waste collection system can be developed in Dublin City and its busy urban 
villages. I have seen these in Llubljana in Slovenia when I wrote a Travel Feature 
there in 2018, there was no litter on any path or road, so that far more litter is 
concealed and removed.  
 
Many more residents in DCC are advising that they have seen these underground 
waste bins in other cities and notifying me and requesting DCC take this on. In 
particular, throughout South Georgian Core, where there is a mix of residential 
and offices. Details below: 
 

Fitzwilliam Street Upper Refuse collection is a constant issue. As we are 
classified as primarily a business district by the various waste disposal 
companies, opportunities to leave out rubbish are very limited and very few 
companies are interested in collecting domestic waste.  
 
Those that are, have very limited time slots, use plastic bags and only collect 
every 2 weeks. The system is VERY un-user friendly and results in bags being left 
on the streets, pigeons ripping them open, and if you miss the strictly speaking 2 
hour slot to leave your bags out, you then have a month long build-up of rubbish 
rotting in your house before the next collection. It is a system which is not fit for 
purpose and very unhygienic. Demonising and fining residents is not the answer 
to the problem.  Providing a refuse collection which facilitates people's life styles 
is. One size fits all might be convenient for the operator, but not the customer. 
 
So for solutions. A very simple and effective solution used in many countries in 
Europe, is the Finish system of deep hole collection points (see photos attached).  
A company called Molok provides it https://www.molok.com/. It is a system 
available in Ireland as there is an agent listed. However, I would suggest 
contacting the parent company to find out how larger cities have implemented the 
system. 
 
In my opinion it is precisely what the council needs to adopt and run itself. It is an 
investment in infrastructure.  
 
A fleet of trucks are needed to collect the waste which is deposited in branded 
bags bought by residents. The residents then bring them to waste disposal points 
to deposit them, avoiding clutter on the streets and pigeons feasting on left over 
rubbish. It is a tidy hygienic collection SYSTEM. The collection points are 

Page 34

https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&t=6cd4c2a1357e8ad8a63c1f409b571e5cc4dbb330&u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.molok.com%2F


 
 

disguised deep holes in the ground, with huge bags inserted in the drums, which 
are neatly and simply extracted and dumped in the truck. It is very labour efficient 
and safer than picking up and handling thousands of bags. It is also very space 
efficient and not intrusive. Holes are dug into the ground at convenient locations 
so people can walk to them..... just like the old system of post boxes. The key 
thing is the council must devise and adapt its collection routine to meet the 
demand of the areas. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 12 from Councillor Claire Byrne moved by Cllr. Lacey 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to extend the 
pedestrianisation hours of Parliament Street to support businesses through this 
stage of the pandemic. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Motion 13 from Councillor Claire Byrne Moved by Cllr. Lacey. 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to reinstate the bollards and 
flower pots that were recently removed from Pigeon House Road, and to consider 
making the traffic calming measures here a permanent feature. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 
Emergency Motion from Councillor Mannix Flynn 
That this south-east area meeting of Dublin city council calls on the CEO Owen 
Keegan and Mr Brendan O Brien to immediately revert the traffic signals to their 
original settings in order to avoid the massive continuation of traffic-congestion on 
our city streets as our city opens up. 
Order: Report to Councillor. 
 

11   Questions for the Chief  Executive 12th July 2021 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

 
Councillor Dermot Lacey 
Chairperson 
Monday 12 July 2021 
 
Attendance: 

 
Members: Members: Members: 
Dermot Lacey (Chairperson) Hazel Chu Deirdre Conroy 
Danny Byrne Tara Deacy Kevin Donoghue 
Daniel Céitinn Anne Feeney Mannix Flynn 
Pat Dunne James Geoghegan Paddy McCartan 
Mary Freehill Claire O'Connor Carolyn Moore 
   
Officers   
Brian Hanney Leah Johnston John MacEvilly 
Mary Taylor 
Gerard McEntaggart 
Aaron O’Connor 
Michael Noonan 

Jennifer Wall 
Andrew Duff 
Christina Todd 

Will Mangan 
Derek Kelly 
Debbie Clarke 
 

 
Apologies:    
Claire Byrne   

 
Non-Members:  
Trevor Clowry, Bloomin Crumlin 

  

Page 35



 
 

   
Question to the Chief Executive    South East Area Committee  
        Meeting 12th July 2021 
 
Q.1 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager for an update on the promised resurfacing on Herbert Lane, Dublin 2. 
 
Reply: 
Herbert Lane will be recommended for inclusion in our 2022 Carriageway Resurfacing 
Programme. In the interim, temporary repairs have been carried out on the laneway. 
 

Q.2 Councillor Claire O’Connor 
To ask the manager to attend to a dead tree in Cowper Gardens. 
 
Reply: 
This tree will be removed in the coming weeks. 
 

Q.3 Councillor Claire O’Connor 
To ask the manager to attend to Beechwood Avenue needs cleaning. 
 
Reply: 

Waste Management Services had Beechwood Avenue cleaned on the 28th June 2021. 
 

Q.4 Councillor Claire O’Connor 
To ask the manager to attend to lights on Beechwood Avenue being held together by tape. 
 
Reply: 
A more precise location (pole number / house number) would assist in providing a more 
detailed answer, but we presume that the query relates to the old concrete columns in the 
area of Beechwood Avenue. There are known issues with these columns, one of which is 
that small parts of concrete can become loose and fall, hence the use of the plastic wrap. 
These columns are on an upgrade works program that will address the issues with these 
concrete columns. 
 

Q.5 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager give an update report with regards the Temple Bar book market?  This 
report to include what contact, if any, has been made recently with the Temple Bar book 
market traders? When can the traders go back to the market at Temple Bar? What is the 
status of the works on Temple Bar Square? How long with Temple Bar Square be used for 
outdoor dining purposes? What infrastructure, if any, has been made available to the 
Temple Bar book market traders to continue to trade in the area on a temporary basis, like 
at Bernard Square or Palace Street? 
 
Reply: 
Temple Bar Company manages the Temple Bar Markets on behalf of DCC and have been 
in regular contact with all the traders including the book market traders. The traders from 
the Temple Bar book market were temporarily moved last June to the designated trading 
spots in Bernardo Square as there were works planned for Temple Bar Square.  Currently 
the square is being used for outdoor dining as part of the City Recovery Plan. The outdoor 
dining licences have been issued to 31st July in this location.  The situation will be reviewed 
prior to that date and a decision will be taken as to whether to extend the period of the 
licences.  

 
Q.6 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate the process for traffic calming measures with single lane access 
for vehicles at the Longford Street entrance to Georges Street roadway? This stretch of 
road from Noel Purcell Way to Longford Street consists of a number of feeder lanes such 

Page 36



 
 

as lower Mercer Street, Upper Mercer Street, York Street and Stephen’s Green Carpark 
that feed into this very narrow stretch.  Traffic has a tendency to go straight ahead to 
Golden Lane which is very congested, or it does a left hand turn onto Aungier Street or a 
right hand turn onto Aungier Street going north.  The footpaths here, particularly at the 
Thomas Moore House side cannot take the volume of pedestrians.  It would be appropriate 
that these footpaths be built out, that the left hand turn onto Aungier Street would be 
rescinded and that a single lane of traffic would be installed.  
 
Reply: 

The area engineer attended site on 2nd July 2021. The pavement widths on the east side of 
Longford Street Lower at the junction with Aungier Street at Thomas Moore House is 1.8m 
and this pavement width increases to 1.9m just before the junction with Bow Lane East. 
 
The pavements widths on the west side of Longford Street Lower at the same locations 
above are the same widths namely 1.8m and 1.9m respectively. 
 
Both pavement widths are in accordance with the Design Manual for Urban Roads and 
Streets. Which states that: 
 
“Minimum footpath widths are based on the space needed for two wheelchairs to pass each 
other (1.80m).  
 
The Area Engineer does not recommend single lane traffic on Longford Street Lower, the 
Area Engineer would not recommend a no “LEFT TURN” onto Aungier Street from 
Longford Street Lower. There are many businesses in the vicinity of Aungier Street. 
Rescinding this “LEFT TURN” would result in further congestion on adjacent roads.  
 

Q.7 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager investigate the damage that is being caused by the speed ramp at 
London Bridge Road, Ennis Grove, Dublin 4?  I sent in the exact details to Road 
Maintenance on 31st 5th 21 and have had no response.   It would appear that vehicles 
using this ramp are causing a huge amount of damage to the structure of nearby houses 
because of the vibration impact of the vehicles as they descend from the ramp. This is an 
urgent matter needing immediate attention. 
 
Reply: 
This ramp is due to be resurfaced within the next 4 weeks as part of our 2021 Carriageway 
Resurfacing Programme. 
 

Q.8 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the area manager initiate a procedure whereby all premises granted street furniture 
licenses and permits in the SEA are obliged to display such licences in the public domain? 
Recently with the advent of street furniture and outdoor dining initiatives the public domain 
and indeed the footpaths are being overrun in many cases with illegal furniture.  Many 
people are finding it difficult to walk the footpaths or indeed to get into their homes or 
apartments with particular reference to Parliament Street which has 200 persons living on 
it. Not to mention those with disability, wheelchair users and those with children buggies.  
 
Reply: 
It is a condition of all street furniture licences that they are displayed. Enforcement in 
relation to street furniture has been significantly increased, in particular in relation to 
blocking footpaths, furniture in the public realm without a licence and fire safety issues.   
 

Q.9 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager ensure that those using the footpaths within the Camden Street Area for 
street furniture and outdoor dining obey the rules of their licenses and do not hoard the 
footpath?  See photos attached. 

Page 37



 
 

 
Reply: 
Inspections will be carried out on Camden Street this weekend (w/e 11 th July), and any 
identified issues will be dealt with.  As part of our increased enforcement in relation to 
outdoor furniture, regular inspections are taking place, with particular emphasis on 
businesses without licences, footpath blocking and fire safety issues. A new complaints 
email has also been set up streetfurniturecomplaints@dublincity.ie.  
 

Q.10 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate a full report with regards to what cycling infrastructure initiatives or 
what cycling promotion programs are being initiated within Dublin City council flat complex?  
Will the flat complexes have safe place to lock up their bicycles? Will the flat complexes be 
given bicycles sheds/stores like we have in the more affluent areas of Dublin? What 
Sheffield stands will be installed in the flats? 
 
Reply: 
We are trialling bicycle stands in Bonham Street Apartments. 
Once the complex is complete we will see how effective these have been before making a 
judgement on other areas. 

 
Q.11 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report regards the refurbishment of the dilapidated and 
dangerous children play area of C Block Mercer House?  
 
Reply: 

The South East Area Office has requested a playground specialist to inspect the play area 
in Block C Mercer House.  Due to COVID there is a delay installing and repairing 
playgrounds.  However, the South East Area has asked that the Mercer Street playground 
be prioritised.  Once the inspection is completed, the South East Area will examine the 
proposed work and costings.  The South East Area is committed to the provision of a safe 
play area in block C.  In due course, we will inform the residents of the timeline and the type 
of works to be carried out.  It is envisaged that the play area will be completed this year. 
 

Q.12 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full report with regards what initiatives or programs have been 
rolled out in order to enhance the security and safety of the residents in Ffrench Mullen 
House who are continuing to suffer gang invasion and high levels of anti-social behaviour? 
We need to afford these people at Ffrench Mullen, who are our tenants, the same attention 
we afforded to the residents of Portobello.   
 
Reply: 

The South East Area Office is maintaining close links with An Garda Síochána and Tuath 
Housing regarding complaints of anti-social behaviour in the environs of Ffrench Mullen 
House. To date, Tuath Housing has installed more lighting and aggressive shrubbery in the 
area where the majority of the anti-social behaviour is reported. This was completed on the 
advice of the Crime Prevention Officer from An Garda Síochána. Tuath Housing holds a 
clinic every Tuesday in the TK2 centre by appointment for the tenants if they have any 
issues or concerns.  
Dublin City Council and An Garda Síochána met with a group of tenants from Ffrench 
Mullen House. The tenants requested a gate to be erected at the entrance to the walkway. 
The tenants’ group was informed of the reasons why this would not be possible.  However, 
Dublin City Council committed to considering what further measures could be introduced to 
reduce the anti-social behaviour in the vicinity of the walkway. Our Housing Maintenance 
Division is considering placing a fence at the side of the walkway to eliminate any access 
on the left as one comes in from Charlemont Street. In relation to the gate and as indicated 
previously with the tenants’ group, the walkways are integral parts of the Master Plan for 

Page 38

mailto:streetfurniturecomplaints@dublincity.ie


 
 

the Charlemont Square Development and there is no planning permission for any gates in 
this walkway.  
 

Q.13 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager liaise with the RSA and JC Decaux and all the other private bike hire 
services within the city to come together for a full public campaign for cyclists, scooter 
users and electric bike users of the importance of the rules of the road and to call on those 
road users to familiarise themselves with the rules of the road?  One would be hard 
pressed to catch many cyclists who would have a clear understanding or indeed who have 
read the rules of the road for cyclists. Indeed many of the bike hire schemes should be 
compelled to supply a copy of the rules of the road for cyclists and to display it on their 
apps. in particular in the bike delivery services like Deliveroo etc.  
 
Reply: 
Characterising one set of road users in this fashion is generally not helpful and indeed is 
very unfair to the vast majority of law abiding cyclists.  DCC would propose instead to look 
at a campaign in partnership with the RSA reminding all road users of their responsibilities 
and obligations.  
 

Q.14 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full update as to how many fast food vans or food trucks have 
been granted trading licenses by DCC in the past year?  Also to clarify the law in relation to 
such trucks trading from private grounds such as car parks etc.  See photos attached of 
such a vehicles trading on private ground. 
 

 
Reply: 

The Licensing Unit issues casual trading licences to people who wish to trade in a public 
area.  We have two types of licences, Designated Licences and Event Licences. 
 
Event Trading Licences are issued for people to trade in the vicinity of certain events like 
matches and concerts and we have issued zero in the past year. 
 
Designated Trading Licences are issued annually and DCC have very few designated 
pitches that can sell hot and cold food all of which are either filled or will be filled by a 
waiting list. Two hot foot day time traders and zero night time traders renewed their licences 
in the last year. 
 
The Licensing Unit does not issue licences for food trucks trading from private property. 
 
Mobile units trading from private land may or may not require planning permission 
depending on the use history of the land concerned and also whether the use is ancillary to 
the main approved/permitted use of the land concerned and also the hours and number of 
days on which they operate.  Each case would have to be assessed on its merits. Covid 
legislation also allows for the operation of takeaway services from properties that would 
have previously had indoor dining facilities, so once again, each case would have to be 

Page 39



 
 

assessed on its merits. Given that we are currently in the middle of a pandemic and that 
government health advice is to facilitate and encourage outdoor consumption of food and 
drinks, Dublin City Council is currently nor proactively pursuing cases of trading from mobile 
units on private land unless we are satisfied that they are causing a nuisance to adjoining 
properties. This will be reviewed at the end of September 2021. 
 

Q.15 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager look at the possibility of supplying more street cleaning services and 
street wash services within the SEA particularly within the city centre?  Many of these 
streets have become stained and very dirty as a result of the increase of outdoor dining and 
drinking etc.  Indeed many of our laneways and streets are continually used as public 
lavatories. Would it be possible for Dublin Fire Services or indeed the Civil Defence Fire 
Brigade Services to come and assist DCC Waste Management to hose down our health 
hazard street? This is in the public interest and public health and safety.  
 
Reply: 
Dublin Fire Brigade are aware of revised arrangements to increase the level of street 
cleaning in Dublin. Dublin Fire Brigade’s resources are focused on their existing mandate 
and operational activities. It is not appropriate that these finite resources are diverted or 
diluted for the alternative duties outlined. 
 

Waste Management Services have planned in additional crews, resources and equipment 
into the city centre for the purpose of power washing key streets and areas of concern.  
 
Additional activity will commence 29th June 2021 for a 5 day period and will be reviewed 
weekly throughout the summer.  
 

Q.16 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the issues raised in the following email from a 
constituent. 
 
He writes, 
 
"I live in Ringsend Park and our garden abuts the park itself and is in close proximity to both 
the tennis and basketball courts. As with all summers we are currently subject (and have 
been for the past number of months) to noise/music emanating from users of these facilities 
from morning till night. The noise generally starts at 7am and continues till past 10pm. 
While an annoyance at best when indoors it is considerably worse when trying to enjoy or 
use the garden, particularly so at weekends.  
 
Most often it is due to users not being aware that a residential area is so close to the courts. 
Can you please advise as to how I can go about getting signage erected advising the users 
that they are close to a residential area and to be considerate of same?" 
 
Reply: 

This location has been inspected over recent weeks and while the courts are very busy the 
noise levels were not considered to be high and in fact were barely noticeable.  
However, we will arrange for signs to be erected advising users of these facilities that they 
are close to a residential area. 
 

Q.17 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the issues raised in the following email. 
There are gold ribbons around the trees and street furniture on St. Mary's Road, Ballsbridge 
and on other roads in this area, e.g. Northumberland Road. 
 

Page 40



 
 

We hear that this has been done to alert residents to the fact that DCC is intending to 
construct a cycle lane on our road.  As this would have huge implications for us, we are 
very anxious to know what is happening. 
 
Reply: 

Dublin City Council currently has no plans to construct a cycle lane on either St. Mary’s 
Road or Northumberland Road. The nearest planned cycle lane is on Pembroke Road, 
which is proposed as part of the BusConnects UCD Ballsbridge to City Centre Core Bus 
Corridor. 
 

Q.18 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the issues raised in the following email from a 
constituent. 
She writes, 
 
"Is there anything that can be done about the speed limit on the Strand Road as 30 kph is 
absolutely ridiculous and also very hard to maintain.  I have seen drivers getting frustrated 
at the lack of speed and blasting other drivers who are trying to drive at the reduced limit. 
 
In my opinion this will cause more accidents than the higher speed of 50 kph. 
 
I've also noticed that there are still cyclists cycling on the walk way where it clearly says no 
cycling and with the lovely weather there are more and more people taking advantage of 
this facility in particular the more elderly members of our community.  I have pointed this out 
before and can only hope that there are no accidents with anyone being hit by these 
cyclists but in particular the elderly and children." 
 
Reply: 
Due to the High Court legal challenge and the stay subsequently granted forcing the City 
Council to stop work related to the Strand road trial which resulted in unfinished roadworks 
on Strand Road it is necessary to have a 30kph speed limit. 
 
Cycling in an area where cycling is prohibited is an enforcement issue. 
 

Q.19 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the following email from a constituent in Milltown. 
 
He writes, 
 
 "I am writing to you about an increasingly worrying problem in Scully's Field which, as you 
will know, is right beside Strand Terrace on the Dodder in Milltown.  
Nearly every weekend over the past number of weeks, crowds of children are gathering in 
the field to drink. These are children who look as young as 13/14 years of age. Scully's 
Field is protected natural habitat which includes a bat population. Sadly, each weekend the 
level of rubbish left behind is destroying this habitat and increasingly threatening that 
wildlife. In addition, there is now a significant increase in anti-social behaviour which 
includes children regularly falling around the place drunk and plants being ripped out. We 
had to break-up one fight this year and on another occasion we witnessed a kid falling into 
the river drunk only to be pulled out by friends. I was also recently approached by two 
detectives investigating an assault in Scully's Field a number of months ago - they were 
looking for access to CCTV footage from our security cameras.  
I confirm that these concerns and problems are shared by my neighbours living on Strand 
Terrace. Frequently during weekends we and others call An Garda Siochána at 
Donnybrook station who come out and try and disperse the children - for them to only 
return within a short time frame. 
This urgently needs to be addressed in light of the above, and I would appreciate hearing 
from you. There is a real need to do something to prevent access to parts of Scully's field 

Page 41



 
 

by these children and de-escalate this problem. Failure to do so will undoubtedly lead to 
more damage to this natural habitat, and at the same time an increase in anti-social 
behaviour and as a result, an increase in the problems associated with it and outlined 
above." 
 
Reply: 
The South East Area Office has been in contact with the owners of Scullys’ Field and they 
say they are in the process of organising a clean-up of this area and will look again at 
possible options of securing it further.  
 

Q.20 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to respond to the following issue raised by a constituent. 
 
She writes, 
 
"I am a resident of the Pines apartment building on Anglesea road. My apartment faces out 
on to Herbert Park. As you probably know the park is a gathering place for people to meet 
with friends. The problem is that as the evenings go on the groups get louder, playing 
music in speakers and usually ends in a lot of loud shouting and roaring. It has gone from 3 
or so nights a week to most nights and it keeps me awake. The guards are usually 
responsive to doing something about it but I've noticed at the weekends they don't clear the 
park until 1 am and midnight during the week. I think this is too late. This is around the 
bandstand / lake area of the park near the Herbert Park hotel.  
 
Is there anything more that can be done? I appreciate people want to meet up with friends 
but I am not in favour of it if it continues into the early hours and impacts on my sleep. I 
work long hours (from home!) and while I am sympathetic to it at the weekends, it is now 
pretty much every night which means I cannot get to sleep. As I type this email there is a 
large group shouting outside my window.....and this is a nightly occurrence. I'm coming to 
the end of my tether on this." 
 
Reply: 
Park Services are working closely with local community Garda with regard to the issue 
raised and we have noticed that numbers using the park have decreased in recent weeks 
following the lifting of Covid restrictions. 
 

Q.21 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

There are three sets of pedestrian lights at the Sean Moore Road Beach Road junction. 
Currently there is no audio or vibrations that allow the visually impaired to cross safely. 
This is an impediment to their independence. Could the manager respond to this issue? 
 
Reply: 
The ITS Section has recently received a query on behalf of a visually impaired customer 
who lives locally and a response was issued in relation to the Sean Moore Road / Beach 
Road junction. 
  
The Sean Moore Road / Beach Road junction is a very large junction that comprises of over 
15 signal groups and seven pedestrian crossings. Some of the pedestrian crossings 
comprises of the older generation push button units that do not have the audio tone 
functionality. This junction also comprises of Aldridge pedestrian buttons which are the 
newer pedestrian push buttons with the audio tone functionality. Our maintenance 
contractors attended the junction and confirmed that there are both older yellow push 
button units and newer Aldridge push button units present at this junction however there 
are significant constraints due to the controller hardware and cabling which restricts the 
audio tone functionality across all pedestrian crossings at this junction. 
  

Page 42



 
 

A recommendation has been put forward that junction upgrade works be undertaken here 
that replace the older generation push button units and rectify the pedestrian audio tones 
such that all crossings are brought up to standard. Funding was made available from the 
NTA to undertake this work as part of the Strand Road cycle trial.   
 
The Strand Road Trial Cycle Scheme has now been delayed pending a Judicial Review 
and there is a Hugh Court stay on undertaking any work connected with the trial. The 
judicial review case has been completed in the High Court and the judge has reserved 
judgement and the stay on any works remains in place.  This matter will be reviewed again 
following the High Court’s decision in this matter.  
  

Q.22 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Can we get clarification on the issues raised by residents around new parking 
arrangements on Coulson Avenue, Rathgar? 
 
Reply: 
The Area Engineer has been made aware that residents on Coulson Avenue are concerned 
with the new rules on parking in their area. The Area Engineer has forwarded onto Cllr. 
Deacy the background to the issues raised by one of the residents on Coulson Avenue.  
Parking Enforcement is investigating the issue of the single yellow line on the south side of 
Winton Avenue.    
The Parking Enforcement Division will review and respond to the Councillor in due course. 
 

Q.23 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to investigate the illegal parking and blocking of driveways along 
Rathdown Avenue and if double lines could be put down along one side of the avenue. 
 
Reply: 
DSPS will investigate the complaint of illegal parking on Rathdown Avenue and enforce as 
required.  
 
A report on this issue is now completed and is currently being reviewed. The findings and 
any recommendations will be provided to the Councillor in the coming days. The Traffic 
Advisory Group have informed An Garda Síochána and requested that they monitor the 
area also. 

 
Q.24 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager to look into paving the laneway besides 59 Wilfield Road.  
 
Reply: 
The laneway referred to is not in Dublin City Council Road Maintenance Services charge 
and will not be considered for paving. It would appear to be a private laneway. 
 

Q.25 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to look into locking the park gates of Mount Pleasant Square Park after 
9pm and to fix the locks for Sandymount Green. 
 
Reply: 
We are currently seeking quotations to undertake repairs to a gate on Sandymount Green 
which Sandymount Tidy Towns raised with us at a recent meeting but are not aware of any 
issue with gate locks. 
There are some incidents of casual late night drinking in Mountpleasant Square Park, 
therefore gate opening facilitates Garda access to monitor the problem. 
 

Q.26 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to follow up on the maintenance of the trees surrounding Ringsend 
Park. 

Page 43



 
 

 
Reply: 
There is an ongoing programme of tree work which we undertake both in Ringsend Park 
and on the roads adjacent to the park. If there is a tree at a particular location please 
advise, and necessary works will be undertaken, if required, following an inspection of the 
tree. 
 

Q.27 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to clear the storm drains along Sandymount Avenue due to a blockage 
causing flooding. 
 
Reply: 
An inspection of the gullies on Sandymount Avenue took place on 8th July 2021 and 21 of 
the 21 gullies were cleaned by members of the Gully Cleaning Crew in the Surface Water & 
Flood Incident Management Division.  No issues were noted.  
 

Q.28 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager to implement measures to tackle excessive dog fouling on the 
footpaths for the Ringsend Park area. 
 
Reply: 

Dublin City Council’s Animal Welfare Unit is currently in the process of working with Waste 
Management to provide additional signage in relation to owners cleaning up after their 
dogs. The Animal Welfare Unit will also patrol the area at intervals. 
 
We will ensure that the above mentioned area is included in the various measures to tackle 
the dog fouling issue there. Our litter warden will include this area as part of his regular 
patrol.  
 

Q.29 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to investigate illegal dumping on the laneway besides Bremen Road 
and to install a gate to prevent further dumping.  
 
Reply: 
While Dublin City Council have some social houses on this road, the majority are privately 
owned.  Therefore, it is up to residents to come together and decide the best course of 
action for their community.  Dublin City Council will look at the solutions and act 
accordingly. 
 

Q.30 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to look into creating a disabled parking space on Leukos Road.  
 
Reply: 
There are currently two disabled parking spaces on Leukos Road.  The link provided gives 
details on how to apply for a residential disabled parking bay and the criteria that must be 
met for an application to be considered.  
https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/parking-dublin-city-centre/disabled-parking 
 

Q.31 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to look into establishing a pedestrian crossing on Rathfarnham Road 
near Fergus Road. 
 
Reply: 
The area engineer has completed the Capital Works Programme for 2021 and will compile 
a list of civil engineering works towards the end of 2021. These will include the possible 
provision of future pedestrian crossing throughout the south east of the city. 
 

Page 44

https://www.dublincity.ie/residential/parking-dublin-city-centre/disabled-parking


 
 

The area engineer will assess the possible provision of a pedestrian crossing on 
Rathfarnham Road near Fergus Road.  This pedestrian crossing will be assessed along 
with other requests for pedestrian crossings the area engineer has received. 
 

Q.32 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Manager to look into the below issues raised from this email:  
‘I write to you to encourage you to add to your recent success in getting Ashfield and 
Mornington Roads resurfaced by helping to significantly increase the traffic flow and 
convenience of traffic entering Ranelagh from Ashfield Road. 
By far the biggest impediment to this is vehicles entering the Left lane with a view to turning 
Right.  This blocks all filtering to the left which accounts for over 90% of the traffic.  
There are two simple solutions to this,   
#1, move the traffic lights from their current position 20 m or so to the right, up to controlling 
this junction or 
#2 just put up simple clear signs at the bottom end of Ashfield Road stating Ring Lane Turn 
Right and Left Lane Turn Left.’ 
 
Reply: 
All new signalised crossings (including relocated signalised crossings) need to be assessed together 
with other upgrades/improvements for existing junctions.  
The junction operation will be assessed and a recommendation made. Improvements/upgrades are 
subject to funding and, if required, will be included in a programme of works to be established for the 
area. 

 
#2 There is limited space at the bottom of Ashfield Road where it meets Ranelagh Road for 
additional signage.  As part of the operational assessment for item 1 above, a review of the 
existing signage will be performed and any recommendations will be made in conjunction 
with the overall assessment.   
 

Q.33 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Manager to look into the issues raised for the Mount Argus Estate in Kimmage 
in the email below: 
‘Here in this Estate are approximately 80 houses with almost all residents on a WhatsApp 
group. For years now, we have campaigned, pleaded & even begged for double yellow 
lines inside the estate, even if only on one corner. It is the primary corner which is an 85 
degree turn to the left on Mount Argus View. A completely blind spot for both access and 
egress in the event of the on corner parking. Issues are further compounded by the 
following. 
1. Many residents on Lower Kimmage Road have no off-street parking, hence using the 
estate. 
2. Business areas around the Sundrive junction use the estate while at work, including a 
few staff from Supervalu. 
 
Reply: 

Double yellow lines were located on south side of Mount Argus View commencing west of 
driveway of No.9 to extend west for 8.50m. Parking enforcement are aware that some of 
the double yellow lines were painted over. Parking Enforcement informed the Area 
Engineer about this. The Road Marking Team will reinstate the painted out double yellow 
lines as soon as their work load allows them to do so. 
 

Q.34 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to arrange for litter removal and cleansing on Synge Street. 
 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services had Synge Street cleaned on the 7th July 2021. 
 

Q.35 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

Page 45



 
 

To ask the manager to arrange for cleansing in South Lotts. 
 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services clean South Lotts with a hand vac and large road sweeping 
machine five days a week, Monday to Friday. 
 

Q.36 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager about the possibility of extending the hours of pedestrianisation of 
Parliament Street. 
 
Reply: 
The pedestrianisation of Capel Street and Parliament Street are interlinked, as traffic 
volumes on Parliament Street largely originate from Capel Street.  Due to the competing 
needs of businesses in this area, it is not feasible to extend the hours of pedestrianisation, 
although the weekend evening pedestrianisation has been extended for a further six weeks.  
The use of loading and parking spaces on Parliament Street will be considered if there is 
consensus on their use for outdoor dining.  
 

Q.37 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to liaise with those responsible for the pedestrian traffic tunnel at 
details supplied. Public urination has become a serious problem there. 
 
Reply: 
The South East Area Office contacted the management company and received the 
following undertaking:  
 
“We have full time (24/7) security personnel in place to monitor and patrol the park and the 
perimeter of the development sites at Wilton Park.  
 
We have asked them to increase their focus on the area in question as part of their routine 
checks.” 
 

Q.38 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager to liaise with details supplied regarding painting in her apartment at 
details supplied. 
 
Reply: 

As per Tenant’s Handbook internal painting is the responsibility of the tenant. 
 

Q.39 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager to clear foliage at details supplied, foliage is blocking sunlight coming 
into the apt.  It seems others were cleared but this apt. was missed. 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council will investigate this matter and carry out any necessary works. 
 

Q.40 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager if signage could be erected in parts of Ringsend Park to indicate 
proximity to resident homes and the impact of noise late in the evening. 
 
Reply: 
Appropriate signage will be erected over the coming weeks.  However, excessive noise 
levels late in the evening should be referred to the Gardaí. 
 

Q.41 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager for an update in relation to anti-social behaviour near Ffrench Mullen 
House. 

Page 46



 
 

 
Reply: 
The South East Area Office continue to liaise closely with An Garda Síochána and Tuath 
Housing in relation to anti-social behaviour in the environs of Ffrench Mullen house. Anti-
social behaviour is a matter for An Garda Siochána and to date Tuath Housing have 
installed more lighting and aggressive shrubbery in the area where the majority of the anti-
social behaviour is reported. This was completed on the advice of the Crime Prevention 
Officer from An Garda Síochána. Tuath Housing holds a clinic every Tuesday in the TK2 
centre by appointment for the tenants if they have any issues or concerns.  
 
Dublin City Council and An Garda Síochána met with a group of tenants from Ffrench 
Mullen House. The Tenants requested a gate to be erected at the entrance to the walkway. 
The tenants group were informed to the reasons why this would not be possible, however, 
as promised at the meeting, Dublin City Council met with the Architects for Charlemont 
Square; reps. for the Developer and also our Housing Maintenance Division on site at 
Ffrench Mullen House to investigate what additional measures could be introduced to 
reduce the anti-social behaviour in the vicinity of the walkway. Our Housing Maintenance 
division are considering placing a fence at the side of the walkway to eliminate any access 
on the left of the walkway as you come in from Charlemont Street. In relation to the gate 
and as indicated previously with the tenants group, the walkways are integral parts of the 
Master Plan for the Charlemont Square Development and there is no planning permission 
for any gates in this walkway. 
 

Q.42 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 
To ask the manager how a business can apply to have planter bollards installed outside 
their business and if it would be possible at details supplied. 
 
Reply: 
Zebras are installed in order to facilitate outdoor dining in some locations.  However, the 
location at (details supplied) is in an area of pay and display and residents’ parking, where 
there is a high demand from residents for parking, particularly at night.  The outdoor dining 
permit was granted with the full understanding that the licenced area on the roadway was to 
be available for parking outside licenced hours, so zebras will not be installed there.   
 

Q.43 Councillor Danny Byrne 
To ask the manager if an AED (defibrillator) could be installed at each flat complex across 
Dublin City and in strategic places across the city.  Perhaps these could be corporately 
sponsored.  
 
Reply: 
It is not standard procedure for Dublin City Council Housing Maintenance to install or 
maintain defibrillators on site in our complexes. This is not a service that Housing 
Maintenance is considering at this time.  
 

Q.44 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if a solution can be found to the following; 
 
I live in the Court Apartments complex on Wilton Place in Dublin 2. About a month ago a 
pedestrian pathway tunnel was constructed on Wilton Place due to the footpath being 
closed for construction work on the Georgian Terrace. This has created a real problem of 
concern for the residents of Court Apartments. Due to increased socialising along the 
canal, particularly at the Mespil Lock, and no public toilets within walking distance, people 
have been using this walkway to urinate. As you can see from the photos attached, it is a 
blind corner. At least 5 times over the past two weeks I have walked directly into someone 
urinating there. It is incredibly uncomfortable and as a result I don't walk inside the tunnel 
anymore. This building is predominantly older people in their 60s and 70s and mostly 
women and I have serious concerns for their safety not only by walking into an intoxicated 

Page 47



 
 

person openly urinating in public but also by walking on the road in the dark to avoid the 
tunnel. I have rang the Gardaí about this problem and flagged down a passing patrol car to 
alert them. The problem persists. The renovation work that has led to this problem is being 
carried out by IPUT. Somewhere between DCC and IPUT there must be a solution to 
ensure the safety of residents. 
 
Reply: 
The South East Area Office contacted the management company and received the 
following undertaking: 
 
“We have full time (24/7) security personnel in place to monitor and patrol the park and the 
perimeter of the development sites at Wilton Park. 
 
We have asked them to increase their focus on the area in question as part of their routine 
checks.” 
 

Q.45 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if pest control could asses details supplied as it has a serious vermin 
problem. 

 
Reply: 

The Environmental Health Section in Dublin City Council has no statutory powers in relation 
to pest control and do not investigate complaints in relation to vermin. The investigation of 
complains and subsequent enforcement action and the provision of advice in relation to 
vermin is a matter for the Health Service Executive. 
 
The Rats and Mice (Destruction) Act 1919 is enforced by the Health Service Executive, 
Environmental Health, Pest Control Section, Unit 13F, Blanchardstown Corporate Park, 
Blanchardstown, Dublin 15.  Tel: 01 809 8300.  
 
Advice is provided on the HSE web site at 
http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/Publications/Environmentalhealth/Rodent_Control_for_Hous
eholders.pdf and at 
http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/Publications/Environmentalhealth/Rodent_Control_for_the_
Construction_Industry.pdf 
 
There is a mix of private and social houses on this block. Pest control has been out to 
Dublin City Council’s tenants. This situation here is being monitored. 
 

Q.46 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if he will engage with the residents of the new houses in Ringsend 
regarding the installation of a 'Welcome to the New Houses' sign for the Bremen Road 
and Pine Road entrances to the estate and if he will have such a sign installed with the 
residents’ support. 
 
Reply: 
The matter will be examined and a reply issued to the councillor in due course. 
 

Q.47 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if he has or will engage with the Ringsend/Irishtown Tidy Towns 
group regarding the installation of belly bins for Ringsend and Irishtown. 
 
Reply: 
Waste Management have installed 2 Big Belly Bins in Shelly Banks and the entrance to 
nature reserve this year. Engagement with community groups and Tidy Towns has been 
ongoing with our area offices. Waste Management are aware of this request.  
 

Page 48

http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/Publications/Environmentalhealth/Rodent_Control_for_Householders.pdf
http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/Publications/Environmentalhealth/Rodent_Control_for_Householders.pdf
http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/Publications/Environmentalhealth/Rodent_Control_for_the_Construction_Industry.pdf
http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/Publications/Environmentalhealth/Rodent_Control_for_the_Construction_Industry.pdf


 
 

20 Big Belly Bins have been procured this year, with any future procurement, locations and 
suggestions from Tidy town group will be considered in line with needs.  
 

Q.48 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if the section of Pine Road between 28 and 31 could be 
repaired/resurfaced. 
 
Reply: 
This section of Pine Road will be considered for resurfacing when formulating the 2022 
works programme. In the meantime any temporary repairs to keep the carriageway safe will 
be carried out. 
 

Q.49 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if he will ensure a comprehensive cleaning of the new houses, 
Ringsend for the removal of weeds, dead weeds, and litter/illegally dumped material 
across the entire estate including the housing lanes as the estate is in dire need of a 
thorough cleaning including tree pruning where appropriate. 
 
Reply: 
Waste Management has been requested to conduct a thorough cleansing of the area listed.  
This estate has been scheduled for treatment by the Weed Control contractor for 2021.   
 
Waste Management Services clean this residential estate every three weeks and remove 
dumped material from there when necessary. 
 

Q.50 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if he has plans for the refurbishment, cleaning, or otherwise improve 
the playground in Ringsend Park. 
 
Reply: 
The junior playground, which consists of play elements suitable for children from 2 to 12 
years of age, is maintained daily during which the play equipment is inspected to ensure it 
is in  a safe condition for use. 
The senior playground, which has equipment appropriate for older teenagers and more 
adventurous children, is currently being upgraded, and it is anticipated that this will be open 
for use by mid-August. 
 

Q.51 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if DCC will engage with a tenant (details supplied) regarding their 
concerns and seek a resolution to the matter of hygiene issues with neighbour. 
 
Reply: 
The Project Estate Officer will contact this tenant in relation to this matter.  

 
Q.52 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if double yellow lines could be installed on Sundrive Road from outside 
number 87 as far as number 53. 
 
Reply: 
A request for Double Yellow Lines on Sundrive Road from outside number 87 as far as 
number 53  (Enquiry Ref: 7021266) is listed for examination and report by the Transport 
Advisory Group.  The Councillor will be informed of the recommendation in due course. 

 
Q.53 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if signs could be placed at entrance to park and entrance to 
playground at the park on Neagh Road reminding people to pick up dog poo. 
 

Page 49



 
 

Reply: 

Dublin City Council’s Animal Welfare Unit are currently in the process of working with 
Waste Management to increase the number of dog bins in parks and providing additional 
signage in relation to owners cleaning up after their dogs. The Animal Welfare Unit will also 
patrol the park area at intervals. 
 
Waste Management Services had signs placed at the above mentioned locations as 
requested on the 2th July 2021.  
 

Q.54 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if the residents of Peter Place, Dublin 2 could be consulted regarding 
the installation of a railing along green area at the back of 1-6 Peter's Place, Dublin 2, to 
prevent its use as a public toilet. 
 
Reply: 
A feasibility study will carried here to see what is needed.  Following on from this all options 
will be considered and any necessary work will be done. 
 

Q.55 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if trees on Derravaragh Road could be trimmed. 
 
Reply: 
The trees on Derravaragh Road are included in our tree pruning list and it is anticipated that 
pruning will be undertaken as part of this year’s tree pruning programme. 
 

Q.56 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager if DCC could reopen the public access gate at the side of Rathmines 
Town Hall linking Gulistan Cottages with Rathmines village. 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council is obliged by law to ensure the health, safety and welfare of staff, 
patrons and visitors to all council premises and facilities. Waste Management Services 
Health & Safety Unit reviewed operational procedures at each Bring Centre at the 
beginning of the pandemic and a variety of location specific restrictions were introduced to 
allow us to continue to provide essential services during this difficult time. A one way 
system was introduced at Gulistan Terrace Bring Centre to ensure the continued health, 
safety and welfare of staff, patrons and visitors to this facility. The pedestrian gate was 
closed to prevent the bring centre being used as a short cut by persons not using the 
facility. As such, we are not in a position to return to normal operational procedures until 
directed to do so by our Health & Safety team. 
 

Q.57 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the Area Manager clarify for the residents of Coulson Avenue our policy regarding 
parking on narrow streets such as this street?  This request follows the general discussion 
regarding parking issues on footpaths at our last area committee meeting after which 
confusion seems to have circulated. 
 
Reply: 
The Area Engineer has been made aware that residents on Coulson Avenue are concerned 
with the new rules on parking in their area. The Area Engineer has forwarded onto Cllr. 
Deacy the background to the issues raised by one of the residents on Coulson Avenue.  
Parking Enforcement is investigating the issue of the single yellow line on the south side of 
Winton Avenue.    
The Parking Enforcement Division will review and respond to the Councillor in due course. 
 

Q.58 Councillor Anne Feeney 

Page 50



 
 

To ask the Manager to conduct a review of congestion and parking on Observatory Lane 
(leading to Rathmines Cricket grounds), Rathmines.  Parking is legal on one side of the 
lane, but this has the effect of causing a lot of congestion with cars and bikes particularly at 
weekends and can often result in it being very difficult for residents on the lane to access or 
exit their homes. 
 
Reply: 
This request (Enquiry Ref: 7021567) will be referred to the Area Engineer for assessment 
and report to the Transport Advisory Group for their consideration.  The Councillor will then 
be informed of the final recommendations of the Transport Advisory Group.  
 

Q.59 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to repair the footpaths and road on Riversdale Grove, Terenure.  This 
is a small residential street which badly needs repairs to avoid trip hazards. 
 
Reply: 
This street will be considered for resurfacing when formulating the 2022 works programme. 
The footpaths will be examined and any defects will be logged onto our asset management 
system for repair in 2021. 
 

Q.60 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager for an update with a timeline re the request for double yellow lines on 
the first corner to the left as you drive along Mount Argus View, Harold’s Cross.  This is an 
extremely dangerous and blind corner and a request has been submitted on a number of 
occasions by many Councillors for this safety intervention. 
 
Reply: 
The area engineer has recommended double yellow lines on Mount Argus View, these 
double yellow lines will be located on the left hand side of Mount Argus View when the 
Road Marking Team’s workload allows. 
 

Q.61 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to arrange for the tree on the footpath outside details supplied to be 
removed or at a minimum pruned.  The falloff from the tree is causing the resident health 
issues as she has a respiratory condition.  There is no need to replace this tree as there are 
a lot of trees on this road. 

 
Reply: 
A detailed inspection will be undertaken of this tree over the coming weeks.  
 

Q.62 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to assess the lane off Leinster Square for an appropriate mural as part 
of the ‘Paint your Town’ initiative. 
 
Reply: 

The locations are set for this initial call out as locations have been evaluated and 
authorised for consideration by Artists. If the Councillor could supply actual address of 
location or Geo pin and any available information regarding the owner we will seek to 
include it at a later date. 
 

Q.63 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to address the consistent waste management issue on the lane way 
behind details supplied.  A takeaway restaurant backs onto this lane way and the build-up 
of rubbish from this restaurant is causing a pest issue and is unsightly and unacceptable for 
other residents whose homes back onto this well used lane way.  Dublin City Council waste 
management do respond when calls are made to have the rubbish removed, but it is an 

Page 51



 
 

ongoing issue and needs to be taken up with the restaurant in question or whoever else is 
using the lane way as a dumping ground. 

 
Reply: 
The Litter Wardens are engaging with the business referred to. Waste Management 
removed material from this laneway W/C 5th July 2021.  
 

Q.64 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager for an update in relation to details supplied. Is this on the derelict site 
register?  Is it registered for commercial rates and if so to whom?  Is the council taking any 
action in relation to the site? 
 
Reply: 

DCC Dangerous Buildings Inspector did proceed to inspect the above named premises as 
of 9/05/2021, under remit of the Local Gov. Sanitary Services Act 1964 (as amended), 
further to a complaint from a member of the public. 
DB additional further inspection 3/6/2021 
 
The DB Inspector noted: - 9/5/2021 
 

“Cracks visible to gable wall and under window sills to front of building. Cracks 
appear to be in render rather than structural.  
Chimney (noted as ‘false’ – as it is advised to be a comms equipment aerial / 
receiver or sim.) is plumb and shows no sign of instability.  
Roof is old but not in a state of disrepair.  
No immediate safety risk at this time” 

   
No further action warranted by DB 

 
The DB Inspector noted: - 3/6/2021 

 
“No change since Inspection in May - above 
No further action warranted by DB at this time.” 
 

The DB Inspector will continue to periodically monitor, as is our remit under the above 1964 
Act. 
 

The property is list rateable and the occupiers are liable for the rates.  
 
The site was recently inspected and is not considered to be a derelict site in accordance 
with Section (3) of the Derelict Sites Act, 1990. 

 
The Vacant Sites Unit is currently assessing this site’s suitability for entry on the Vacant 
Sites Register as per the criteria outlined in the Urban Regeneration and Housing Act, 
2015.  This includes a search on title by the Property and Title Research Unit to clarify the 
ownership and boundary of the premises.  Upon receipt of the required information, the site 
will be inspected by a Dublin City Council Planner. 

 
Q.65 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to consider having the bottle banks in Terenure Car Park only open 
from the car park side.  While the painting of the recycling units looks great, there is still a 
problem in relation to broken glass on the street side.  Access from the car park side would 
help to eliminate this danger for passing pedestrians and the unsightly appearance for 
residents on the opposite side of the road. 

 
Reply: 

Page 52



 
 

Waste Management Services maintenance personnel will investigate the possibility of 
blocking access to one side of the bottle banks at Terenure Car Park. 
 

Q.66 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to urgently request the traffic engineers to engage with Councillors, 
local residents, Gardaí and Parks Division to present viable proposals in relation to the 
ongoing traffic congestion issues in Rathdown, Terenure.  We have been waiting since 
February for a report that was promised for March.  It is now July and no resolution or 
proposals. 
 
Reply: 
A report on this issue has been completed and is currently being reviewed. The findings 
and any recommendations will be provided to the Councillor in the coming days. The Traffic 
Advisory Group have informed An Garda Síochána and requested that they monitor the 
area also. 

 
Q.67 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to provide residents of a number of local roads which are very narrow, 
with options re parking, if they can no longer park on the footpath as heretofore e.g. 
Coulson Avenue, Riversdale Grove, Brighton Ave and others.  While it is appreciated that 
parking must be responsible and allow for permeability by pedestrians and those with 
disabilities in particular, where this is done and the street is too narrow for parking fully on 
the road, these streets should be identified and granted an exemption from enforcement of 
the 2.5m pavement clear rule. 
 
Reply: 
The Area Engineer has been made aware that residents on Coulson Avenue are concerned 
with the new rules on parking in their area. The Area Engineer has forwarded onto Cllr. 
Feeney the background to the issues raised by one of the residents on Coulson Avenue.  
Parking Enforcement is investigating the issue of the single yellow line on the south side of 
Winton Avenue.    
The Parking Enforcement Division will review and respond to the Councillor in due course.   
 
The Transportation Division is preparing advice around narrow roads and streets with 
respect to the guidance on footpath parking which issued recently.  
 

Q.68 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the trees on Stannaway Avenue outside both sides of Stannaway Court be pruned to 
allow more visibility?  The area behind the trees is being used as a dumping ground and 
there is anti-social behaviour such as drinking and drug-taking place. 
 
Reply: 
The tree at this location have been included in our tree pruning programme and will be 
pruned over coming weeks. 
 

Q.69 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can new trees be planted on the two greens on Windmill Road?  Neighbours have seen 
they’ve been added to a number of other small greens and they are surviving and look 
great. Could the small tarmacked area outside the swimming pool on Windmill Road on the 
public street be changed to grass or flowers bed?  
 
Reply: 
These locations will be assessed for underground services and, if possible, suitable trees 
will be trees planted in early 2022. 
 

Q.70 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Page 53



 
 

Can the manager look at a solution to the parking issue outside 21-33 Armagh Road that 
has been directly created due to the new school safe zone?  Parents/Cars are now blocking 
our houses and visibility is difficult leaving the house and making it dangerous. One 
resident who is a wheelchair user, has found this parking extremely problematic. While the 
schools are closed could you look at installing a small fence and some plants like the 
worked carried out on Summerhill recently.  See: 
https://pbs.twimg.com/media/E5DsKTFWUAEwJnE?format=jpg&name=medium 
 
Reply: 

The School Zones initiative, created by the National Transport Authority in collaboration 
with Green-Schools, aims to create a safer, calmer and more attractive environment 
outside of schools.  The School Zone design gives priority to students at the school gate by 
freeing up footpaths and reducing vehicle drop-offs, pick-ups and idling.  The aim is to 
reduce congestion and increase safety at the front of school, and prioritise active travel 

(walking and cycling) to and from school.  In addition, reducing traffic at school gates 

significantly improves air quality, further improving quality of life for children and all 

others in the vicinity. 

 
The Schools Outreach Officers have been made aware of the parking issues that residents 
on Armagh Road are facing since the installation of the new School Zone. We have 
highlighted this with the school principals and we will begin to roll out a new School Zone 
Action Plan and a Parent Awareness Campaign for Scoil Úna Naofa and Scoil Coláiste 
Eoin in the coming weeks.  This will educate both children and parents on the features of 
the School Zone and the correct behaviour to be adopted in these School Zones and 
should improve the parking situation on Armagh Road.  
 

Q.71 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Can the manager look at improving the ramps at Rathdrum Road and Rutland Avenue?  
The ramps are currently ineffective and cars are driving dangerously through the area.  
 
Reply: 
The Area Engineer has noted Cllr. Dunne’s past request for traffic calming improvements 
on Glenealy Road and Rathdrum Road in addition to Rutland Avenue which are all located 
in the same area.  The Area Engineer will be assessing all of the aforementioned roads in 
the next four weeks. 
 

Q.72 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the manager arrange for an inspection of the footpath at details supplied? Tree roots 
are causing a trip hazard and damaging garden walls at this location. 

 
Reply: 

An assessment of the tree roots and damage to the garden wall will be undertaken and a 
report issued in due course. 
 

Q.73 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can TAG look at getting a pedestrian crossing at the group of shops on St. Agnes Park? 
Every day, children are trying to cross in-between parked cars at the chipper and the spar. 
 
Reply: 
A request for pedestrian crossing on St. Agnes Park (Enquiry Ref: 7009067) is listed for 
examination and report by the Transport Advisory Group.  The Councillor will be informed 
of the recommendation in due course. 
 

Q.74 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager to remove graffiti in Petersons Court and City Quay and to nominate 
the area for use of graff stop. 

Page 54

https://scanner.topsec.com/?u=https%3A%2F%2Fpbs.twimg.com%2Fmedia%2FE5DsKTFWUAEwJnE%3Fformat%3Djpg%26name%3Dmedium&t=d7c9c47197044fc083248c24b1cb608f6ffbed6b&d=1962&r=show


 
 

 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council will investigate the affected area and carry out any necessary work.   
 

Q.75 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager to provide cleansing at City Quay including litter and moss that has 
built up in the area. 
 
Reply: 

Waste Management Services clean City Quay on a daily basis. Manual removal of moss 
from the cobbled area here is a difficult and time consuming task and consideration will be 
given to including this area in the weed spraying programme for this area. 
 

Q.76 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
To ask the area manager if the deep potholes in the road and in the cycle lane in Rathgar 
village (just before Orwell Road) can be filled so as not to cause injury to cyclists.  
 
Reply: 
The matters raised will be examined and a response will be sent to the councillor as soon 
as possible. 

 
Q.77 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if bollards, planters or enforcement measures can be used to 
prevent players using Whealen Park in Kimmage from parking illegally, dangerously and on 
the green at Kimmage Grove? 
 
Reply: 
Parking Enforcement will patrol the areas to ensure illegal parking is enforced. 
 

Q.78 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
To ask the area manager if a 'Slow Zone’/30kmph sign can be erected at the entrance to 
Greenlea Grove, off Greenlea Road, Terenure, and also facing the exit from Terenure 
Rugby Club. Greenlea Grove is becoming an increasingly busy through-way and drivers 
are not taking due care or travelling at appropriate speeds for a narrow and short cut-de-
sac.  
 
Reply: 

As agreed and ratified by the DCC Councillors, all residential roads within the DCC 
jurisdiction are deemed to be 30Km/h (except for approved arterial routes, where the pre-
existing speed limits still apply). 
These new speed limits were fully implemented, throughout the DCC area, at the end of Q2 
2021. 
30Km/h “Slow Zone” Speed Signs designate where changes of speed occur, and as such, 
are not deployed as “repeater” signage. 
 

Q.79 Councillor Carolyn Moore 
To ask the area manager if trees can be planted along the street on Captain’s Road (the 
section between Armagh Road and Stannaway Road) and Captain's Drive. 
 
Reply: 

This location will be inspected in the coming weeks to ascertain if it is possible to plant 
trees at this location, taking into account there may be services located underground.   
 

Q.80 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if the abandoned vehicle details supplied can be removed from 
Ravensdale Drive. It has been abandoned for months. 
 

Page 55



 
 

Reply: 

I will arrange an investigation into the above mentioned vehicle and if it is found to be 
abandoned, I will arrange for its removal. 
 

Q.81 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager to look at replanting trees on unused tree pits located on 
Captain’s Avenue? 
 
Reply: 

This location will be inspected in the coming weeks to ascertain if it is possible to plant 
trees at this location, taking into account there may be services located underground.   
 

Q.82 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the Manager to clarify all road names where residents have to park a car outside on 
narrow roads, partially on footpath, that are NOT going to be clamped. Letter sent to 
residents in Coulson Avenue has caused stressful concern. Enquiry is suggesting they 
cannot park outside their home, and have to park out on Rathgar Avenue and be given 
parking permits. Other residential narrow roads from historic periods include Templemore 
Avenue, where residents have confirmed in the past that they have permission by DCC to 
partially park on the path.  
 
Reply: 
The Area Engineer has been made aware that residents on Coulson Avenue are concerned 
with the new rules on parking in their area. The Area Engineer has forwarded onto Cllr. 
Deacy the background to the issues raised by one of the residents on Coulson Avenue.  
Parking Enforcement is investigating the issue of the single yellow line on the south side of 
Winton Avenue.    
The Parking Enforcement Division will review and respond to the Councillor in due course. 
 

Q.83 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 
To ask the Manager, since I brought up the parking issue in Rathdown Crescent, Rathdown 
Avenue, last year, when will the issue of this two-way driving route be resolved with double 
yellow lines on the Bushy Park side of the road. 
 
Reply: 
A report on this issue has been completed, which is currently being reviewed. The findings 
and any recommendations will be provided to the Councillor in the coming days.  The 
Traffic Advisory Group have informed An Garda Síochána and requested that they monitor 
the area also.  

 
Q.84 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the Manager, if DCC can address a list of issues on the Laneway at rear of Brighton 
Square and Garville Avenue, Rathgar. A letter has been sent to Chief Executive on 20 May 
2020 and a copy of it sent to me in May 2021 and the enquirer is requesting further 
information and I request a copy of the response from the Chief Executive.  
 
I have visited the area last month; I had no access to the laneway. The enquirer letter also 
included a copy of his documents to the Chief Executive sent 7th May 2020.  
 
Response on what can be done on the Laneway and its drainage issue required.  
 
Reply: 
A copy of the reply to details supplied will be sent directly to the councillor. 
 

Q.85 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

Page 56



 
 

To ask the Manager if the Parks Department can confirm full time pitches for Ranelagh 
Gaels as the children are having to go to different pitches each week and parents set up 
the pitch each time.  
 
Reply: 

There is big demand for pitches from all sporting organisations throughout the city and it is 
not unusual for clubs to use facilities at different location.  The current allocation of pitches 
for Ranelagh Gaels was agreed with the club. 
 

Q.86 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please increase the cleansing of Ropewalk.  This is full of 
litter and dog waste and doesn't appear to be cleaned properly. 
 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services clean Ropewalk five days a week, Monday to Friday. Dog 
foul is removed as part of this cleaning schedule. 
 

Q.87 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager if he could carry out some minor pruning of the trees in 
Hazelbrook Drive and Hazelbrook Road. The trees are overgrown and are covering the 
stop sign at the entrance. 
 
Reply: 
Vegetation has been removed from around the stop sign in recent days. Additional pruning 
will be carried out on the tree during the dormant season over the autumn/winter months 
 

Q.88 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he please assist the following details supplied in seeking 
alternative housing, preferably in Charlemont / Ffrench Mullen House.  This person and her 
family are living in an incredibly overcrowded situation which is affecting everyone's 
physical and mental health 
 
Reply: 

The above applicant is on the Housing List, with an application date of 02/02/2016, and the 
applicant holds the following positions on this list: 
 

Area  Bedsize Position 

Area L 2 105 

Area M 2 85 

Area N 2 130 

 
The applicant’s interest in the Charlemont and Ffrench Mullen have been noted on her file. 

 
The applicant will be considered for an offer when accommodation to meet her household 
need becomes available and according to her position on the list.  
 
Dublin City Council allocates properties based on time on the list and currently there are 
applicants of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable vacancies arise. It is 
not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. The number of 
vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of time applicants could expect 
to be on the waiting list.  
 
I note the applicant has been previously advised in respect of HAP, which she may be 
eligible for. It will provide her with financial assistance towards the cost of renting another 

Page 57



 
 

property. Should the applicant wish to apply for the HAP scheme, she should make contact 
with the Allocations Section with current income details where a Housing Advisor can 
provide information and advice on the scheme. 
 

Q.89 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he please erect signs near the tennis and basketball courts 
in Ringsend Park to remind people that they are close to a residential area and to keep the 
noise down. 
 
Reply: 
Appropriate signage will be installed at this location over the coming weeks. 
 

Page 58



Page 1 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

1 7000297 AVENUE ROAD (SE) Dublin 8Double Yellow
Lines

Double Yellow Lines on Avenue
Road.

0CouncillorRecommended Recommended
The area engineer has recommended NO PARKING 24 HOUR on
the south/west sides of Avenue Road. This is to allow the road
marking team to locate DYLs (stats already created ASSET ID
NOV17SE19) on the south side and west side of Avenue Road.
There are ongoing issues with vehicles parking on the
aforementioned sides of Avenue Road.
Stats:
Locate SIGNAGE POLE AND NO PARKING SIGN (RUS 019)
with supplementary plate 24 HOUR OPERATION (P 055) at a
point on the west side of Avenue Road 6.50m north of No 42
Avenue Road to prevent vehicles blocking Avenue Road.
Locate SIGNAGE POLE AND NO PARKING SIGN (RUS 019)
with supplementary plate END (P 010) on the west side of Avenue
Road at the gable side of No.30A St. Kevin’s Road D8.

09/11/2017

2 7013912 MOUNTAIN VIEW
ROAD (SE)

Dublin 6P&D/Permit Park
(Change Hours)

Increase time for pay and display
from 07-19hrs to 07-24 hrs
Monday to Sunday

0Member of
the Public

Awaiting
Survey

Recommended to extend hours subject to ballot of residents, 19/02/2020

3 7018860 HAGAN'S COURT
(SE)

Dublin 2Double Yellow
Lines

DYL ALL 0InternalRecommended Recommended
Egress/access to no.13  restricted due to the presence of a
P&D/PP on the opposite side of Hagan’s Court.

Part of the existing P&D/PP (8m) will be rescinded and replaced
with 8m of DYLs to allow  vehicular entrance to property.

STAT
1.Rescind part of existing P&D/PP bay on south west side of
Hagan’s Court to allow  access to property.  Rescind part of
P&D/PP bay beginning at the boundary of Nos. 8/9 to end 3m
south east from No.9 (Stat - 200.00.00 Asset ID 4669).
2.Provide DYLs to prevent vehicles parking opposite No.13
Hagan’s Court. Provide DYLs commencing at a point at the
boundary of No. 8/9 Hagan’s Court (to join existing DYLs) extend
DYLs south east to end 3m south east from No.9 Hagan’s Court.
3.Provide P&D/PP bay commencing 3m south east from No.9
Hagans Court to be extended south east to end at Lamp Stand
No. 3W.

02/02/2021

P
age 59



Page 2 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

4 7019907 GRAND CANAL
STREET LOWER (SE)

Dublin 2TAG General
Engineer Query

paint a dividing white line down
the middle of the end of the road
at the junction, so as to get
drivers to position their vehicle

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended
The area engineer attended a site visit on 22/07/2021, a number
of issues arose, there is a pay and display/permit parking scheme
on north side of Grand Canal Street Upper that ends 58.80m from
junction with South Lotts Road.  Which gives vehicles a limited
distance to “GET IN LANE” before reaching the aforementioned
junction. The road width is 4.15m opposite Lamp Stand No.3
which is too narrow to locate lane dividers with directional arrows
(right turn or straight ahead road markings). The road width
widens slightly to 4.68m opposite No. 50 Grand Canal Street
Upper. This does not meet the minimum standard for locating
lane dividers on this section of Grand Canal Street Upper.
Additionally cyclists use this road, locating lane dividers would
cause cyclists to be forced off the road as vehicles (especially
HGVs and delivery vans) try and stay within their designated lane.
Therefore the area engineer does not recommend any lane
dividers at this junction or moving the traffic island as requested.

12/04/2021

5 7020030 DOLPHIN ROAD (SE) Dublin 12Double Yellow
Lines

request  double yellow lines be
added between the stands and
the roundabout.

0InternalRecommended Recommended
Provide DYLs on the north side of Dolphin Road east of the mini
roundabout where it meets Mourne Road. Extend DYLs for
12.40m to end at the concrete plinth beside the cycle stand.
Stat – To prevent vehicles parking on the green verge on Dolphin
Road - locate DYLs starting at the green on north side of Dolphin
Road at  mini roundabout (adjacent to Mourne Road) extend
DYLs to end at plinth marking cycle stand 12.40m east of green
verge.

16/04/2021

6 7020132 YORK ROAD (SE) Dublin 6Disab Park Bay
Residential

Disabled parking bay for York
Road, at rear of  5 Maxwell
Road.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

The Criteria for installation of a disabled parking bay is not met at
this location.

22/04/2021

7 7020316 CASHEL AVENUE
(SE)

Dublin 12Traffic Calming "Slow" marking, "Children at
Play" signage and one-way
system leading towards green
area on Cashel Avenue.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Provide SLOW road markings inbound to the green area of
Cashel Avenue. The area engineer does not recommend a one
way traffic flow system for Cashel Avenue as this would led to
increases in speed by drivers. The new residential 30km/h zone
signs are being erected throughout Dublin City.
Stat - Locate No.2 SLOW road markings inbound approaching the
green on Cashel Avenue to alert drivers there may be small
children playing close to the road. Locate one SLOW road
marking opposite the driveway of No 118 Cashel Avenue and the
second SLOW road marking opposite the driveway of No.108
Cashel Avenue so the road markings are not covered by parked
vehicles

30/04/2021

P
age 60



Page 3 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

8 7020347 HIGHFIELD ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 6TAG General
Engineer Query

LOADING ZONE ONLY-NO
THRU TRAFFIC

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Recommended
Provide NO STRAIGHT AHEAD sign with signage pole and
Except LOADING information plate on south side of Rathgar
before the “Triangle”. To stop either non-commercial vehicles
parking in the loading bay or prevent vehicles  from  using the
LEFT TURN ONLY at the junction of Highfield Road and Rathgar
Road.
STAT
Provide signage pole with NO STRAIGHT SIGN with EXCEPT
LOADING supplementary plate located in front of Lamp Stand No.
19 on south side of Highfield Road. To prevent vehicles either
parking in the loading bay or driving straight through slip road to
access Orwell Road or Terenure Road East.

04/05/2021

9 7020421 TERENURE ROAD
EAST (SE)

Dublin 6Continuous White
Line (Extend)

Extend solid white line, and
installe flexible bollards, to
prevent illegal turns by vehicles
parking at AIB Bank.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended 1.Re-paint solid white line on Terenure Road East from Rathgar
village cross roads as far back as reasonable to prevent motorists
from driving on wrong side of The street to park in front of AIB
Bank

The area engineer will recommend that the centre line (solid white
line) be repainted from the junction with Orwell Road/Rathgar
Avenue west to end at the yellow box (opposite No. 12 Terenure
Road East).
2.Install flexible Orcas/Bollards on the centerline to emphasize the
fact that there is a solid while line and prevent crossover.

The area engineer is not in favour of locating any orcas/flexi
bollards to alert motorists that there is a solid white centre line
from junction with Orwell Road and Rathgar Avenue. Motorists
driving over the solid white centreline is an enforcement issue, the
local Gardaí should be notified in such cases.
3.Install no right turn sign on laneway beside AIB Bank. Orcas/
Bollards will prevent traffic from making a right turn

Enforcement if in relation to compliance with Road Traffic Signs
and markings is a matter for An Garda Síochána.

10/05/2021

10 7020526 BATH STREET (SE) Dublin 4Disab Park Bay
Gen (Rescind)

Removal of the unused and
unrequested designated space.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended
The disabled parking bay (DPB) located on Irishtown Road
opposite The Canton House Takeaway is used by people with
disabilities to access the Physio Needs Ltd. Medical Supply Store
on Bath Street.

12/05/2021

P
age 61



Page 4 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

11 7020580 LAD LANE (SE) Dublin 2Parking
Restrictions

Signage to prevent parking at
rear gate of Embassy.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Signage is not recommended at this location, DCC is actively
trying to prevent the proliferation of traffic signs throughout the
City. Vehicles are permitted to park on existing double yellow lines
if the driver is  actively loading or unloading for a period of 30mins
only. Any violations  regarding the parking of vehicles on double
yellow lines should be reported to the local Gardai  to enforce.

17/05/2021

12 7020654 CLONMACNOISE
ROAD (SE)

Dublin 12Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures for this
section of Clonmacnoise Road.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Recommended.
The area engineer noted that new YIELD signs/YIELD road
markings have been located at the “triangle” on Clonmacnoise
Road. Area engineer recommends traffic calming in the form of
SLOW road markings on all approaches to “Triangle”. To alert
drivers that vehicles may exit the “Triangle” on Clonmacnoise
Road.

Locate SLOW at BUS STOP No. 3360 (inbound) to warn drivers
of cars exiting the TRIANGLE on Clonmacnoise Road.
Locate SLOW road markings opposite No. 155 Clonmacnoise
Road (outbound) to warn drivers of vehicles exiting the triangle on
Clonmacnoise Road.
Locate SLOW road marking (inbound) opposite Lamp Stand No.
41 on Clonmacnoise Road to alert drivers of vehicles exiting the
“Triangle” on Clonmacnoise Road.

19/05/2021

13 7020778 DARTMOUTH
TERRACE (SE)

Dublin 6P&D Parking Move end of the pay and display
parking to line up with end of
footpath allowing access to
footpath.

1Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

It is not recommended to reduce the length of the Pay & Display
and Permit Parking area outside 76 Dartmouth Terrace.  The road
width at this location is at least 4.6metres which meets Dublin City
Council’s policy for accommodating single sided parking.
Furthermore, there is a high demand for parking, by residents on
Dartmouth Terrace.  Relocating the Pay & Display and Permit
Parking bay line marking to the end of the sidewalk in question,
would result in one less vehicle being able to park in the Pay &
Display and Permit Parking area outside 1-7 Dartmouth Terrace.
It is however recommended that the Pay & Display and Permit
Parking sign and pole (across from 76 Dartmouth Terrace) be
relocated to 2metres north of the 7 Dartmouth Terrace boundary
wall (in alignment with the current Pay & Display and Permit
Parking line marking).  This should make it clear to motorists, the
end boundary of Pay & Display and Permit Parking.

In the event vehicles illegally park on the double yellow lines
across from 76 Dartmouth Terrace, Dublin City Parking
Enforcement should be contacted at 01-222-2261 or
parkingenforcement@dublincity.ie to enforce the parking
restrictions.

26/05/2021

P
age 62



Page 5 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

14 7020781 ORWELL ROAD (SE) Dublin 63.5 Tonne Limit  issues with 3.5tonne vehicles
parking on this bridge

0InternalRecommended A 24 HOUR CLEARWAY is recommended  to operate on the
inbound/outbound sides of the bridge, to prevent any parking on
this bridge 24 hours/7 days week.
Stats:
Rescind 200.003.00 (Asset ID 8947). No Parking Orwell Road
north of junction with Orwell gardens – unclear what this stat is
referring to. Rescind 200.004.00 (ID 9032) 3.5 Tonne Limit Orwell
Road north of Orwell Gardens. Rescind 200.027.00 (Asset ID
10109031) Orwell Road south of Orwell Gardens 3.5Tonne Limit.
Rescind 200.039.00 (Asset ID 39100000) 3.5 Tonne Limit Orwell
Road South of Orwell Gardens.
New Stats:
Inbound - Locate 24 HOUR CLEARWAY sign and signage pole
on south side of Orwell Road Bridge opposite the junction with
Orwell Gardens to prevent parking on Orwell Road Bridge.
Inbound - Locate END 24 HOUR CLEARWAY sign and signage
pole on south side of Orwell Road Bridge at Lamp Stand No. 33.
To prevent parking on the Orwell Road Bridge.
Outbound - On north side of Orwell Road Bridge locate 24 HOUR
CLEARWAY sign and signage pole at northern edge of bus cage
of bus stop 2990 to prevent parking on the Orwell Road Bridge.
Outbound - On north side of Orwell Road Bridge locate END 24
HOUR CLEARWAY sign and signage pole. At a point north west
of junction with Orwell Gardens at black lamp stand (no ID
number on black lighting pole)

26/05/2021

15 7020897 LOMBARD COURT
(SE)

Dublin 2Disab Park Bay
Residential

Disabled parking bay for
Lombard Court, at rear of 38 City
Quay.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended RECOMMENDED.
Provide a disabled parking bay for resident of No. 38 City Quay.
The disabled parking bay is to be provided in Lombard court
which is In Charge with DCC.
Stat
Provide a DISABLED PARKING BAY to left of back gate of
property No. 38 City Quay on Lombard Court.

03/06/2021

16 7021054 HANOVER STREET
EAST (SE)

Dublin 2Double Yellow
Lines

Double yellow lines on both sides
of the road

0Member of
the Public

Recommended RECOMMENDED.
Reinstate DYLs on the south side of Hanover Street from Bollards
at junction with Macken Street to junction with Hanover Street
East (new road).
Stats: Reinstate DYLs under existing Stats 200.006.00 (Asset ID
3845) and 200.034.00 (Asset ID 4241). These DYLs should have
been reinstated after construction on Hanover Street East was
completed.

11/06/2021

P
age 63



Page 6 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

17 7021074 GOLDEN LANE (SE) Dublin 8Electric Car Bay There is a charger with the
capacity for 2 cars, but only one
spot is reserved for EV vehicles.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Recommended.
ESB confirmed that the EV charging point can accommodate No.
2 vehicles at a time. The area engineer recommends that the
current P&D/PP beside the electric vehicle charging point. Be
converted to an additional EV charging bay so that No. 2 Electric
Vehicles can charge simultaneously at both bays
Stats:
Revised stats required for current indented P&D/permit parking
bay on south side of Golden Lane (between Lamp Stand No. 3
and 4. No Stats for EV Charging Points at same location.
Revised Stats
New Stat - Provide No. 2 Electric Vehicle Charging Bays on south
side of Golden Lane D8 from edge of indented bay opposite Lamp
Stand No. 4 west for 5.10m.
Revised Stat - Provide P&D/Permit Parking bays (07.00 to 19.00
Mon – Sat) starting at a point 3.35m west from Lamp Stand No. 4
extend west for 34m to end at the end of indented bay (opposite
Lamp Stand No. 4) on Golden Lane.  Move current P&D/Permit
Parking information signage and pole to start of P&D/Permit
Parking bays.

11/06/2021

18 7021218 MONASTERBOICE
ROAD (SE)

Dublin 12Parking
Restrictions

requesting to move the disabled
parking space a few metres to
the right so it is directly in front of
the boundary of number 9.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended
The area engineer does not recommend moving the disabled
parking bay from its present location, if
the disabled parking bay is moved to the right it will block the
gates of property No. 10.
When the request was made for the location of the disabled
parking bay for the resident at No.9 the
area engineer tried to locate it between the property gates of No 8
and property gates of No. 10.

22/06/2021

19 7021266 SUNDRIVE ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 12Double Yellow
Lines

requesting double yellow lines to
be installed along the full length
of Sundrive Road on the Dublin
Bay South side of the road.

1CouncillorNot
Recommended

Not Recommended.
The area engineer attended a site visit in 20/07/2021, the area
engineer is not in favour of locating double yellow lines between
53-87 Sundrive Road. The area engineer is of the opinion that to
do so will lead to increases in speed through this section of
Sundrive Road. The current situation of allowing vehicles to park
at the aforementioned location facilitates traffic calming at this
location.

24/06/2021

P
age 64



Page 7 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

20 7021336 AVENUE ROAD (SE) Dublin 8Parking
Restrictions

Clearway or No Parking
restrictions at all times to prevent
parked vehicles from obstructing
through traffic.

0InternalRecommended Recommended
The area engineer has recommended NO PARKING 24 HOUR on
the south/west sides of Avenue Road. This is to allow the road
marking team to locate DYLs (stats already created ASSET ID
NOV17SE19) on the south side and west side of Avenue Road.
There are ongoing issues with vehicles parking on the
aforementioned sides of Avenue Road.
Stats:
Locate SIGNAGE POLE AND NO PARKING SIGN (RUS 019)
with supplementary plate 24 HOUR OPERATION (P 055) at a
point on the west side of Avenue Road 6.50m north of No 42
Avenue Road to prevent vehicles blocking Avenue Road.
Locate SIGNAGE POLE AND NO PARKING SIGN (RUS 019)
with supplementary plate END (P 010) on the west side of Avenue
Road at the gable side of No.30A St. Kevin’s Road D8

28/06/2021

21 7021367 AIDEEN AVENUE
(SE)

Dublin
6W

Double Yellow
Lines

at the entrance to Aideen
Avenue from Kimmage Road
Lower.

0GardaiRecommended Recommended Double Yellow Lines on both sides of Aideen
Avenue at the Junction with Kimmage Road  to address the issue,
raised by An Garda Síochána, of vehicles parking at this junction.
Stats:  Locate DYLs on north side of Aideen Avenue beginning at
junction with Kimmage Road Lower to extend 10m south east .
Locate DYLs on south side of Aideen Avenue beginning at a point
with Kimmage Road Lower to extend 10m south east.

29/06/2021

P
age 65



Page 8 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

22 7021403 TOWNSEND STREET
(SE)

Dublin 2Disab Park Bay
Gen (Rescind)

In order to allow for this bus stop
a disabled space is required to
be relocated to Princes St South.

0InternalRecommended Recommended
The area engineer has been requested by BusConnects Liaison
Team to rescind an existing DPB on north side of Townsend
Street opposite The Huawaii Ireland Research Centre. The
rescindment of this DPB is to allow BusConnects to locate a new
bus stop at this location.
The area engineer has been informed by Parking Services that
No. 6 parking permits have been issued for the P&D/PP scheme
on Prince’s St. South. The area engineer has recommended that
this DPB be relocated on west side of Princes St. South starting
9.60m north from junction with Townsend Street.

Stats: Rescind existing Disabled Parking Bay under Stat
200.144.00 (Asset ID STAT_NOV19SE20)  on north side of
Townsend Street opposite The Huawaii Ireland Research Centre
to allow for BusConnects to provide a bus stop at this location.
Rescinded DPB to be located on west side of Prince’s Street
South 9.60m north of junction with Townsend St.

Rescind part of existing Pay and Display & Permit Parking
(P&D/PP) scheme on west side of  Prince’s Street South under
Stat 200.009.00 ( Asset ID 9604) Rescind existing P&D/PP from a
point 9.60m north from junction with Townsend St. Rescind
parking bay for 6m to be replace with a DPB with DPB symbol
and relevant DPB information sign. Move existing Pay and
Display & Permit Parking scheme information signage pole 6m
north to allow for new DPB.

New Stat
Locate 6m Disabled Parking Bay on west side of Prince’s Street
South starting at a point 9.60m north of junction with Townsend
Street. Provide Disabled Parking Bay signage pole at this location.

01/07/2021

P
age 66



Page 9 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

23 7021550 GREENLEA GROVE
(SE)

Dublin
6W

Traffic Calming Slow Zone 30Km Signage 1CouncillorRecommended Traffic Calming is recommended in the form of SLOW road
markings on both sides of Greenlea Grove close to the exit of
Terenure Rugby Club and close to the junction of Greenlea Grove
with Greenlea Road.
Greenlea Grove doesn’t meet the criteria for the location of speed
ramps (Mot. 10 12072021).
The criteria used by Dublin City Council in assessing requests for
the installation of ramps are;
 •The road should have a straight run of at least 200m
 •The 85th percentile speed should be greater than 50 km/h
 •Traffic volumes should exceed 60 vehicles per hour
 •There should be genuine road safety concerns based either on

actual accident statistics or on observed road safety patterns or
written report from an Inspector of the Garda Traffic Division,
Dublin castle relating of safety.

Locate SLOW road marking on the east side of Greenlea Grove
to alert drivers to curb their speed. On the east side of Greenlea
Grove 15m south from junction 0n with Greenlea Road.
Locate SLOW road markings on west side of Greenlea Grove
between the property boundary of Nos 4/5 Greenlea Grove to
warn drivers to curb their speed.

08/07/2021

24 7021660 CORN EXCHANGE
PLACE (SE)

Dublin 2TAG General
Engineer Query

Close Corn Exchange place to
through traffic while providing
access via Burgh Quay to the
apartment car park.

0InternalNot
Recommended

NOT RECOMMENDED.
The area engineer does not recommend the closing to through
traffic on Corn Exchange Place to facilitate the new C Spine for
Bus Connects.
Corn Exchange Place is used by the Gardai to park their vehicles
there is a Loading Bay (07.00 to 19.00 Monday to Saturday) at the
junction of Corn Exchange Place and Burgh Quay to facilitate
deliveries to  businesses on Burgh Quay.

15/07/2021

25 7021700 HIGHFIELD ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 6Loading Bay rescind loading bay. 0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended. Area Engineer not in favour of rescinding the
loading bay opposite Super Valu, Rathgar  to allow this area to be
used by businesses for people to meet.

1. the slip road is used by HGVs to carry out deliveries to Super
Valu, There is no where  else in Rathgar a loading bay can be
relocated.  This loading bay is used by HGVs  that regularly carry
out deliveries  and require the loading bay to remain where it is.
The arae engineer would not consent to people  congregating on
the triangle at this triangle is located near  a busy junction There
would be  serious safety concerns at this  location and it is a bus
route.

16/07/2021

P
age 67



Page 10 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

26 7021717 PALMERSTON PARK
(SE)

Dublin 6Traffic Calming Speeding / Traffic Calming,
Traffic Signs, Other

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended
The area engineer is not in favour of introducing a “one way”
system to traffic flow to the south side of Palmerston Park (on the
Trinity Botanic Dept. side) flowing from west to east.
It is the area engineer’s findings vehicles speeds increase with
the introduction of “one way” system on any given road. The
presence of parked vehicles on either side of Palmerston Park
and allowing two way traffic acts as traffic calming for vehicles on
this road.
Instances of speeding and dangerous driving should be reported
to An Garda Síochána.

20/07/2021

27 7021986 HIGHFIELD ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 6Double Yellow
Lines

increasing number of cars and
vans have parked on the side of
the road outside the shop.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Recommended
Area engineer recommends locating DYLs on north side of
Highfield (inbound) starting at the existing DYLs at the junction of
Villiers Road and Highfield Road to extend 52.57m east along
Highfield Road to join existing DYLs opposite Woodleigh Ash
Apartments. To prevent vehicles blocking Highfield Road
(inbound).
STAT – To prevent pavement parking and vehicles blocking the
inbound side on Highfield Road provide DYLs starting at the
junction with Villiers Street extend for 52.57m east to end at
existing DYLs opposite the Woodleigh Ash Apartment Block.

04/08/2021

28 7021992 IRISHTOWN ROAD
(SE)

Dublin 4TAG General
Engineer Query

Confusion in relation to road
markings at this location.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Recommended
Area engineer recommends the relining of road markings on all
arms of the pedestrian crossing points at the junction on
Londonbridge Road (Garda Station)  and Irishtown Road and the
pedestrian crossings on Tritonville Road and Church Avenue .The
relining to include LOOK RIGHT/LOOK LEFT as the
aforementioned junctions.

05/08/2021

29 7022081 CHARLEMONT
STREET (SE)

Dublin 2Bus Stop Marking 2 bus cages required for Bus
Stops on Charlemont Street.

0InternalRecommended  1.(DB 2903) Install Bus Stop Markings, RRM 030 on the south
side of Charlemont Street, Approximately 21.9 metres North of
Public Lamp Standard No. 5, Extending southwards by
Approximately 13 metres.

 2.(DB 2812) Install Bus Stop Markings, RRM 030 on the north
side of Charlemont Street, Approximately 28.8 metres South east
of Public Lamp Standard No. 4, Extending northwest by
Approximately 13 metres.

11/08/2021

P
age 68



Page 11 of 11

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

02/09/2021
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/09/2021)
30 Items

30 7022313 GROVE ROAD (SE) Dublin 6Yellow Box A yellow box would allow space
for a car to exit onto the far lane
when turning right onto Grove
Road

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Not Recommended
Yellow boxes are intended to prevent blocking of junctions. Where
yellow boxes are requested they should serve a minimum of fifty
houses or a major traffic generating facility. This guideline is in
place to avoid a proliferation of yellow boxes in the city.Cois Eala
does not meet the criteria unfortunately the area engineer is
unable to grant the request.

25/08/2021

P
age 69





 

 

 
            Culture, Recreation and Economic Services Dept., 
                    Civic Offices. 
                 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the 
South East Area Committee  

 

 
Part 8 Notification for information purposes only 

Development of Columbarium Walls, at Donnybrook Graveyard, Donnybrook Road 
 

 

 
 
A draft Burial Places Strategy (see attached) was presented to and noted by the Arts, 
Culture, Leisure and Recreation SPC, in May 2021. One of the primary actions of the draft 
Burial Places Strategy is the provision of Columbarium Walls.  
 
Donnybrook graveyard is the first of four potential sites selected for the proposed future 
installation of columbarium walls.  This site is considered to have the best visual and 
landscape character ‘capacity’ for an initial columbarium wall proposal and therefore was 
chosen as the pilot project. 
 
As per best practice, a conservation management plan and an archaeological assessment 
were commissioned to better understand Donnybrook graveyard and consider detail 
design issues such as specific wall positions. The draft plan (attached drawing No. 20-02, 
P-01) is informed by those studies. The draft plan shows the 6 no. potential locations for 
the columbarium walls and highlights the location of the pilot project (position number 1.). 
The proposals also include for the potential future re-opening of the original graveyard 
entrance and proposed nearby parking spaces for bereaved visitors. 
 
The proposed columbarium walls require Part 8 approval and also require Ministerial 
Consent for the National Monument, before a pilot project may be installed. The proposed 
columbarium walls will be constructed of natural stone and contain a combination of small, 
medium and large size niches. These niches may house individual, couple and family urns, 
with plaques, as shown in typical elevation below.  
 
Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape Services seeks approval of the South East Area 
Committee of their intentions to initiate a Part 8 application, in September 2021. 

 
Christina Todd 
Executive Landscape Architect 

Page 71



 

Proposed Typical Columbarium Wall Elevation (7LArchitect’s work in progress – July 
2020) 

 

Proposed Site Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



P
age 73





 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Report to Arts, Culture, Leisure 

and Recreation SPC 

30th April 2021 

Item No. xxx 

 

Dublin City Council Burial Places Strategy ‐ Synopsis 

 
Photograph Credit: Conservation Architect; Fergal McNamara (St. James’s Graveyard, James’s Street) 

 

 

 
Page 75



 

2 
 

 

Contents 

 

Executive Summary 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Subject Sites 

1.2 Explaining the specific need to safeguard the sites 

 

2.0 Vision & Objectives  
2.1 Vision 
2.2 Objectives 

                

3.0 Conclusion & Proposed Actions  

3.1 Conclusion 

3.2 Proposed Actions 

3.3 Pilot Project ‐ Proposed Columbarium Walls  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

3 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 

This document highlights the  importance of a Burial Places Strategy for all Dublin City Council sites 

and outlines key actions required. The strategy focuses on the burial places in which Parks, Biodiversity 

and Landscape Services have a significant management role. 

This strategy builds on the recommendations of the ‘Dublin City Parks Strategy 2019‐2022', which lists 

two specific proposed actions in relation to burial places;  

 ‘To  develop  appropriate  forms  of  interpretation  to  promote  knowledge  of  historical 

graveyards and assist research of cemeteries’ 

 ‘To consider the provision of columbarium walls in burial grounds’ 

In conjunction with the above, the additional objectives are to; 

 To carry out Community Engagement & Facilitate Volunteerism 

 To facilitate respectful and appropriate public access to these contemplative spaces 

 To conserve and enhance burial grounds as reserves for biodiversity at local and City level 

In order to achieve these specific objectives, it is vital to;  

 Safeguard and conserve the sites 

 Define sustainable uses, such as continue the practice of interment (where appropriate)  

 Raise profile, understanding and appropriate use of burial places 

 Ensure best practice maintenance of the sites (for biodiversity and built heritage) 

 Foster long‐term self‐funding of burial places 

 

In order to progress these objectives, the key actions to safeguard and also respectfully optimise the 

potential of these special city assets are; 
 Commission Conservation Management Plans  

 Progress Donnybrook Cemetery Pilot Project for Columbarium Wall provision  

 Develop site specific plans for each site 

 Produce site specific maintenance plans, with clear actions 

 Prioritise  key  heritage  projects,  for  example,  the  conservation  High  Cross,  St.  Canice’s 

Graveyard 

 Monitor biodiversity and archaeological changes over time 

 Assess species assemblages and monitor biodiversity changes over time 

 

Acknowledgements; This strategy was reviewed by the Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape Services 

team and other relevant DCC departments. Specific feedback, advice and input was received from;  

 Les Moore, City Parks Superintendent 

 Bernard Brady, Project Manager, Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape Services 

 Maryann Harris, Senior Executive Parks and Landscape Officer 

 Ruth Johnson, City Archaeologist & Charles Duggan, Heritage Officer 

Page 77



 

4 
 

 

1.0 Introduction 

 

1.1 Subject Sites  

This  strategy  focuses on  key  sites,  in which Dublin City Council Parks, Biodiversity  and  Landscape 

Services  has  a  (significant) management  role. Only  3  of  the  subject  sites;  St.  John  the  Baptist  in 

Clontarf, Drimnagh  (Bluebell)  and  St.  Canice’s  in  Finglas  accept  interments  (in  pre‐existing  family 

plots), but no new plots are available.  In recent years, there are approximately a total of 7 burials 

annually, in old burial plots.  

The  Parks,  Biodiversity  and  Landscape  Services Division  also  carry  out management/maintenance 

works on the following sites: 

Raheny (St. Assam’s), Killester, Donnybrook Graveyard, Merrion (Bellevue), St. James's Graveyard, The 

Jewish Cemetery  (Ballybough),  the Burial plots  in Civic Office Grounds,  St. Kevin’s Park, Huguenot 

Cemetery  (Merrion Row), St. Luke’s Graveyard  (Coombe) and Cabbage Garden Park. Several burial 

places are not maintained primarily as burial places. For example, the Cabbage Garden is managed as 

a park and  the  former Wolfe Tone  site  is now public  realm. These burial places are  located  in  the 

location plans. 

Four  of  these  sites were  investigated  by  the  ‘Columbarium Walls  Feasibility  Study  for Dublin City 

Council Parks and Landscape Services’ by 7L Architects (September 2019);  

I. Donnybrook Graveyard,  

II. Clontarf,  

III. Bluebell,  

IV. Merrion (Bellevue). 

The  study  demonstrated  that  these  four  sites  could  provide  interment  options  for  their  local 

communities.  

For context, the ‘Dublin City Graveyard’s Study’ (2004) surveyed sixty‐four sites and notes that ‘the 

information collected may be considered to be statistically significant’. The study  included disused 

graveyards ‘where it was clear that they had been graveyards – such as those converted to other uses, 
but where headstones remained on site.’ Therefore, in addition to the actions included in this strategy 

(synopsis), there is opportunity to address more Dublin City burial places in the future. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



 

5 
 

Location Plans (initial key burial places) 

 
Burial Places (outside city centre) ‐ Location Plan  

1  Bluebell Graveyard & Cemetery, Drimnagh    5  St. John the Baptist, Clontarf   
2  St. Canice’s Graveyard, Finglas   6  Bellevue, off Merrion Road  

3  Donnybrook Graveyard, Donnybrook Road   7  St. Assam’s, Raheny  

4  Killester Graveyard, Killester Avenue   8  The Jewish Cemetery, Ballybough  

 

   
 

City Centre Burial Places ‐ Location Plan 
1  St. James's Graveyard, James's St. North   6  St. Werburgh’s Graveyard, Werburgh St. 
2  St Catherine’s Graveyard (to the rear of St Catherine’s Church on 

Thomas Street), is now a park 
7  St. Luke’s, The Coombe 

3  St. Audeon’s Churches Burial Places, Cornmarket/High Street  8  Cabbage Garden, Cathedral Lane 
4  St. Nicholas Within, corner of Nicholas St. and Christchurch Place  9  St. Kevin’s Park 
5  Burial plots, DCC Civic Grounds   10  Huguenot Cemetery, Merrion Row 

 
 

 

Page 79



 

6 
 

1.2 Explaining the need...changing and evolving scenarios 

The  need  for  the  proposed  Burial  Places  strategy  is  to  ascertain  the  current  site  conditions,  the 

relevant  issues and also understand how best to  sensitively optimise  the sites. Burial places  face a 

multitude of potential threats and it is vital to first safeguard these sites. 

The overarching need for the strategy is compounded by the intense urban development pressure and 

the  complex  evolution  of  these  historical  urban  burial  places.  Following,  there  are  particular 

challenges which must be addressed.  

The potential typical threats to burial places may be internal or external. Examples of internal threats 

which need to be addressed through the design and management include; 

 Invasive alien species, over mature trees, storm fallen trees and overgrown vegetation which 

may cause structural damage 

 Past  inappropriate and  too dense planting and  self‐seeded plants which do not contribute 

positively to the sites 

 Subsidence, Drainage, Structural defects 

 Inappropriate (historic) management practices 

 Removal or alteration of habitats causing biodiversity loss 

 Use of herbicides causing changes in flora 

 Managing  perceptions  and  issues  of  neglect/dereliction  with  minimising  disturbance  to 

biodiversity 

External threats include;  

 Lack of footfall and passive surveillance  

 Potential Increased visitor footfall and access (over carrying capacity) 

 Large/tall/dense/inappropriate neighbouring development ‐ such as physical impacts (during 

construction – excavation for basements, vibrations for piling, scaffolding etc.), boundary wall 

stability, visual and  landscape character  impact of burial place’s setting,  inappropriate  light 

spill from adjacent developments 

 Vandalism and anti‐social behaviour 

 Loss of surrounding habitats and connectivity for wildlife 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



 

7 
 

 

2.0 Vision & Objectives  

 

2.1 Vision 

The strategy’s vision is to reveal the rich, often hidden, heritage of these burial places and celebrate 

the tangible and  intangible heritage  in a respectful, sustainable manner, with the aim of deepening 

civic pride and igniting interest in a wide range of heritage strands. This living heritage and should not 

be  ‘frozen  in  time’, nor developed  in  a way  that  goes  towards  ‘commodification of a  site’. As per 

contemporary best practice, any proposed physical intervention should be sensitively designed, with 

a reversible light touch. 

Any  intervention must be an asset,  facilitate an enhanced experience and not adversely  impact on 

burial site. Well‐planned site presentation should optimise the key site characteristics such as the built 

heritage, biodiversity and sense of tranquillity. Where feasible, the vision is to facilitate a continuity 

of  interment  for  the  local community,  in  their  locality,  thus continuing  the  sanctity of  these burial 

places. 

The  proposals will  comply with  the  principals  of  the  ICOMOS  Charter  for  the  Interpretation  and 

Presentation  of  Cultural  Heritage  Sites  (2008)  and  the  National  Policy  and  Guidance;  ‘Care  and 

Conservation of Graveyards’.  

 

2.2 Key Specific Objectives 

 

The key specific objectives are;  

1. To rejuvenate use of burials grounds by considering provision of Columbarium walls  

2. To celebrate local heritage by providing appropriate forms of interpretation 

3. To facilitate respectful and appropriate public access to these contemplative spaces 

4. To conserve and enhance burial grounds as reserves for biodiversity. 

5. To support local community engagement and volunteering in delivering our objectives 

6. To repair and maintain the archaeological and built heritage of burial grounds 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

8 
 

 

3.0 Conclusions and Proposed Actions 

 

3.1 Conclusion 

This document  highlights  the  importance of  a Dublin City  Burial  Places  Strategy  and  outlines  key 

actions to achieve the objectives. The bespoke site specific requirements for maintenance and further 

research are evident. As a do‐nothing scenario could result in the deterioration of these sites, loss of 

heritage  and  following  likely  increased  risk of vandalism  and  anti‐social behaviour. Unfortunately, 

(seemingly) abandoned burial place environs are more likely to be under pressure for ‘development’.  

The proposed Columbarium Wall pilot project highlights how  interment options may be once again 

provided for the local community, within their locality. In order to progress this project, the intention 

now is to submit a Part 8 application for the proposed Donnybrook Graveyard Columbarium Walls and 

then apply for the required archaeological licences. Prior to finalisation, this document was circulated 

internally to relevant consultees. 

Therefore,  it  is clear  that  the  twelve actions outlined below are  the  roadway  to  safeguarding and 

celebrating Dublin City Council’s burial places. 

 

3.2 Proposed Actions  

Burial Place’s Strategy Table of Proposed Actions 

Actions  
 

Description  Time 
line 

Output 

 
1. 
Provide 
Columbarium 
Walls ‐  
Donnybrook 
Graveyard Pilot 
Project 
 

 
 
Progress the proposals to detail design 
stage  – fabricator’s shop drawings’ 
and structural engineering design 
solution 
 

 
 
Q2 
2021 
‐ 
Q4 
2022 

 
 
‐First columbarium wall constructed 
 
‐ Clontarf graveyard is second 
priority site for the provision of 
columbarium walls 

 
2. 
Conservation of 
High Cross, St. 
Canice’s Church 
Graveyard 
Note:  Ministerial 

Consent required – input 
of City Archaeologist 
required 
 

 
 
‐Commission and implement a 
conservation management plan for St 
Canices’s Church & graveyard.  
‐Carry out a feasibility study for 
relocating the Nethercross identifying 
potential locations for its long term 
display and interpretation.  
 
‐Consult with the National Museum 
and the National Monuments Service. 
‐This site will feature in the LAP for 
Finglas. 

 
 
Q2 
2021 
‐ 
Q1 
2024 

 
 
Conservation Project to ensure the 
safeguarding of the High Cross, while 
potentially retaining a visual 
presence of a replica cross on site.  
 
Improved access to site, 
Survey and repair of church, 
memorials and boundary. 
Improve public realm environs 

Page 82



 

9 
 

 

 
3. 
Prepare 
Conservation 
Management 
Plans  
 

 
Understand the significance and 
outline a vision for the site. Reports 
will determine  management and 
maintenance of natural and built 
heritage. Priorities are; 
Prepare Conservation Management 
Plans  
and site specific plans 
St. Canices, Clontarf, Bluebell, 
St.Kevin’s and Merrion (Bellevue) sites 
 

 

 

Q2 

2021 

‐ 

ongoi

ng 

 

 

Conservation Management Plans 

published and implemented for 

each site (long term strategy) 

 

 
4. 
Devise a 
volunteer and 
community 
engagement 
programme 
 

Carry out community consultation and 
engage with local historical groups and 
other relevant groups, such as 
biodiversity volunteers.  
Raise awareness using websites  
such as www.historicgraves.com and 
other resources 
Note success of the community 
engagement model, devised by City 
Archaeologist, Parks Area Office and 
archaeological consultants, in 2012, at 
Finglas. This model to be replicated or 
modified in future 

 

 

Q2 

2021 

‐ 

Q4 
2022 

 

 

Best practice Community and 

Volunteer Engagement. 

Also undertake community 

consultation about the value of 

biodiversity and the appearance of 

valuable vegetation, which can be 

perceived as ‘untidy’ 

 

 
5. 
Heritage 
Interpretation & 
Wayfinding plans 
 

 

Parks and Landscape Services to 

commission specialist interpretation 

designers to undertake interpretation 

strategies (for built and natural 

heritage, as appropriate). 

All interpretation to be based on 

bespoke, specialist research and 

verified by heritage professionals, as 

appropriate 

 

 

Q2 
2021 
‐ 
Q4 
2022 

 
Interpretation Plan 
On site, digital and online 
interpretation, as appropriate – for 
individual sites and the burial places 
as a collective. 
 
For example, provide interpretation 
for the Jewish Cemetery, Merrion 
Road and potentially for Cabbage 
Garden and St. Catherine’s graveyard 

 
6. 
Resources 
Dedicated admin. 
Resource 
& bespoke 
technology 
 

 
Dedicated resources to manage sales 
of columbarium wall niches and 
customer relationships. 
A GIS system linked to specialist 
software and handheld devices for 
onsite record 
 

 
Q2 
2021 
‐ 
ongoi
ng 
 

 
A well‐managed, professional and 
empathic service with live digital 
database, linked to hand‐held 
devices for onsite use. Bespoke 
technology such as Plotbox would be 
beneficial;  
https://www.plotbox.io/ 
 

7. 
Baseline 
ecological 
surveys 
 

Devise methods, procure specialist 
scientific expertise and carry out initial 
baseline surveys. Collect and analyse 
data. Establish monitoring regime for 
future management 

Q2‐
Q4 
2021 

Reports completed for baseline 
ecological surveys to inform next 
actions. 
Monitoring programmes in place 
prior to any works. 

 
8. 
Management & 
Maintenance  

 
Site specific maintenance action plans 
– seasonal and annual, referring to 
updated tree surveys, biodiversity 

 
Q2 
2021 
‐

 
Maintenance to retain and enhance 
biodiversity and also safeguard the 
built heritage. 

Page 83



 

10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

surveys and conservation 
management plan. Refer to 
international best practice guidance. 
Potentially tie into the Four Year 
Landscape Maintenance Framework 

ongoi
ng 

Columbarium wall environs will also 
require specific maintenance relating 
to the guidelines on acceptable 
mementos permissible at niches  
 

 
9. 
Jewish Cemetery 
(Ballybough) 
Conservation   

 
Implementation Phase: Landscaping & 
access works to provide contemplative 
space and improve maintenance; 
refurbishment of mortuary house 
interior; interpretation display to 
graveyard. 
 

 
Q2 
2021 
‐ 
ongoi
ng 
 

 
A sustainable, secure site with visitor 
interpretation and capacity to 
facilitate visitor bookings.  A small on 
site residence for caretaker/ 
keyholder (part‐time). 

10.  Implement a 
landscape 
scheme  for St. 
James’s 
Graveyard 

Improve accessibility and presentation 
of this historic graveyard as a 
contemplative space and also 
complementing the visitor experience 
of adjacent Pearse Lyon Distillery.  
 

When 
fundi
ng 
beco
mes 
availa
ble 

Facilitate safer access to the site, 
including interpretation to enrich the 
visitor experience. 
Note that Ministerial Approval has 
been granted for these landscape 
works proposals. 

11. 
Apply for grants  

As listed in the appendix (F), there is a 
suite of grants for repair to protected 
structures and monuments. 

Q2 
2021 
‐ 
ongoi
ng 
 

Achieve (partial) grant funding for  
the implementation of 
recommendations at each site 

12.  
BPS Delivery 
Mechanism – 
Archaeology  

DCC archaeology professionals will 
have  oversight, monitoring and review 
of projects, ideally through a steering 
group and/or liaison as part of the 
design team meetings 

Q2 
2021 
‐ 
ongoi
ng 
 

To ensure high quality project 
outcomes and allows for additional 
burial places to be included in the 
strategy, once initial actions are 
achieved. 
Archaeology is an important factor in 
delivery of the BPS as most of the 
sites have national monuments and 
development plan protection 

Page 84



 

11 
 

3.3 Pilot Project ‐ Proposed Columbarium Walls  

 

A current pilot project is under design development, at Donnybrook graveyard (one of the four sites 

selected from the 2019 feasibility report). This site was selected first, due to the landscape character 

of the site. This site  is considered to have the best visual and  landscape character  ‘capacity’  for an 

initial single stand‐alone columbarium wall. In contrast, a single wall would likely not work in Bluebell 

Cemetery, as the open nature of the site would likely require a designed arrangement of several walls 

or cluster of walls, to compliment it’s landscape character. 

As the design process continues, it may be appropriate to consider additional options such as plaques 

for cremation burials, cremated ash scatterings or remembrance garden spaces. As per best practice; 

a conservation management plan and an archaeological assessment were commissioned first to better 

understand Donnybrook graveyard and consider detail design issues such as specific wall positions. 

 

                   

                   Proposed Columbarium Wall Elevation (7LArchitect’s work in progress – July 2020) 

 

The provision of Columbarium wall projects, should also allow for the facilitation of small ceremonies 

and access for the bereaved. This is a particularly sensitive requirement, in these historic deathscapes. 

This may comprise a  limited number of seating for the bereaved and space for a small gathering,  if 

feasible. There needs  to be a balance between  the private  sphere, of  visitors  in  various  stages of 

mourning and general public access. Where space allows, this could be designed as a remembrance 

garden.   It  is envisioned  that  the columbarium wall  sites or portions of  the  site would be deemed 

secular  in nature, to respectfully  facilitate and  include those of all and no religious beliefs and also 

facilitate passive amenity, if appropriate.  

 

 
 

 

Page 85





Document is Restricted

Page 87

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





Document is Restricted

Page 89

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





Document is Restricted

Page 91

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





Document is Restricted

Page 93

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





 
Planning & Property Development Department, 

Civic Offices. 
 

03/08/2021 
To:  The Chairperson and Members of  
the South East Area Committee 
 
Meeting: 13th September 2021 

Item No.  
 

 
With reference to the proposed grant of a 15 year licence for use of a premises in Bushy Park, 
Rathdown Road, Dublin 6W  
 
 

Sportsworld Running Club has occupied a premises at Bushy Park, Rathdown Road, Dublin 6W on 
successive short term licences for a number years. 
 
The most recent licence expired on 30th November 2019 and the Culture, Recreation and Economic 
Services Department has recommended that the club should now be granted a licence for a longer 
term of 15 years.   
 
The Chief Valuer has reported that agreement has now been reached with Sportsworld Running 
Club (the Licensee) on such a longer term agreement, subject to the following terms and conditions, 
which are considered to be fair and reasonable: 
 
1. That the premises comprises a detached clubhouse building. The building is outlined in red on 

the attached Map Index No. SM-2021-0133. 
 
2. That Dublin City Council shall grant a 15 (fifteen) year licence to Sportsworld Running Club, 

commencing on 1st December 2019.  
 

3. That the premises may only be used by the licensee as a non-profit making Community Running 
Club and in the event of it ceasing to be used for such purposes the licence shall be terminated. 

  
4. That the Licensee shall only use the premises between 9.00am – 10.00pm daily. 
 
5. That the Licensee shall not use or permit the premises to be used or occupied otherwise than as 

a sports facility, or for any commercial purpose or activities whatsoever, which are inconsistent 
with the normal running of a Community Running Club. 

   
6. That an abated license fee of €200 (two hundred euro) per annum shall apply. A commercial 

licence fee of €25,000 (twenty five thousand euro) plus VAT, per annum, shall be payable if the 
subject plot is used for any commercial purpose.  

 
7. That the licence fee is to be paid annually in advance. 
 
8. Dublin City Council reserves the right to allow other users access to the premises from time to 

time, following consultation with the Licensee. 

9. That the licence shall be personal to the Licensee and shall not be transferable and the Licensee 
shall not sublet, subdivide, alienate or part with possession of the subject premises.  

10. That the licence can be terminated by either party giving one month’s notice in writing. Should 
Sportsworld Running Club formally disband, their licence agreement with Dublin City Council will 
be terminated. 

11. That the Licensee will be responsible for adequately securing the premises at all times against 
entry by unauthorised persons or damage by third parties, and to maintain a safe and secure 
environment for all users of the licenced area which shall include the locking of all doors, windows 
and all other apertures located within the licenced area. If the Licensee is in the Park after Park’s 

Page 95



normal closing times they must ensure that all gates are properly closed and secured when 
leaving the Park.   

12. That the Licensee shall be responsible for all costs associated with electricity, gas, telephone 
usage, waste management, rates and water charges as well as any other charges incurred by 
the Licensee associated with the premises. 

13. That the Licensee shall be responsible for the upkeep of the building and surrounding area and, 
shall keep same in good state of repair and carry out all routine internal maintenance and minor 
repairs to the building during the period of the licence. Dublin City Council will carry out any 
external and internal structural repairs.  

14. The Licensee shall permit Dublin City Council, its servants and agents, accompanied by all 
necessary equipment, to enter the licensed area giving two weeks’ notice in writing of its intention 
(except in emergency situations) without liability to compensate the licensee for any loss, 
damage or inconvenience, and do all acts necessary for the purpose of carrying out such works 
to the premises which the Council may think fit and on demand forthwith to remove all such 
articles out of the premises as may be indicated by the Council as requiring removal in order to 
enable such works to be more conveniently carried out. 

15. The Licensee shall not exhibit any signs, boards, placards, posters or advertising matter or any 
flags or banners on or outside the premises without first obtaining the written consent of Dublin 
City Council. 

16. The Licensee shall agree not to do, or allow to be done, or permit any act or thing which is or is 
likely to be or become a nuisance, danger or source of annoyance, inconvenience or disturbance 
to Dublin City Council or the occupiers of neighbouring premises or the public at large. 

17. The Park Ranger at his discretion shall determinate whether any activity by the Licensee in Bushy 
Park constitutes a nuisance or danger to other park users and to advise them to desist from 
continuing with this activity. In this regard, the Licensee shall ensure its members do not engage 
in jogging or speed walking on the Park footpaths.  

18. That the Licensee at all times shall not permit or allow the sale, consumption or use of alcohol or 
drugs of any kind in any part of the building. The licenced area shall be a smoke free zone at all 
times. 

19. That the Licensee shall not remove or permit the removal of any fixtures and fittings not supplied 
by them. 

20. That the Licensee shall satisfy the Council that it has adequate public liability and employer’s 
liability (if any) insurance and shall indemnify the City Council against any claims for 
compensation that may be made arising from its usage of the site. The current levels of insurance 
are €6.5m public liability insurance and €13m employer’s liability insurance. 

21. That Dublin City Council shall insure the premises and the Licensee shall insure their own 
contents.  

22. That the Licensee shall not make any changes to the structure without obtaining written consent 
to the Council. 

23. That on termination of the licence, the Licensee shall at its own expense remove all materials 
not belonging to Dublin City Council and shall leave the premises clean and cleared to the 
satisfaction of the City Council. 

24. That the Licensee shall sign a Deed of Renunciation.   

The agreement shall contain such other covenants and conditions as deemed appropriate by Dublin 
City Council’s Law Agent.   

No agreement enforceable at law is created or intended to be created until exchange of contracts 
has taken place. 
 
Paul Clegg       06/08/2021 
    
__________________________    ___________ 
Executive Manager      Date 

Page 96



Page 97





                          Planning and Property Development Department                                              
Civic Offices 

 
                                         02/07/2021 

To the Chairperson and Members of 

the South East Area Committee 
 
Meeting:  13/09/2021 
 
Item No: 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
With reference to the proposed disposal of fee simple interest in lands at Berth 47A, adjacent 
to Pigeon House Road, north of the Ringsend Waste Water Treatment Works, Dublin 4. 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Dublin Port Company (DPC), received planning permission in August 2019 (Planning Reference 
3711/18 refers) for the development of lands at Berth 47A, adjacent to Pigeon House Road, north of 
the Ringsend Waste Water Treatment Works, Dublin 4. The development includes the construction of 
a single-lane bridge to span the existing cooling water outfall channel serving the Energy from Waste 
facility and will enable access to Berth 47A for the storage of port-related materials.  
 
To facilitate construction of the bridge, agreement has now been reached with DPC for the disposal 
of fee simple interest in lands at Berth 47A subject to the following terms and conditions which the 
Chief Valuer considers to be fair and reasonable: 
 
1. That Dublin City Council shall be prepared to dispose of its interest in the subject plot in 

consideration of the sum of €150,000 (One hundred and fifty thousand euro) plus VAT (if 
applicable). 

 
2. That the subject plot is as shown outlined in red on the attached Map Index No. SM-2020-0319 

Rev D and extends to an area of 467 sq.m. 
 

3. The lands shall be disposed subject to a wayleave to the Council shown shaded yellow on the 
attached map Index No. SM-2020-0319 Rev D. 

 
4. That as the cooling water channel is critical infrastructure for the operation of the Energy from 

Waste facility and cannot operate without it, all drawings related to the construction and operation 
of the bridge will be submitted in advance for approval by Dublin City Council. 

 
5. That each party shall be responsible for its own fees in this matter. 

 
6. That the Applicant shall construct appropriate boundary walls around the plots.  The Council is 

agreeable to DPC replacing the fence (where removed) with a similar fence to that currently 
existing at the boundary with the water treatment area. 
 

7. That no agreement enforceable at law is created or intended to be created until exchange of 
contracts has taken place. 

 
 
No agreement enforceable at law is created or intended to be created until an exchange of contracts 
has taken place. 
 
Paul Clegg     03/08/2021 
___________________    _________________  
Executive Manager    Date  
  

Page 99





Page 101





                           
Development Department 
Civic Offices 
 
         20th July 2021 
     
To:  The Chairman and Members of  
the South-East Area Committee 
 
Meeting: 13th September 2021 
 
Item No. 
 

 
With reference to the proposed Surrender and Grant of New Lease of Retail Unit 
at Drury Street & Stephen Street Lower , Dublin 2 to Deenish Restaurants 
Limited, T/A Masa 

 
Under Indenture of Lease dated the 26th August 2015 a retail unit at the corner of Drury 
Street & Stephen Street Lower, Dublin 2 as shown outlined on Map Index No. 
SM2021-0546-002, was demised by Dublin City Council to Super Miss Sue Limited 
for a term of 10 years from the 31st December 2013 subject to five yearly rent reviews.   
By assignment dated 22nd February 2018 the current lessee is Deenish Restaurants 
Limited.  
 
Deenish Restaurant Limited through their solicitor Shiels and Co have requested to 
surrender the current lease and the grant of a new ten year lease. Dublin City Council 
has agreed to this request subject to the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. That Under Indenture of Lease, the subject property, comprising a ground 
floor unit of 116.5sq.m, was demised to Super Miss Sue, for a term of 10 years 
from the 31st December 2013. 
 
The subject lease was assigned to Deenish Limited on the 22nd February 
2018.  

 
2. That the Council will be prepared to grant rent relief/a rent free period of 6 

months in 2021, due to the impact of Covid- 19. 
 

3. That the above lessee will surrender their interest in the property as described 
at No.1 above. 

  
4. That upon surrender and the payment of any outstanding arrears (less the 

relief described at No.2 above), the Council will be prepared to grant a new 
10 year lease. 

 
5. That the lease shall be subject to a rent of €47,500 (forty seven thousand 

five hundred euro) per annum, plus V.A.T, exclusive of outgoings, payable 
quarterly in advance by electrical transfer. 

 
6. That the Council shall grant the applicant a further rent free period of 3 months, 

upon the completion of the below specified works and the submission of 
invoices in excess of €100,000(one hundred thousand euro).  

 
a.  Repolishing concrete floors  
b.  Upgrade extraction system 
c.  Repair tiling on shopfront 

Page 103



d.  Upgrade toilet facilities 
 

7. That the applicant shall be liable for all rates, taxes, charges and outgoings 
including water and electricity relating to the demised premises. 

 
8. That the above rent will be subject to review at  the end of year five to the 

Open Market Rental Value. 
 

9. That the lessee will be required to sign a Deed of Renunciation.  
 

10. That the lessee shall be permitted to use the premises as a restaurant only.   
 

11. That the structure is insured in the Councils insurance for the overall carpark, 
the costs of which shall be reimbursed to the Council by the lessees. 

 
12. That the lessee will be responsible for insuring the internal fit out of the 

premises including fixtures and fittings. 
 

13. That the Lessee shall take out and produce to Dublin City Council, Public 
Liability Insurance in the sum of €6,500,000 (six million, five hundred thousand 
euro) and Employers Liability Insurance in the sum of €13,000,000 (thirteen 
million euro), for any incident with a recognised Insurance Company with 
offices in the State, and the policy shall indemnify the Council against all 
liability as owner of the property.   

 

14. That the lessee shall not sublet or assign the lease or part thereof without 
receiving the prior consent in writing of Dublin City Council, which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. 

 
15. That the Lessee shall not make any material changes to the property without 

the landlord’s written consent. 
 

16. That the lessee will keep the property and its environs in a clean and tidy 
manner and comply with all present and future waste management and litter 
pollution legislation.  

 
17. That the lessee shall not erect any signage on the external walls of the building 

without receiving the prior consent of the Council and full planning permission 
for same. 

 
18. That the lessee shall meet each and every requirement of the City Council’s 

Fire Officer and any Health and Safety Officer appointed by the Council, at all 
times.  Failure to comply with this condition shall be a ground for forfeiture of 
the lease. 

 
19. That prior or at the termination of the lease the lessee shall, at its own 

expense, remove all materials not belonging to the Council and shall leave the 
demised area in a clean and tidy condition to the satisfaction of the Council 
and to bear cost (if any) incurred by the Council in making good any damage 
caused. 

 
20. That each party shall be responsible for their own fees in this matter. 

 
21. That the lease shall contain standard terms and conditions contained in a 

commercial lease agreement and as required by the Council Law Agent.  
 

22. That the above proposal is subject to the necessary approvals and consents 
being obtained.  

 

Page 104



Paul Clegg___________ 
EXECUTIVE MANAGER    
 

Page 105





Page 107





 

 

                          Planning and Property Development Department                                              
Civic Offices 

 
                                         17/08/2021 

To the Chairperson and Members of 
the South East Committee 
 
Meeting:  13th September 2021 
 

 
With reference to the proposed grant of a lease of 133 Upper Rathmines Road to HAIL Housing 
Association. 
 

 

As part of National Housing Policy, Dublin City Council is required to establish a Housing and Disability 
Steering Group.  The task of this group is to implement the National Housing Strategy for People with 
a Disability (NHSPWD) at local level including the preparation of strategic plans for this purpose.  The 
overall objective of the Strategic Plans is to facilitate easier access for people with a disability to a 
wide range of housing appropriate to their needs and in doing so, assisting people to live 
independently with the appropriate services and service provider to enhance their quality of life.    

A key component of the Strategy, is the implementation of a property transfer project. This would allow 
properties owned by a Local Authority but, currently managed by an Approved Housing Body (AHB) 
and occupied by persons with a long term mental health issue, to transfer to the AHB in order to 
provide residents housed in these units with security around their tenancy.  The aim of the project is 
to lease the property to HAIL Housing an Approved Housing Body, who will provide tenancy 
sustainment support to the tenants who have enduring mental health difficulties. The support HAIL 
provides moves the tenants away from a more institutional environment to independence with 
structured support.  
 
Dublin City Council in line with the Strategy, propose to grant a lease of a 4 bed shared independent 
living property at 133 Upper Rathmines Road, Dublin 6 to HAIL Housing Association who currently 
manage the tenancy of this property.  In granting the lease, the following should be noted: 
 
1. Approved Housing Bodies are not for profit bodies that provide and manage social housing. 
 
2. Approved Housing Bodies are subject to a number of regulatory regimes, including the Companies 

office, the Charity Regulator, the Housing Regulator and are accountable to their stakeholders.  In 
this regard, a Regulation Office was established within the Housing Agency in 2014 with 
responsibility for regulating Approved Housing Bodies.   The Regulation Office oversees the 
assessment of Approved Housing Bodies in respect of their financial viability, governance and 
management along with the compliance with the Regulatory Framework.  The majority of 
Approved Housing Bodies are Companies Limited by Guarantee and are required to comply with 
legal obligations set out in the Companies Acts, 2014 making their annual accounts freely available 
for public inspection.   

 
3. In additional to being registered charities, they are regulated by the Charities Regulator and details 

of an AHB’s activities are available for inspection on the Charities Regulator’s public register. 
 
4. They are not free to manage their assets in any way they wish.  They must use their assets in 

accordance with their charitable status and any surpluses generated must be applied back to 
benefit their charitable aims. 

 
5. A restriction on title will be applied to ensure the continued use of the units as social housing. 
 

Page 109



 

 

6. There are financial implications if they fail to comply with their loan obligations to use their 
properties for social housing. 

 
7. Should they cease to exist, in the first instance, they will seek to transfer their assets to another 

organisation with similar charitable aims or their assets will be transferred free of charge to Dublin 
City Council. 

 
The Housing Department has reported that agreement has now been reached with HAIL Housing 
Association (the Lessee) subject to the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. The subject property at 133 Upper Rathmines Road, Dublin 6, is shown outlined in red on the 
attached map Index No. SM-2020-0434. 

2. The lease shall have a term of 31 years and be disposed of under the terms of the mental 
health property transfer scheme. 

3. The subject property will be disposed in its current condition, any refurbishment works 
required to the property, will be the responsibility of the Approved Housing Body, after 
completion of disposal.  

4. The consideration shall be the sum of €200 plus VAT (if applicable).  

5. The proposed Lessee shall satisfy the Council that it has adequate public liability and 
employer’s liability insurance and shall indemnify the Council against any claims for 
compensation that may be made arising from its usage of the site. The current levels of 
insurance are €6.5 million public liability insurance and €13 million employer’s liability 
insurance. 
 

6. There is an inhibition on the title that the subject property can only be used for social housing 
purposes. 

 
7. The Council shall have 100% nomination rights to all future nominations in partnership with 

HAIL.  All current and future residents will be eligible for social housing. 

8. Should the subject property cease to be used for social housing purposes at any stage, then 
the property will revert free of charge to Dublin City Council. 

9. The Approved Housing Body shall be liable for the payment of VAT and/or Stamp Duty should 
any such payments arise from this lease. 

10. Each party shall be responsible for their own legal fees and professional fees.  

11. The Approved Housing Body shall not assign, sublet or part with possession of the property 
or part thereof without obtaining the written consent of the City Council, with the exception of 
tenancy and licence agreements with tenants or licensees for supported housing. 

 
The agreement shall contain such other covenants and conditions as deemed appropriate by Dublin 
City Council’s Law Agent.   
 
No agreement enforceable at law is created or intended to be created until an exchange of contracts 
has taken place. 
 
Paul Clegg     17/08/2021 
___________________    _________________  
Executive Manager    Date  
  

Page 110



OSi data :       Ordnance Survey Ireland. All rights reserved. Licence Number 2020 /23/CCMA/ Dublin City Council

O.S REF SCALE

DATE SURVEYED 
PRODUCED BY

FILE NO

SURVEY, MAPPING AND RELATED RESEARCH APPROVED

APPROVED

THOMAS CURRAN

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL

c

INDEX No.
THIS MAP IS CERTIFIED TO BE COMPUTER GENERATED BY

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY DIGITAL MAPBASE

ACTING MANAGER LAND SURVEYING & MAPPING

Environment and Transportation Department

Survey and Mapping Division

An Roinn Comhshaoil agus Iompair

Rannán Suirbhéireachta agus LéarscáilitheComhairle Cathrach

Bhaile Átha Cliath

Dublin City Council

CITY ENGINEER

Dr JOHN W. FLANAGAN
CEng FIEI FICE

INDEX No
  No
DWG REV

1:1000

D.White10-12-2020

RATHMINES ROAD UPPER - No.133

Dublin City Council to Hail Housing

3268-10 F:\SM-2020-0434- 001 - A.dgn

SM-2020-0434

Grant of Lease

E
: 7

1
5

6
6

5
.8

6
5

N: 731070.516

N: 730926.548

E
: 

7
1

5
4

7
8

.7
7

5

R
A

T
H

M
IN

E
S

R
O

A
D

U
P

P
E

R

R
a
th

m
in
e
s
 C
lo
s
e

LA
N
E

13

21

7

17

1

149

18

143

147

4

127

16

133

1

12

127A

145

22

7

129

170

131

125

6

123

115

155

7

2

4

176 4

135

1

1

125A

27

MAXW
ELL

Page 111





 
Property Development Department, 

Civic Offices. 
 

17th August 2021 
 
To: The Chairman and Members of the 
South East Area Committee 
 

With reference to the proposed disposal of a lease for the former Fire Station, 190A Rathmines 
Road Lower, Dublin 6. 

The former Fire Station at 190A Rathmines Road Lower, Rathmines, Dublin 6 is a Protected Structure (RPS 
8757) in the ownership of Dublin City Council.  It is occupied by Ciara Scanlon and Matthew Nevin T/A MART 
since July 2012 under various licence agreements and is used as an Artist’s Gallery and Events Space.  The 
latest licence dated 19th May 2016 granted the use of the premises for a further 3 years for €5200.00 (plus 
VAT) per annum and expired on 31st March 2019. MART have continued in occupation with the agreement 
of the Council whilst negotiations for a new longer term agreement were ongoing.  
 
Accordingly, it is proposed to grant a new 10 year lease to MART Gallery & Studios DAC (the new name 
for MART) subject to the following terms and conditions:  
 

1. That the lessee shall enter into a lease agreement with Dublin City Council for the use of the 
property known as the Former Fire Station, 190A Rathmines Road Lower, Rathmines, Dublin 6, 
as shown outlined in red on the attached copy map ref: SM-2021-0348.  
 

2. That the lease shall be for a term of 10 years, to commence on a date to be agreed, following 
receipt of statutory approval. 
 

3. That the rent shall be €40,000 (forty thousand euro) per annum, plus VAT if applicable.  
 

4. That the said rent shall be abated to €6,000 (six thousand euro) per annum, plus VAT if applicable, 
provided the premises continues to be used solely for the purposes of office space, art gallery, 
studios, workshop and associated retail use only and for no other purpose.    
 

5. That there shall be a rent review of the market rent and abated rent at the end of year 5. The 
abated rent will upon review bear the same relationship to the commercial rent as the initial abated 
rent of €6,000 bears to the initial commercial rent of €40,000.  
 

6. That the lessee will enter into a structured repayment plan for 50% of the costs incurred by the 
council to remediate the building to current fire safety, health and disability access standards, up 
to a maximum contribution of €150,000. Invoices and payments shall be issued in line with those 
issued for rent. Final cost to be realised prior to the commencement of the lease. 
 

7. That the rent shall be paid quarterly in advance. 
 

8. That the lessee must sign a Deed of Renunciation prior to the signing of contracts.   
 

9. That the lessee shall keep the subject property in good condition and shall in no way interfere with 
its architectural integrity.  
 

10. That the lessee shall ensure that the appropriate Health and Safety legislation is adhered to. The 
lessee shall comply with Building and Fire Regulations associated therein. 
 

11. That the lessee shall obtain Public Liability Insurance indemnifying Dublin City Council in the sum 
of €6,500,000 (six million, five hundred thousand euro) and Employers Liability Insurance 
indemnifying Dublin City Council in the sum of €13,000,000 (thirteen million euro) against any and 

Page 113



all claims arising from its use of the premises and surrounding area/curtilage, and shall provide 
proof of such insurances to Dublin City Council.  
 

12. That the lessee shall be responsible for all outgoings – rates (if applicable), building insurance for 
the full reinstatement of the property, the ongoing maintenance of the property internally and 
externally including windows and doors, and pay the annual premium directly to the insurance 
company and provide proof of such insurances to Dublin City Council, utility bills and any other 
outgoings, statutory or otherwise, for the duration of the term of the lease from the date of 
commencement. The Council shall maintain responsibility for the structure of the property. 
 

13. That the lessee must seek consent of the Council before undertaking any works, alterations or 
development of the property, including the erecting of any structure, making any excavation or 
submitting an application for planning permission. This is to protect the Council’s position as lessor 
and in consideration of good estate management. 
 

14. That the lessee must comply at all times with issued Fire Safety Certification, Disability Access 
Certification and any other building controls. 
 

15. That the Council shall have a break option at the end of year 5 without penalty, which may be 
implemented by giving three months written notice period.  
 

16. That the lease can be terminated by either party giving three months’ notice in writing.  
 

17. That the lessee shall not sell, assign, grant any sub interests, (with the exception of licence 
agreements) sub-divide, alienate or part with the possession of the subject property, without the 
prior written consent of the Council. 
 

18. That in the event of the lessee failing to comply with any of the terms, conditions, warranties, 
covenants or the obligations and stipulations herein contained or becoming dissolved or going into 
liquidation, the Council may revoke this Agreement by giving the lessee notice in writing to that 
effect or unless otherwise stated in such Notice, this agreement shall cease immediately upon 
such Notice having been given.  
 

19. That on the expiration or sooner determination of the lease, the lessee shall at their own expense 
remove all materials not belonging to Dublin City Council (if the Council so require it) and shall 
leave the property clean and cleared to the satisfaction of the City Council. 
 

20. That each party shall be responsible for their own professional fees in this matter. 
 

21. That the Lease shall contain such other terms and conditions as contained in Leases of this type 
and as are deemed appropriate by the by the Council’s Law Agent. 
 

 
P. Clegg         Date  17th August 2021  
Executive Manager 

Page 114



Page 115





Document is Restricted

Page 117

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





Document is Restricted

Page 119

Access to this report has been restricted to Members of this Committee only due to General Data Protection Regulations





Housing, Community & Emergency Services Department 
South East Area Office 

 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the  
South East Area Committee 
 

 
Report of the Director of Services, South City 

 

 
Grand Canal  
A meeting was held in January 2020 with Waterways Ireland representatives and Councillors 
to discuss ongoing management and maintenance of the canals in the city and to agree a new 
structure for quarterly interaction between Waterways Ireland and DCC. The latest quarterly 
meeting was held on 25th May 2021 via Microsoft Teams and the next meeting is due to be 
held in September 2021. 
 
Portobello Harbour Square 
A meeting took place on the 28th January with SEA Councillors to discuss the proposed public 
consultation for Portobello Plaza. A meeting was held with City Architects, Roads, Planning 
and Public Realm to discuss how we might proceed. The architects for the hotel have now 
confirmed that they plan to commence development in September 2021. A meeting was held 
in early September 2021 with City Architects and hotel contractor and other internal 
departments to discuss arrangements for managing the build and the renovation of the square. 
A further meeting will be arranged with Councillors soon afterwards to set out in some detail 
how the initial phase of public consultation will proceed. 
 
A meeting has taken place in the last few days with the developers of the proposed Hotel 
beside Portobello Plaza and this meeting will assist us in preparing for a public consultation 
on the future of the plaza.  
 
Rathgar Village Improvement Plan (VIP) 
Herzog Park, Rathgar – Final Phase  
The Rathgar Village Improvement Plan (VIP) was approved by the South East Area 
Committee in January 2015. One of the main objectives that emerged during the formation of 
the plan was the redevelopment of Herzog Park. The South East Area Office undertook local 
consultation and worked with Redscape and Park Services to create a plan which was brought 
to Part 8 and approved at the January 2017 meeting of the City Council. The final phase of 
the works planned for 2021 include the re-alignment of the front boundary of the park and the 
revised car park layout, as set out in the Part 8 permission. It was proposed that the tender for 
the car park works would issue by end of Q1 2021, but this has been delayed due to resourcing 
issues in Road Construction section. Boundary treatment and further landscaping inside the 
park will be required as part of the works to finish the project in 2021. 
 
Ranelagh Gardens Park  
Works to light / enhance the main entrance archway were completed in February 2021. 
Renewal of display boards at entrances to the park will be carried out in conjunction with Park 
Services in 2021 using Discretionary Funds.  
 
Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP)  
The Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP) was adopted at the June 
2017 South East Area Committee meeting. Following that it was proposed to prepare planning 

Page 121



applications under Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001, for the 
redesign of (1) Library Square and (2) Cambridge Road. 
 
*Both of these projects are now listed on the Capital Programme 2021 – 2023 and have been 
awarded funding from the Urban Regeneration and Development Fund (URDF). 
 
Library Square: (Mitchell & Associates) Meetings with internal stakeholders were held during 
September and October 2018. A meeting was held with local businesses to discuss parking / 
loading arrangements on 5th December 2018. A presentation was made to area councillors 
on 13th February 2019 and a preliminary draft design was brought to a public meeting for all 
stakeholders on Thursday 21st March 2019 in the Ringsend Irishtown Community Centre 
(RICC). Following a period of consultation up to 19th April 2019, submissions were received 
and were reviewed by the project team. A revised design was brought before the Public Realm 
Working Group on 22nd October 2019. A meeting of all internal stakeholders was held on 28th 
November 2019 and further meetings were required with key departments. Due to resourcing 
issues Roads Design and Construction Section cannot oversee completion of project to Part 
8 stage. An invitation to tender for additional services to bring the project to Part 8 was issued 
to consultants on 30th July 2021. The closing date for submissions is 17th September 2021. 
We hope to appoint consultants by October and Part 8 should be ready to lodge by end of Q1 
2022. Councillors will be briefed before we commence the formal Part 8 process.  
 
Cambridge Road: An initial public workshop in relation to Cambridge Road was held on 
Thursday 30th August 2018 in the RICC. Meetings with Redscape Architects and internal 
stakeholders took place in September and October and designs were drafted based on 
consultations which were brought to a second public workshop/meeting on 28th November 
2018. Pre Part 8 report and drawings issued in December 2018 did not meet the requirements 
of E & T Department, however. Further information was required in relation to road design and 
drainage requirements for the proposal in particular. In 2019 Road Design & Construction 
Section, E & T Department, agreed to take on the completion of the project to Part 8 stage. 
Detailed meetings took place between Roads Design & Construction and internal departments 
with a view to agreeing an overall design before commencing Part 8 planning process. Parks 
Services Department has requested that a Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) survey be carried 
out prior to Part 8 to identify location of underground services and any impact on tree planting. 
Drainage Department welcomes the provision of additional greening providing a SuDS benefit 
and a proposed new surface water main is being considered in conjunction with Irish Water. 
Agreement of the final design for the road has been delayed as we wait for the NTA to finalise 
the route for the East Coast Trail (ECT) which will either traverse Cambridge Road or run 
along part of Cambridge Road from Canon Mooney Gardens to Thorncastle Street. Work on 
preparation of tender for GPR survey and preliminary design of new surface water main will 
continue as we await final decision on ECT route from NTA. Due to resource constraints in E 
& T Department it is likely we will have to go out to tender to appoint a consultant to bring this 
project to Part 8 planning application stage. It will be necessary also to bring new design back 
to local community prior to lodgement of the Part 8. 
 
Sandymount Green Outdoor Dining Trial 
The Sandymount Green Outdoor Dining Trial took place during the months of July and August 
and has now finished. The Area Office facilitated discussion with a range of stakeholders both 
for and against during the duration of the trial. We also arranged for music at Sandymount 
Green each Sunday afternoon. There will be a review of the outdoor dining trial however 
details of that review are not finalised as yet. 
 
Cabbage Garden & Cathedral Lane 
The refurbishment of the football pitch is now complete and discussions are underway with 
Iveagh Celtic Football Club and other stakeholders to maximise the use of the new pitch by 
the local community. 

Page 122



We are also working on a proposed mural for Cathedral Lane and we have had discussions 
with local residents and will meet them again shortly regarding this matter. Other matters being 
examined will be the installation of gym equipment in the Cabbage Garden and the proposed 
resurfacing of Cathedral Lane. We are also hoping that with the relaxation of Covid restrictions 
that we can again arrange events for the Cabbage Garden similar to what we had in 2019. 
 
Rosary Hall 
After receiving extra funding of €240k which was approved at the April City Council meeting 
(as well as €125,000 already allocated) it has been decided to retender the entire proposed 
works.  Meetings took place with both main community groups and consultant architects in 
early May to outline the proposed works, which include mechanical & electrical works, fire 
safety works, remedial works and lift replacement. Tender documentation regarding the full 
works is currently being prepared by consultant architects. 
The Area Manager is also engaging in meetings with both community groups regarding 
refurbishment and governance of the facility and a draft management plan for the running of 
the facility is being progressed. 
A further meeting with both community groups took place on June 2th to review new drawings. 
Revisions have been made to drawings in line with reasonable requests and have been 
forwarded to the groups. A further meeting took place on July 7th and the drawings have been 
agreed. 
The management proposal pertaining to the utilisation of the facility and of the upper floor in 
particular, is being finalised with the assistance of the Development Section.  A management 
committee comprising of two members of the football club and two members of the HXVCC 
and the Area Manager will be established to optimise the use of the facility for the benefit of 
the community. 
 
Age Friendly Initiative Harold’s Cross 
The inaugural meeting of the Age Friendly Committee took place on January 28th 2020 and 
was well attended. A draft report was submitted by the Harold’s Cross Village Community 
Council (HCVCC) in conjunction with Rob Chester, Area Community Officer and it was agreed 
to progress a number of these proposals funding permitting. In tandem, it is proposed to hold 
a workshop to further engage with the residents and ensure particularly any elderly resident 
who was not consulted has an opportunity to contribute to the process and be included.  
With ongoing restrictions, which will be reviewed at the October meeting, the facilitation of a 
workshop to get the views of the wider community remains deferred until guidelines permit.  A 
subgroup under the Housing SPC has been convened to look at the City-wide Age Friendly 
Strategy. Under this structure, submissions for funding may be advanced, including the 
Harold’s Cross project. 
 
A defibrillator has been installed in Harold’s Cross as part of the Age Friendly Initiatives. 
The committee recently congratulated the HX Grow Hub for winning a City Neighbourhood 
Award and the group continues to grow in numbers.  It has been agreed by the elected 
members that further monies (€7.500) will be allocated to this age friendly initiative in the 
Discretionary funding for 2021. 
8 IT age friendly tablets have been distributed to residents and have been very well received. 
Cliff Run Media has supplied over 1000 units to established age friendly projects across the 
country.  A tablet comes with one year’s free WIFI and the scheme is dignity proofed to make 
access as easy as possible.  Funding of €2,000 from the HX Age Friendly project, €1,000 from 
the central age friendly fund, and a final €1,000 from our community budget was utilised to 
finance this initiative.  A list of recipients was prepared in conjunction with HXVCC. 
 
It is anticipated that when the works are completed on Rosary that it can play a pivotal role in 
age friendly activities going forward. 
 

Page 123



Further meetings took place on May 26th and July 22nd when a presentation by Eimear 
McCormack, DCC Healthy Age Friendly Homes Coordinator) took place.  Eimear outlined that 
the programme will be evaluated and monitored by a research team in NUI Maynooth. 
 
The committee also decided to advance a further round of tablets for residents.  The next 
meeting is scheduled for October 
 
Rutland Grove/ Eamonn Ceannt Park 
Meeting took place on 30th January 2020 with traffic engineers, Les Moore from Parks, Area 
Manager and staff and Cllr. Pat Dunne.  It was agreed at the meeting that Traffic Section would 
look again at the feasibility of putting dedicated parking as per Part 8.  Should it be possible 
to implement, the design would need to progressed and costed. 
Leslie Moore has indicated with response to a July motion that he will engage a consultant to 
review this issue regarding the Part 8 parking.  As an interim measure, planters were installed 
at the entrance to Rutland Grove to enhance the environment and assist with ongoing Illegal 
parking at the entrance.  Regrettably a number of these have been vandalised and a solution 
is being sought in conjunction with the resident’s association  
 
A meeting took place between the Area Manager, the Parks Section and the secretary of the 
residents’ association on Friday 26th March to initiate discussions around the best utilisation 
of the co funded €20,000 for the improvement works and discussions are ongoing. 
 
The presentation of the proposed works at the Parks Depot upgrade took place on May 13th.   
The consultant outlined the plans to councillors and community groups and welcomed input 
into finalising the design.  A further meeting took place on June 29th to update the councillors 
and community groups on modifications to the drawings after Parks Section met with the 
residents’ group on June 17th.  
It has been agreed that laminated drawings outlining the proposed upgrade of the depot will 
be erected on the depot walls to facilitate a better understanding of the proposals. 
 
St. Pancras, Mount Tallant 
The complex is now complete and all tenants have moved in. 
 
Choice Based Lettings  
A number of units in Rathmines Avenue have been recently allocated. Further units will be 
advertised in Rathmines Avenue and Lissadel Court complexes in the coming weeks.  
 
CCTV Benbulben Road 
Following on from the provision of Discretionary Funding for the installation of CCTV at 
Benbulben Road, we continue to try to progress the matter.  Adhering to advice from DCC’s 
Data Protection Office, a letter was sent to the Garda Commissioner’s Office on the 11th 
March 2021.  This letter requested written authorisation from the Garda Commissioner for 
Dublin City Council to install CCTV at the location, which is a public area and not within the 
bounds of a Dublin City Council complex. The current DCC code of practice for installation of 
CCTV in public places requires such authorisation from the Garda Commissioner. The Office 
of the Commissioner replied on the 11th May and submitted a number of documents, including 
An Garda Siochána’s Code of Practice for Community Based CCTV Systems. The documents 
submitted are at variance with DCC’s code of practice for CCTV in public places and do not 
seem to take into account that DCC are installing the CCTV rather than a community based 
organisation. Discussions took place with local based senior Gardaí in order to try and 
reconcile the differing positions, but following further advice from our Data Protection Office, 
further clarity is required from An Garda Siochána. We are currently awaiting further 
information from An Garda Siochána in relation to advancing this project without the necessity 
to go down the route of a Community Based CCTV Scheme. Designating this CCTV Project 
a Community Based CCTV Scheme would impose greater responsibility on the local 

Page 124



community in relation to their role in consultation, installation, maintenance and management 
of the CCTV system. It would also have the potential to increase costs for the project. Given 
that this camera will be placed in a highly trafficked and utilised area, which contains shops 
and services, there is significant potential for queries to be raised from a Data Protection 
perspective. It is therefore essential that there is full clarity and comprehension of the 
requirements to meet DCC’s obligations under Data Protection legislation before we can move 
forward with this project.  
 
Allotments 
In what have been very challenging times, our allotments at Blarney Park, Herbert Park and 
Ringsend Park continue to deliver fresh food and company as well as mental and physical 
health benefits to our plot holders. Our Community Team has recently supported the purchase 
of a new Solar Pump at the Allotments in Blarney Park to supply the plots and community 
garden with water from the Poddle River. We are currently planning an ‘open day’ to be held 
there in September where we will invite the wider community to visit the site to see the 
incredible work being carried out by the volunteers. An inspection of Ringsend Park Allotments 
is due to take place during the first week of September with a view to carrying out maintenance 
and improvement works thereafter. 
 
Bushy Park Market 
The Community Team supported the provision of some entertainment on a trial basis at the 
weekly Market (Magician and Stilt Walker) in August. The entertainment was well received 
and no issues were highlighted. 
 
Canon Money Gardens Family Day 
Support is being provided to this Back to School event at Canon Mooney Gardens in 
Ringsend, organised by the local residents’ association and due to take place on Saturday, 
18th September from 2pm. 
 
Cashel Road Residents 
We are supporting the BRU Crumlin Youth Project to initiate a project targeting young families 
with children on Cashel Road. A pilot Sports Day will take place on the green space on the 1st 
of September, where we hope to meet potential members of a new parent and child group 
who will be invited to meet the Community Team and members of BRU Crumlin. 
 
Cherryfield Avenue Family Fiesta 
Cherryfield Avenue Upper Residents’ Association in Ranelagh will be hosting a small family 
get-together for local residents on the street on Saturday, 28th August from late afternoon with 
music, food, refreshments and much chat on offer.  A surprise appearance from Mr. Whippy 
has been arranged for local children.  
 
Community Music Programme 
The South East Area’s Community Development Team organised over 40 Garden Gigs at 
sheltered housing schemes, care homes and mental health service centres during the month 
of July in conjunction with Housing Liaison Officers and local communities.  As well as reliving 
memories and music from yesteryear, residents were able to enjoy refreshments and a good 
catch up, with the more adventurous also taking to the green and gravelled 
“dancefloors”.  These events all took place against a backdrop of floral displays and glorious 
colour, which showcased the huge efforts of local residents who take such pride in their 
gardens and communal areas.  This programme wound down during August with such events 
only taking place at selected venues such as Greenore Rostrevor Sheltered Housing Scheme 
(off Macken Street) and Orwell Queen of the Peace (Rathgar) where summer activity 
programmes commenced later than at other venues.  Our musicians also performed to forty 
older, isolated persons on a ‘one on one’ basis, in their front gardens.  An end of summer 
Garden Party is scheduled for Verschoyle Court for the afternoon of 14th September. 

Page 125



 
Community Meals & Care Packs 
We are continuing to support the valuable Covid-19 Response Meals Services and Care 
Packages which are delivered to vulnerable residents over bank holiday periods.  Ranelagh 
Community Response, St. Andrew’s Resource Centre and Ringsend & Irishtown Community 
Centre are all involved in this service.  We also support the Iveagh Trust on Kevin Street with 
their food hampers which the residents committee put together every 1-2 weeks for local 
people in need.   
 
Covid-19 Community Response 
We are still receiving referrals from vulnerable residents looking for low level assistance 
including grocery collection, delivery of medical prescriptions and other items. Local 
community groups continue to support the response with the provision of volunteers. 
 
Crumlin Community Crèche Wall 
Following full engagement with the local community by volunteers from the Crumlin 
Community Clean-Up Group a design for a mural on the crèche wall has been agreed. The 
art work is based on “Colour Therapy which is inspired by paper tearing and the therapeutic 
use of colour”. The blue colours are similar to Crumlin United / Crumlin GAA and the work will 
be completed by artists from Subset.  
 
Environmental Projects 
We have supported over 80 projects in the South East Area so far this year through the 
provision of flowers/shrubs, tools, gardening advice, top soil, compost and planter boxes. 
Many of our villages and flat complexes have never looked better and it’s an absolute credit 
to those who have been out there planting, painting, cleaning etc. and taking such pride in 
their complexes and streets.  “New” environmental groups we are now linking in with include 
those at New York Street Flats, Oxford Grove, Elmwood Avenue, Markievicz House and 
Conway Court. 
 
Evergreen Club 
A new management committee has been elected to oversee the running of the club and its 
activities. We provided a truck to clear the premises of old material which was beyond 
serviceable use or out of date, and the facility will be painted and some upgrade work 
supported, to assist with a potential re-opening at the end of September. A number of new 
groups and activities have requested usage of the premises, including the HSE based in the 
Health Centre next door. 
 
George Reynolds House Family Day 
Support is being provided to this event which is organised by the local residents’ association 
and due to take place on Sunday, 12th September from 2pm.  Various family fun activities will 
be taking place with special appearances by Magician Jack Flash and walkabout characters 
such as Gary the Great on stilts and The Juggler also planned.   
 
There have been recent enquiries from residents groups at other Dublin City Council flat 
complexes including Markievicz House and Conway Court to also host end of summer 
activities but no details/dates confirmed as yet.  
 
Halloween Festivals 
The Community Teams are working to collate the programme for potential Halloween Festivals 
in Ringsend (Dockers and Demons), Brickfield Park, Clogher Road Sports Centre (Eamon 
Ceannt Park) and the Cabbage Garden.  While plans are proceeding it should be noted that 
events and larger scale activities may be difficult to deliver under government restrictions.  We 
are assessing these on a weekly basis and no decision on holding any part of the festivals 
has been made to date.   

Page 126



 
Iveagh Trust Family Day 
Support is also being provided to this event at the New Bride Street/Kevin Street flat complex, 
organised by the Iveagh Trust and due to take place on Sunday, 5th September from 12-5pm.  
There’ll be activities for all ages on offer including traditional street games, sports, children’s 
magic shows and a Garden Party featuring live music from yesteryear for older residents. 
 
Kimmage Christmas Tree Lighting 
Pre-development work continues on the location for a proposed Kimmage Christmas Tree and 
Lighting Ceremony. We are currently assessing the potential to have the event in the 
Supervalu Car Park and to light the large tree at the entrance. Members of the Kimmage 
Traders are working with the manager of Supervalu to see if this proposal is viable given some 
of the car park will be closed for twenty-four hours. 
 
Margaret Place Family Fiesta 
A small summer street party is due to take place for the local residents of Margaret Place in 
Sandymount on Saturday, 11th September from 3-8pm, organised by the local residents’ 
association with support from our team.  There’ll be live music, food ‘n’ refreshments, 
traditional street games and a magic show for all ages to enjoy.    
 
Play in the Park 
The event took place on the 30th and 31st of July in Belgrave Square, Rathmines with the 
Dublin Youth Theatre in conjunction with the Fair in the Square Committee. The Friday 
evening performance was cancelled due to adverse weather but the Saturday performances 
went ahead as planned. A huge effort was required to meet government restrictions at the 
time including a booking portal, spaced seating, a face mask mandate and limited numbers. 
 
Ranelagh Arts Festival 
This year’s Ranelagh Arts Festival will take place from 16-26 September at various locations 
in the village.  A diverse programme of comedy, theatre, visual art and dance is in the planning 
as well as historical walks and some movies outdoors.  For up to date details of the 
programme, please visit www.ranelagharts.ie 
 
Ringsend & Irishtown Youth Diversion Project 
This Gaisce award winning project has recently concluded with participants due to be 
presented with a Bronze Gaisce Award shortly. This excellent three month long project was 
organised by two local volunteers with support from the Spellman Centre, RSCF and 
ourselves. It targeted 14-18 year olds and covered personal development, team work and 
healthy lifestyle practices through challenges and activities including camping, kayaking, 
hiking and fishing.     
 
Rutland Grove Planters 
The installation of planters at the entrance to Rutland Grove estate has proven to be 
unsuccessful due to regular antisocial activity and damage to the units. Damaged planters 
have been removed and we are working with local residents to resolve the issues or 
relocate/remove the remaining boxes. 
 
Verschoyle Court Gardening Classes & Talk 
The weekly gardening classes for residents of Verschoyle Court Sheltered Housing Complex 
continued throughout August in support of their award winning community and wild flower 
garden. The group’s latest project is a “Bog Garden” which will offer vital resources to a variety 
of wildlife as well as adding to the splendour of the garden.  A walk and talk around the garden 
with RTÉ’s & Virgin Media’s resident biologist and wildlife expert, Eanna Ní Lamhna also take 
place for residents in August.  
 

Page 127

http://www.ranelagharts.ie/


Whitefriar Strings Project 
Tuition in violin and cello have continued on a weekly basis through online Zoom classes.  
Eight of the Whitefriar String Project students, who are members of the Junior Young 
Orchestral Pops Orchestra (YOPs), performed at the YOPs online concert in May whilst 
another four students have recently been accepted into the Senior YOPs Orchestra.  One of 
the String Project students was also awarded a music scholarship into Alexandra College in 
Milltown. All in all, much progress achieved despite the challenges faced in recent times. 
 
Woodstock Court Garden “Competition”  
A series of environmental projects at Woodstock Court by our Team in partnership with 
Ranelagh Community Response, Ranelagh Tidy Towns & Gheel Autism has in turn 
encouraged local residents to work on their front ‘gardens’ with the complex looking 
magnificent.  A gardening showcase took place in early August with RTÉ’s & Virgin Media’s 
resident biologist and wildlife expert, Eanna Ní Lamhna invited along to visit all the gardens 
and meet the residents.  Eanna was most impressed and Certificates were issued to all 
tenants who got involved. 
 
Youth & Summer Projects 
Throughout July and August, young people were treated to various outdoor activities and 
exciting trips to the likes of Fort Lucan, Ardgillen Castle, the Aquatic Centre and Kia Ora Farm 
through the summer projects in Ringsend, Pearse Street, Aungier Street and Charlemont 
Street areas.  Support with transportation was also provided to the Dublin 8 based intercultural 
project run by Cultural Youth Association, the Summer Trips Project at Ringsend Crèche and 
the CLAY and BRU Youth Projects who help keep our young people and especially those ‘at 
risk’ engaged with the programmes. 
 
 

In what has been very difficult times for local community groups and volunteers, we 
are very grateful to all those involved in the above for their commitment and efforts. 

 
Waste Management / Environmental Services 
Mattress Recycling held 14th August in Rosary College, Armagh Road. 153 mattresses were 
collected. 
 
City Neighbourhood Awards: Closing date is 18th August 2021. 
 
Dublin Community Clean-up 2021 takes place from 11th September -19th September 2021. 
 
Leaflet deliveries & door knocking by Litter Wardens to deal with issues of “Bird feeding” & 
Waste Bye Laws enquiries. (D12 Area)   
 
Graffiti Removal  
Ongoing. 
 
Weed Control  
1st Spray completed of 95kms 
Targeted areas for resprays: Contractor is due back in South East area in mid/late 
September 
Additional 10kms identified for treatment.  
 
Bag bin Trial: 
Drury Street. (Starting end September) 
 
 
Public Domain Community Cleans August 2021 

Page 128



Kildare Road/ Kildare Park. 
Marlborough Road, Marlborough Lane, Bushfield Avenue, Sandford Avenue, Sandford 
Gardens. 
Kyleclare Road /Cymric Road/Pine Road/ Isolda Road/Cashel Avenue. 
 
Abandoned Bicycles 
July:   12 
August  43 
 
242 year to date. 
  

Page 129



SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE  

DUBLIN CITY SPORT & WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP REPORT 

SEPTEMBER 2021 

 

  

 
 
Face to Face delivery of DCSWP programmes continue across communities in the South 
East area. Delivery of programmes, particularly around participant numbers, remain subject 
to Government, HSE and Sport Ireland guidelines.  At the time of writing this report DCSWP 
was awaiting advice from Central Government/NPHET and Sport Ireland on the resumption 
of indoor sporting activities. Details of many of the programmes highlighted below are TBC 
as programmes for Autumn/Winter are currently in the planning stages.  

 
Online/Social Media Supports: 
 

 Twitter: @dccsportsrec   
 Facebook: DublinCitySportandWellbeing 

 
 Instagram: @dublincitysportandwellbeing 

 
 
Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Virtual Hub 
Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership Virtual Hub support continues virtually: dcwsphub.ie 
 
Bike Week 2021: 12th- 18th September  
Bike Week is a national celebration and promotion of the benefits of cycling. DCSWP provides 
opportunities for people of all ages and abilities to experience the joy of cycling through 
ongoing programmes. To mark the week the following programme will be delivered in the 
South East area: 
 

Name of core programme: Bike Week (12 – 18th  September) 

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Promoting cycling via community 
programmes 

Age group: All ages  

Gender: Mixed  

Date/time and location: TBC during 12th – 18th September. Various 
times and locations. 

 
 
  

Page 130

https://twitter.com/dccsportsrec
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
http://www.dcswphub.ie/


 

 
 
European Week of Sport/Dublin Sportsfest 2021 
 
Dublin Sportsfest, DCSWP’s annual flagship event is now in its 4th year and once again for 
2021 will coincide with European Week of Sport (EWOS) from 23rd – 30th September.  The 
aim of Dublin Sportsfest is to promote DCSWP’s goals which are to engage with people of all 
ages and abilities in our communities through the provision of sporting/physical activity 
programmes and initiatives, to encourage participation and to increase the profile of the 
Partnership. Sportsfest is also an opportunity for DCSWP to showcase the many indoor and 
outdoor facilities and resources DCC has to support communities in order to partake in sport 
and physical activity.  
 
Despite current restrictions the planning of Sportfest 2021 and all DCSWP programmes and 
events continues.  Below are South East area EWOS/Sportsfest planned events/activities:  
 

Name of core programme: European Week of Sport / Sportsfest  
23rd-30th Sept 

 Description of programme activity  Multi-sport events.  

Partners: FAI, Boxing, Rugby officers. 

Age group: Primary school age. 

Gender: Mixed  

Date/time and location: 9-1pm Tuesday 28th Sept. Ringsend Park 

Estimated Number of Programme 
Participants (NB: per session):  

150 approximately  (numbers TBC closer to 
the date)  

 

Name of core programme: European Week of Sport /Sportsfest  

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Orienteering – schools event  

Partners (If any): Schools  

Age group: 10-16yrs 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Wednesday 29th Sept. John Paul Park. 10-
3pm  

Estimated Number of Programme 
Participants (NB: per session):  

120-150 approximately 

 
South East Area Highlights September 2021 

 School Programmes (Primary and secondary) 

Name of core programme: Primary Rugby  

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Tag rugby – primary schools.  

Partners (If any): Primary schools  

Age group: 8-12 yrs. 

Gender: Girls  

Date/time and location: TBC school sessions &  Blitz 6th October – 
venue TBC 

Programme Start Date: September 2021  

Programme End Date:  TBC 

  

Page 131



Name of core programme: Primary School After-school 

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Fundamental movement skills programme 
for primary school children 

Partners (If any):  

Age group: Primary School 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Thursday 1pm – 2pm Harold’s Cross 

Estimated Number of Programme 
Participants (NB: per session):  

15 

Programme Start Date: 16/9/21 

Programme End Date:  21/10/21 

 

Name of core programme: Primary School After-school 

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Fundamental movement skills programme 
for primary school children with special 
needs 

Partners (If any):  

Age group: Primary School 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Friday 2pm – 3pm Rathgar St. Peter’s 
Special School 

Estimated Number of Programme 
Participants (NB: per session):  

15 

Programme Start Date: 16/9/21 

Programme End Date:  21/10/21 

 
Women in Sport 

Name of core programme: Women’s Fitness Programme 

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Circuits class including weights, cardio, etc.  

Partners (If any): Irishtown Stadium  

Age group: +18yrs  

Gender: Women 

Date/time and location: Irishtown Stadium. TBC 7pm 
Tuesday/Wednesday from September to 
late October 

 
Youth at Risk Programmes (young people age 10 – 21 years) 
 

Name of core programme: Inspire Event  

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Sporting Legend event 

Partners (If any): Youth Service  

Age group: Teenagers  

Gender: Girls  

Date/time and location: TBC in September (one off event) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



Older Adults (Age 55+) 
 

Name of core programme: Forever Fit 

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Chair Fit classes for adults with mental 
health difficulties at Swanlea House in 
Rathmines 

Partners (If any):  

Age group: Adults 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Wednesday 11am Swanlea House 
Rathmines 

Estimated Number of Programme 
Participants (NB: per session):  

12 

Programme Start Date: 8/9/21 

Programme End Date:  27/10/21 

 
Inclusion in Sport – People with Physical, Intellectual and Sensory Disabilities 
 

Name of core programme:  

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Dance Classes for people with Intellectual 
Disabilities at St Michaels House 

Partners (If any):  

Age group: 18 – 21 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Wednesday 1pm SMH Turas Rathmines 

Estimated Number of Programme 
Participants (NB: per session):  

15 

Programme Start Date: 1/9/21 

Programme End Date:  27/10/21 

  

 
HSE Health Promotion in the Community 
 

Name of core programme: Men on the Move 

 Description of programme activity e.g.: 
Tag Rugby, Chair Aerobics etc. 

Men’s Fitness Classes  

Partners (If any): HSE 

Age group: Older Adults 

Gender: Male 

Date/time and location: Tuesday and Thursday 7pm – 8pm Terenure 

Estimated Number of Programme 
Participants (NB: per session):  

15 

Programme Start Date: 14/9/21 

Programme End Date:  25/11/21 

 
Co-Funded Officer Update: 
Athletics, Boxing, Cricket, Football, Rowing and Rugby summer programmes continue in the 
area over the next period:  
 
Athletics in the Community: 
Athletics Officers are currently rolling out summer camps and events. A full update will be 
provided in the August report.  DCSWP Athletics Officers are currently supporting DCSWP 
Officers in the delivery of Couch to 5k walking and running programmes and the Marathon 

Page 133



Families Initiative.   The school Marathon Kids programme, which is now in its 3rd year, will 
commence following the return to education.  
 
Boxing in the Community: 
Boxing/IABA Officers will recommence the Startbox programme in the South East area 
following the return to education in September. Full details will be provided in the October 
report.   
 
Cricket in the Community:   
School Cricket sessions and tournaments to recommence in September following the return 
to education. Full details will be provided in the October report.   
 
Football in the Community: 

 
 Drug Rehabilitation Football Programme: 8-week programme starting Thursday 2nd 

September with 20 male/females participating.  
 
 DCSWP Sportsfest 2021 – football sessions will be running on September 28th in 

Irishtown stadium working with schools in the area.  
 

 Walking Football Programme - walking football programme commencing Thursday 9th 
September in Irishtown stadium. 

 
Rowing in the Community 
Get Going Get Rowing school programmes to resume in September following the return to 
education.  Full details will be provided in the October report.   
 
Rugby in the Community 
 

 Delivery of Rugby workshops in all 7 clubs in the SE Area. 
 Primary and Secondary School programmes restarting in all schools. 
 Children’s and Youth Coach Award Programmes. 
 Club and School rugby programmes recommencing. 

 
General: 
 
Keep Well/ Keep Active Campaign 
 ‘Keep Well’, the Healthy Ireland and Central government backed national campaign was 
launched in October last year.  The campaign aims to highlight the critical importance of 
minding ourselves both physically and mentally during these uncertain times.  Keep Well is 
described as a ‘call to action’ to everyone across society whether at individual, organisational 
or voluntary level to support people in discovering the many ways we can work together to 
build community resilience. 
DCSWP activities are reported to the Department of Housing, Local Government & Heritage 
on a weekly basis as part of the Keep Active metric.  
 
Orienteering  
In late 2020 DCSWP teamed up with Orienteering Ireland to support young people, families 
and adults of all abilities to take up something a little different. Orienteering provides great 
opportunities for everyone to develop important life skills, build self-esteem and learn the 
benefits of teamwork in the great outdoors. Training workshops delivered by Orienteering 
Ireland in October 2020 have provided DCSWP Sport Officers with the knowledge and 
practical understanding of teaching the basic skills of orienteering to get groups up and 
running.  

Page 134



DCSWP has also worked closely with Orienteering Ireland around the use of technology to 
map parks and locations across the Dublin region that can potentially play host to orienteering 
programmes and maximise the delivery of this very positive outdoor initiative in parks and 
green spaces in the city.  
 DCSWP continues to engage with Orienteering Ireland around the roll out and delivery of the 
programmes. Trial programmes continue in parks across the city.   
 
Training 
 

 Online Safeguarding Training to support compliance in local clubs and organisations 
resumed with Safeguarding 1 Training on 15th February.  Training is provided by 
DCSWP Officers. Safeguarding 2 & 3 continues to be advertised and delivered on an 
on-demand basis.  

 
 In partnership with CARA, the online Disability & Inclusion and Autism in Sport training 

programmes launched in 2020.  This is part of a series of online Disability in Sport 
training programmes already in operation. The programme for 2021 is delivered on the 
first Tuesday of every month on an ongoing basis. 

 
CONTACT DETAILS: 
 

Name Role Contact Information 

Shauna Mc Intyre General Manager, DCSWP shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie  

Aideen O’Connor Programmes & Services 
Manager, DCSWP 

aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie 

Colin Sharkey Office Manager, DCSWP Colin.sharkey@dublincity.ie  

Michelle Malone Sport Officer, DCSWP Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie  

William Morris Sport Officer, DCSWP William.morris@dublincity.ie  

Marie Louise 
Reilly 

Sport Officer, DCSWP Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie  

David Phelan HSE Health Promotion & 
Improvement Officer 

Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie  

Lisa Kelly Sport Inclusion & Integration 
Officer, DCSWP 

Lisa.Kelly@dublincity.ie  

Nuala O’Donovan Sport Inclusion & Integration 
Officer, DCSWP 

Nuala.odonovan@dublincity.ie  

Colette Quinn Development Officer, Athletics colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie 

Gerard O’Donnell Development Officer, Athletics gerardodonnell@athleticsireland.ie  

Jonathan Tormey Development Officer, FAI Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie  

Chris McElligott Women’s Development Officer 
(disability) FAI 

chris.mcelligott@fai.ie 

Ken Knaggs Rugby Development Officer Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie  

Larissa Muldoon Rugby Development Officer Larissa.muldoon@leinsterrugby.ie  

Fintan Mc Allister Development Officer, Cricket Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie  

Michael Carruth Development Officer, Boxing Michael_carruth@ymail.com 

Aoife Byrne Development Officer, Rowing Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie 

 
REPORT BY: 
Dee O’Boyle Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing  
dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie 
 
 
Mary Taylor 
Director of Services, South City    Dated: 8th September 2021 

Page 135

file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Colin.sharkey@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/William.morris@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Lisa.Kelly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Nuala.odonovan@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/gerardodonnell@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202021/South%20East%20Area/chris.mcelligott@fai.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Larissa.muldoon@leinsterrugby.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michael_carruth@ymail.com
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202020/Reporting%20Post%20March%202020/Central%20Area%20Reports/dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie




Housing, Community & Emergency Services Department 
South East Area Office 

 

 
To the Chairperson and Members of the 
South East Area Committee 
 
 

 
Naming and numbering proposal for a development of 52 residential units, in two 
blocks at the former ESB Depot site Parnell Avenue, Dublin 12 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

An Linn Mhuilinn/Mill Pond 
 

A request to name and number a development of 52 residential units, in two blocks at the 
former ESB Depot site Parnell Avenue, Dublin 12 has been received. 
 
The applicant has chosen the name An Linn Mhuilinn/Mill Pond because:  
 
“There were a several mills in Harold’s Cross area during the 19th century availing of the water 
course of the River Poddle. The vicinity of the ex-ESB Depot site, in particular, has a long 
association with mills, and this site is located within the boundaries of what was the largest 
mill pond in the area. 
In the second half of the 18th century there was a corn mill located about 100 yards south of 
this site, on what are now the hospice grounds.  By 1807, a cotton mill was built beside the 
site boundary which became known as the Greenmount Spinning Manafactory. The Mill Pond 
associated with the building first appears on an 1830 map. This industry expanded and 
evolved throughout the 19th century and the building, together with the Mill Pond, survived as 
features on the city maps until the 1950’s.” 

 

The development is outlined on the attached Map Index No. SM – 2021 – 0548 and numbering 

is Block A 1 – 32, Block B 1 – 20.   
 
The Heritage Officer considers the proposed name appropriate and accordingly the scheme 
is recommended for approval. 
 
 
 

Mary Taylor  
Executive Manager South City  
 

Page 137





P
age 139





Housing, Community & Emergency Services Department 
South East Area Office 

 

 
To the Chairperson and Members of the 
South East Area Committee 
 
 

 
Naming and numbering proposal for a development of twelve residential units at the 
site of a former warehouse at 44 South Dock Street, Ringsend, Dublin 4. 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

An Longlann/The Dockyard 
 

A request to name and number a development of twelve residential units, at the site of a former 
warehouse at 44 South Dock Street has been received.  Eleven of the units will be behind 
South Dock Street and the twelfth unit will be a new end of terrace on South Dock Street. 
 
The applicant has chosen the name An Longlann/The Dockyard because:  
 
“The site sits within the heart of the South Lotts area - an area created following the 
embankment of the River Liffey in 1711 which overlaps between Ringsend and the Grand 
Canal Docks area.  The estate name therefore borrows from the Grand Canal Docks and 
South Dock Street to create “The Dockyard” tying into the local history of the area.” 

 

The Acting Manager Land Surveying and Mapping has approved the numbering scheme.  The 

development is outlined on the attached Map Index No. SM – 2021 -0619. The numbering 

scheme is as in the developer’s drawings attached, 1 – 11 The Dockyard and 44 South Dock 

Street for the new end of terrace residence on South Dock Street, retaining the original number 

of the demolished warehouse. 
 
The Heritage Officer considers the proposed name appropriate and accordingly the scheme 
is recommended for approval. 
 
 
 

Mary Taylor  
Executive Manager South City  
 

Page 141





INDEX No.
THIS MAP IS CERTIFIED TO BE COMPUTER GENERATED BY

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY DIGITAL MAPBASE

SM-2021-0619

ACTING MANAGER LAND SURVEYING & MAPPING

Environment and Transportation Department

Survey and Mapping Division

An Roinn Comhshaoil agus Iompair

Rannán Suirbhéireachta agus LéarscáilitheComhairle Cathrach

Bhaile Átha Cliath

Dublin City Council

CITY ENGINEER

Dr JOHN W. FLANAGAN
CEng FIEI FICE

F:\SM-2021-0619 - 001 - A.dgn

INDEX No
  No
DWG REV

OSi data :       Ordnance Survey Ireland. All rights reserved. Licence Number 2021 /23/CCMA/ Dublin City Council

O.S REF SCALE

DATE SURVEYED 
PRODUCED BY

FILE NO

SURVEY, MAPPING AND RELATED RESEARCH APPROVED

APPROVED

THOMAS CURRAN

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL

c

31

19 3

68

15

2

17

34

20

2

3

80

S
h
e
lb

o
u
rn

e
  
  
P
a
rk
  
  
 A

p
ts

S
h
e
lb

o
u
rn

e
  
  
P
a
rk
  
  
 A

p
ts

2A

32

82

4

17

24

16

84

17

102

59

23

1

48

81

2

57

47

19

94

Playground

11

37

93

Park

South Dock Street

S
O

U
T

H

L
O

T
T
S

R
O

A
D

SOUTH

S
O

U
T

H
  
 D

O
C

K

STREET

PENROSE

P
L

A
C

E

STREET
STREET

STREET

DOCK

HASTINGS
HASTINGS

1

4

21

52

2

14

44

79

1

7

1A

46
95

50

56

33

18

78

70

9

16

18

41

104

64

35

22

10

39

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

11

10

44

3264-13 1:1000

T. Curran16-08-2021

THE DOCKYARD - Nos. 1 to 11

SOUTH DOCK STREET - No. 44

Map for Naming and Numbering Purposes

THE DOCKYARD

Page 143





P
age 145





 
 

 

09/08/2021  

 

Dear Councillors  

 

Ballsbridgeliving tidy towns would greatly appreciate the help and support of the south east area 

committee in a most exciting community project for the Ballsbridge community . 

As many of you will be aware we have been talking for some time about the lack of space available 

for tidy towns in Ballsbridge for composting or propagating our own perennial plants for all year 

round flowering  in the village . We have identified the ESB site on Beatty’s Ave as a natural fit for 

the community and tidy towns . For those not familiar with the site I have attached an aerial view 

(between house 5 & 6) . The site we understand is owned by the ESB and has been used by the OPW 

for the past few years as a store for the flood relief works . We also understand that this site has a 

large number of power cables crossing the site which makes any sort of excavation impossible .  

What we propose is  

1. The use of raised beds for allotments to ease some of the pressure in Herbert Park for 

allotments spaces  

2. A poly tunnel again using raised beds to allow us to propagate perennials for use in plant 

boxes around the village  

3. A composting area using our exiting pallet composters where we use the leaves collected 

from Anglesea Road , Ailesbury Drive and Grove and surrounding roads to create our own 

planter box compost . These are currently located in the Horse Show pitchers site but not for 

much longer as that site moves towards development . We have also located two in St 

Conleths School on Clyde Road . 

4. Two  of our Tidy Towns volunteers who live very close to the site  want to set up a Dodder 

view / Ballsbridge Ave composting scheme and are  happy to run and supervise it . The 

houses in Dodder View cannot generally accommodate compost bins and as a result 

everything is black bin waste only due to  difficulty of  accommodating compost bins with no 

space . 

5. A small shed for storing Tidy Towns equipment which could also become a “men’s shed” 

where the community can meet over a cup of tea or coffee and hopefully sit out in the 

sunshine . 

Ultimately this would become a community space for the local residents.   

We are looking to enter into is a lease arrangement with the ESB .  We would undertake to cover 

the cost of implementing a pre agreed plan , maintaining the area to a very high standard , 

providing insurance cover for the area , ensuring no anti-social behaviour in the area , ensuring 

the ESB full access for any essential maintenance work . 

Page 147



 
 

 

 

We think this is potentially a very exciting initiative for Ballsbridge and would welcome your 

support and help with DCC to bring this to fruition ,  

 

Yours Sincerely  

 

Patrick Byrne  

Ballsbridge Living Tidy Towns  

 

 

Page 148



Commemorative Bench 

or Tree Application 

 

 

 

                                              

 
Park location or Open space   

 

 

Applicant’s details: 
 

Name of person  

making application 

 

Organisation  
(if applicable) 

 

Address 

 

 

 

 

 

Phone  

E-mail  

Type of Commemoration: 

Bench or Tree 

 

 

In memory of  

 

 

 

Exact Wording for the Commemorative Plaque (bench only) 

 

e.g. In memory of “Title” “Year” 

 

___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________ 

 

Please return the completed application form to: info@dlrcoco.ie 

 

Or send by post to: Parks Section, Community and Cultural Development, Dun 

Laoghaire Rathdown County Council, Level 3, County Hall, Marine Road, Dun 

Laoghaire, Co. Dublin, A96 K6C9 

 

Telephone: 01 2054700 

 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

 

 Date Signature 

Application   

Receipt issued   

Bench/Tree installed   

 

Page 149

mailto:info@dlrcoco.ie
mailto:info@dlrcoco.ie
tel:0035312054700
tel:0035312054700


Commemorative Bench 

or Tree Application 

 

 

 

 
 
Types of community/family Memorials: 

 
• Commemoration of an event, or of individuals who have made a significant 

contribution to local heritage, culture and/or community development. 

 

• Memorials requested by families within the community and dedicated to 

departed family member or friend. 

 

In both of these categories the council will accept contributions for benches and tree 

planting in a park, cemetery, street or public space (subject to the availability of 

suitable locations), Under the following conditions: 

 

Commemorative Trees: 
 

a. The location of the tree and selection of tree species shall be at the 

discretion of the Parks Team. 

b. The tree shall be planted and maintained by the Parks Team, no 

plaque or memorabilia are to be placed in the vicinity of the tree. 

c. The sponsor shall be required to meet the cost of the work.  There are 

three options depending on the size of tree preferred.  The fee is to 

cover the cost of planting and administration. 

 

d. The Parks Team reserve the right to remove or relocate the tree at 

any time should it be considered necessary. 

e. With regards to a Tree in Killiney Hill, only small Native Saplings 

can be planted there with a maximum cost of €100. 

 

Commemorative Benches: 
 

a. The selection of the location, bench and plaque will be at the 

discretion of the Parks Team. 

b. The bench shall be installed and maintained by the Parks Team. 

c. The Plaque shall be installed on the uppermost backboard and the 

inscription is to be agreed with the Parks Team. 

d. The Plaque shall be maintained for the lifetime of the bench or for a 

minimum of 5 years. 

e. The applicant shall be required to meet the cost of the purchasing and 

installation of the donated bench. 

f. The current fee is set at €950 to cover the cost of installation and 

administration. 

g. The Parks Team reserve the right to remove or relocate the bench at 

any time should it be considered necessary. 

 

 

Option Cost Size (stem girth) 

A €250 14-16cm girth (bare root/root ball) 

B €350 16-18cm girth (root ball) 

C €450 20-25 cm (root ball) 

Page 150



Question to the Chief Executive    South East Area Committee  
        Meeting 13th September 2021 
 
Q.1 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager to clarify plans for the installation of a toucan crossing at 
Serpentine Avenue referred to in the following email and to provide drawings in which 
such a crossing is included.   
 
 From: SEA Questions and Motions <SEAQANDM@dublincity.ie>  
Sent: Thursday 15 July 2021 13:38 
To: Cllr Dermot Lacey <Dermot.Lacey@dublincity.ie> 
Cc: SEA Questions and Motions <SEAQANDM@dublincity.ie>; John MacEvilly 
<john.macevilly@dublincity.ie>; Mary Taylor <mary.taylor@dublincity.ie>; Brian 
Hanney <brian.hanney@dublincity.ie> 
Subject: 6.i TAG Serpentine Avenue Pedestrian Crossing , SEAC follow up Jul 21 
 Good afternoon Councillor, 
Further to your request at Monday’s SEAC meeting for a report on the Serpentine 
Avenue pedestrian crossing please see below the response from Traffic: 
 “The area engineer has looked into the matter of a pedestrian crossing on Serpentine 
Avenue at the junction with Merrion Road. The area engineer is not in favour of locating 
a pedestrian crossing at the aforementioned junction, as part of Route 14 (UCD to 
Ballsbridge) to enhance walking, cycling and bus infrastructure on key access corridors 
in the Dublin region. There are proposed plans for the junction of Serpentine Avenue 
and Merrion Road, in terms of providing TOUCAN crossing points across Serpentine 
Avenue and Merrion Road. This will require the junction to be upgraded and improved, 
the area engineer is not in favour of providing a pedestrian crossing at this location, 
where funding has been made available by the  National Transport Authority through 
Bus Connects for major improvements to this junction. 
  

Q.2 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Can a ramp be put in place on the footpath at details supplied as the resident is 
wheelchair bound and cannot lift the chair over the footpath as it stands due to its 
height and depth?  It was previously deemed a medical emergency and 
correspondence has already been made with DCC. 

 
Q.3 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Could the utility boxes (Virgin, ESB, traffic) alongside the canal on Parnell Road be 
painted and could graffiti be removed from the Health Centre and Scout Den on Parnell 
Road? 

 
Q.4 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Could the manager look at the parking scenario at the shops at 116, 118, 120 Sundrive 
Road?  Vehicles are dangerously double-parking here. Vehicles and cyclists exiting 
from Ferns Road (looking towards Sundrive Park) cannot see other vehicles turning 
left at speed from Sundrive Park.  Can something physical be done with this space to 
prevent double-parking like the reduction of the length of the car parking spots, 
introduction of markings on street? 

 
Q.5 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Could the manager look at the chaotic parking situation outside the DCC Depot on 
Sundrive Road?  The paths are blocked here with vehicles on a regular basis.  Could 
either spaces be marked on the path with enough space for pedestrians or can no 
parking marking be put on the pathway to prevent this?  I witnessed a mobility scooter 
user having to do a U-turn and cross the road the other day due to inconsiderate 
parking here. 

Page 151

mailto:SEAQANDM@dublincity.ie
mailto:Dermot.Lacey@dublincity.ie
mailto:SEAQANDM@dublincity.ie
mailto:john.macevilly@dublincity.ie
mailto:mary.taylor@dublincity.ie
mailto:brian.hanney@dublincity.ie


 
Q.6 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Could the broken utility box at 173 Clonmacnoise Road beside the bus-stop be 
removed? 

 
Q.7 Councillor Tara Deacy 

Could bollards be added outside 27a Ravensdale Drive?  Despite yellow lines, cars 
are still parking here and making it impossible for people in wheelchairs and buggies 
to get to the park safely.  The area is also on a corner and makes it dangerous for road 
used. 
 

Q.8 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if Dublin City Council is aware of the ownership of the lane (and 
the plot of land at the top of the lane) to the rear of Beach Avenue, Sandymount and if 
they could contact the owner with a view to having the very high trees overhanging 
and blocking light from some of the houses seriously pruned. 
 

Q.9 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if as a matter of urgency they will respond to the complaint lodged 
with Dublin City Council (DCC Response ID ANON- NAQ6- 68AC-8 Ref no: 7020778) 
regarding an overlong parking bay that blocks are existing the property of *(details 
supplied). 
 

Q.10 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if he would arrange for the street signs at the following to be 
instated or repaired as requested 
 
I) Street signs as follows: 
    a) Street sign for Mornington Road at entry from Ashfield -No sign at all at the 
moment 
    b) Street sign for Mornington at the upper end-junction.  Current sign unreadable as 
lettering removed 
   c) Street sign for Chelmsford Lane at junction with Sallymount Avenue, current sign 
unreadable as above. 
   d) Two street signs on Triangle (over Quillsenens estate agent) 
   e) Saying Cullenswood Road -the official name for that short section and ii) Saying 
Charleston Road with arrow as Charleston Road starts after Luas bridge. 

 
Q.11 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he will respond to the following: 
 
Footpath no.70-88 (Chelmsford to Chelmsford lane section of 'Ranelagh'). What is 
status of proposal to repave with granite paving? 

Q.12 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
To ask the Manager if he could arrange to have the double yellow lines referred to in 
the email below reinstated as soon as possible. It refers to Swan Place, Dublin 4. 
 

Q.13 Councillor Tara Deacy 
Can the footpath at 42 Lavarna Grove be repaired as soon as possible, there have 
been a number of accidents in recent months and the residents have requested its 
repaired as a matter of urgency? Please see the photos attached, it is in very bad 
condition. 
 

Page 152



 
 

Q.14 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the manager to deal with the following issue from a constituent. The case 
number is 2587126 and has been previously reported to DCC. 
 
He writes, 
"The footpath on Gilford Road between Brabazon House and the Strand Road is now 
in an even more dangerous condition than previously. Given that this section of 
footpath is used by a lot of elderly people, including the residents of Brabazon, it is 
essential that it is repaired to an acceptable standard immediately." 

 
Q.15 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

Could the manager address the following issues raised by a constituent? 
He writes, 
 
Flood Relief. DCC is procuring a consultant for planning and constructing a new 
boardwalk along the strand, to combine cycling access with increased flood defences 
at the North Strand, Village area. 
Flood Defence Project - phase 1 (section along the Strand promenade) is due to start 
in September 2021. 
Do you know if a consultant is on board? 
 
Do you know if the timeline for the Flood Defence Project phase 1 is on target? 
 
What exactly is going to be done?" 

 
Q.16 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to respond to the following issues concerning Strand Road cycle 
route. 
 
He writes, 
"My concern here is that DCC are spending the public's money on implementing these 
decisions and then the public have to spend their own money to fight the case, it's very 
easy for DCC to say that they are going to appeal the decision but they are spending 
OUR money and not their own in doing so, there's something wrong with that. 
 
Anyway originally there was some thought about incorporating this cycle track into the 
proposed boardwalk on the seafront that was being considered, but now we're all 
reading the alarming reports that this area and the surrounding areas will be 
underwater by 2030 as it is as we all know, considered a flood plain, so why are DCC 
not being proactive and start building the flood defence on the sea front and they could 
incorporate the cycle path into that. 
 
This flood defence was mooted about 12 months ago and I believe would take about 
3 years to complete so now 1 year has gone by and nothing has been done. I think 
that this proposed flood defence and cycle track should be put back on the agenda for 

Page 153

https://scanner.topsec.com/?u=plain.so&r=show&d=1962&t=3f3804a54914643a9321bea22c728412c3374b94


discussion, which I believe would get the support of both sides,  i.e. the cyclists and 
the residents because everybody is then a winner." 

 
Q.17 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to repair the footpath adjacent to 14 St. Mary’s Road, Ballsbridge.  
This is the third time this was requested, the last time being September 2020 and 
nothing has been done.  The issue has become one of safety, as many of our senior 
citizens are now venturing outside following the easing of pandemic restrictions. 

 
Q.18 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to arrange to have the name plate on Airfield Court, Donnybrook 
repainted. 
See pic below, 
 

 
 
Q.19 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to have a general tree pruning on Airfield Park, Donnybrook with 
particular emphasis on a cherry tree adjacent to number 4 Airfield Park, Donnybrook. 

 
Q.20 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to respond to the issue raised from a constituent pertaining to 
Sandymount Green. 
 
He writes, 
 
"I feel there is a great opportunity with the right investment by the council to make this 
into a great civic space addition to Sandymount Village. If permanently pedestrianized, 
it could serve both as a place for adjacent restaurants to have outdoor dining creating 
a unique atmosphere.  It could also be used as a space for market stalls for market 
type events. In Dun Laoghaire they have beautiful pedestrianized spaces with large 
umbrellas for rainy weather so an undercover space can be made easily. They are 
nicely surfaced and have nicely arranged public seating in these areas that we could 
easily emulate in this Sandymount Green adjacent street. These large umbrellas in 
combination with tasteful lighting could make this an atmospheric location. 
I feel it would be a great opportunity lost to allow this street to return to normal. If 
implemented correctly this would be a great addition to the village. Any councillor with 
the initiative to get behind such a project I feel would gain great credit in the community 
for such a proactive and beneficial addition to the village. While some may complain 
about the inability to drive down that road the other side of Sandymount Green provides 
easy access to Newgrove Avenue. 
I ask you that you put forward a motion to make this street permanently pedestrianized 
and supply funds to resurface it and establish large umbrellas (as can be found in Dun 
Laoghaire) and tasteful public seating and lighting." 

 
Q.21 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager supply a full report with regards the possible disposal of the building 
Chatham Street School of Music on Chatham Street? This report to include a full 
appraisal of the building and its condition.  Its status as a listed building. How DCC 
made the decision to dispose of this building? Has the Council considered any further 

Page 154



use such as performance space, cultural centre, art gallery, live music venue, dance 
studio? 
Also, to supply a full report on the evaluation of the building. 

 
Q.22 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager as a matter of urgency address the issue of a massive rat infestation 
in and around the York Street apartments in York Street, Glovers Court, Mercer Street 
area? 

 
Q.23 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager have the Parks Department prune the trees at the top end of 
Clanbrassil Street which are in front of the city council houses?  There is a cluster of 
trees here which entirely block the lights of the residents. There is also a huge issue 
in relation to the sap that comes off the trees and indeed fallen leaves. There has been 
very little maintenance of these trees over the years.  Many residents want some of 
these trees removed and those that remain pruned and kept in proper order.  The 
residents have to keep their lights on throughout the day, as there is no light.  This is 
unacceptable, very costly and leading to fuel poverty for many of our residents here. 

 
Q.24 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can DCC consider purchasing the site of land which is now in Peters Place for a 
‘Pocket Park” of green space for the residents?  

 
Q.25 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager ensure that the proclamation in the Rotunda of City Hall is properly 
displayed and simply not discarded and dumped into a corner?  This is a very important 
document that deals with our history and it is entitled to a dignified position within City 
Hall rotunda. Consideration should be given for a proper proclamation to be mounted 
permanently on the wall of the Rotunda and that consideration be given to the removal 
of the triptych of Anne Madden’s work and be replaced by the proclamation at this 
location. It is more appropriate to have the proclamation in this building than a 
permanent display of Anne Madden’s work which can relocated to the Hugh Lane 
Gallery or Civic Offices.  

 
Q.26 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue an update with regards the process of the orders of protected 
structures that were agreed by DCC and the South East Area with regards the RTE 
campus? 
This report to include when this order of protected structure is due before the council? 
Why has there been such an undue delay in protecting these important buildings? 
When can we see a positive outcome here? 

 
Q.27 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report on how DCC SEA intend to deal with the upcoming 
fireworks issue this Halloween (Samhna)? Already we have many tenants and city 
residents and businesses complaining about the use of fireworks. 
As you are well aware last year there was fireworks mayhem. Can DCC publish their 
plan in conjunction with An Garda Siochána as to how this issue is to be dealt with and 
what protections are going to be afforded to the many residents, particularly in our flat 
complexes who have to put up with this dreadful situation year on year? 

 
Q.28 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the manager and Parking Department if double yellow lines are acceptable to 
be provided outside The Village Inn Lisle House, Lisle Road, Dublin 12. Proprietor 

Page 155



Larry O’Shea, as there is parking on the road, which blocks customers accessing or 
leaving the Village Inn external car park.  
 

 
 
Q.29 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the Manager and Parking Department to address the illegal parking at Kimmage 
Grove – Larkview Football Club at the entrance of the estate where I am advised by 
the enquirer that drivers are blocking the cul de sacs each night, parking on yellow 
lines and on the grass verge.  

 
Q.30 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager for a progress report on ‘the compiling of an application to 
the Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage for the demolition of 
Glovers Court and replacement with more and better new homes’ as stated in 
response to my motion in May 2021, and if this application has not yet been submitted 
can the area manager please provide an timeline as to when this application will be 
submitted. 

 
Q.31 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager if he will please examine the possibility of implementing 
traffic calming on Grattan Street, Dublin 2. The street is being used as a rat run with 
cars travelling at high speeds and something needs to be done urgently to calm the 
flow.  Options to consider could include installing traffic lights at the junction of Lower 
Mount Street, introducing a one way system and pedestrianizing part of the street. 
 

Q.32 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please provide an update on what action will be taken 
with regard to the following property at details supplied which has been listed as a 
derelict building and entered into the Derelict Sites Register in July 2019.  
 

Q.33 Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please provide an update on the redevelopment of 
St. Andrew’s Court, and he can he provide a timeline for these works. The residents 
are living with severe damp problems and they have access issues due to barriers 
along the shared corridors.  

 
Q.34 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he please provide an update on the following? 
 

 Dublin City Council meeting with the developers of the hotel at Portobello 
Harbour 

 The installation of a coffee dock and public toilets in Portobello 
 
Q.35 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager what action can be taken by Dublin City Council to support 
the residents of Poolbeg Quay in fixing the ongoing water ingress issues the complex 
is experiencing and can he outline what financial support is available to the residents 
from DCC given that they were built by DCC as the costs quoted to fix the problems 
are unaffordable to the residents and the management company.  

Page 156



 
Q.36 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager has an there been an impact assessment of traffic increases 
on Fishamble Street as a result of the pedestrianisation of Parliament Street, and 
would Dublin City Council consider making Fishamble Street one way.  

 
Q.37 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if there is a greening strategy for the south-east area and if so to 
please provide me with details of same. 

 
Q.38 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if sections of our parks in the south east area can be made into 
small dog parks where owners can allow their dogs “off leash “. 
 

Q.39 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to arrange for the brambles in Mount Argus Park to be cut back 
as they are a danger to pedestrians and small children in buggies. 
 

Q.40 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager for an update on the Traffic Management solution options for 
Rathdown in Terenure.  This was promised at a meeting of the South East Area 
Committee on 2nd Feb 2021.  Seven months wait and no proposed solutions/options 
is unacceptable to this Councillor and local residents. 

 
Q.41 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager for an update on the long overdue resurfacing of Clareville Road, 
Harold’s Cross.  The road surface is in a shocking condition, particularly given that it 
is a road with heavy traffic and two regular bus routes (83 and 18).  In which quarter of 
2021 or 2022 will this work be undertaken? 

 
Q.42 Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if some or all of the benches along the Grand Canal which are 
backing on to streets be re positioned as requested by residents. 

 
Q.43 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can a Traffic Management and Parking scheme be put in place to deal with the traffic 
chaos that regularly occurs on Windmill Road in the vicinity of Willie Pearse Park? 
When football matches and training are taking place local residents cannot get in out 
of their own homes. Can our Traffic Advisory Group have this road surveyed and then 
put in place measures to deal with this problem? 

 
Q.44 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the green at the entrance to Aisling Close Dublin 12 be reinstated following 
damage caused in recent months? 

 
Q.45 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if he will arrange to have the shrubs in the garden to the rear of 
the back block in Beechill Villas removed as they are giving cover to significant anti-
social behaviour in Donnybrook and being used as a storage area for drugs and 
alcohol. 

 
Q.46 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the manager if he will write to the Gardaí in Donnybrook and request that Gardaí 
continue to disrupt the late night anti-social behaviour in the rear gardens of Beechill 
Villas. 

Page 157



 
Q.47 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager for an update on a request for Double Yellow Lines on Sundrive 
Road from outside number 87 as far as number 53 (Enquiry Ref: 7021266). 

 
Q.48 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager for increased illegal parking enforcement measures at the junction 
of Blarney Park and Sundrive Road, in particular if workers at the adjacent Dublin City 
Council yard could be asked to be mindful of causing obstructions to pedestrians when 
parking council vehicles on footpaths. 

 
Q.49 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if a public bin could be installed on the footpath outside Centra on 
Kimmage Road Lower. 

 
Q.50 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if an outdoor exercise machine could be installed at the park on 
Neagh Road. 

 
Q.51 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if a family will be rehoused (details supplied) 
 
Q.52 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if he will liaise with the relevant authorities to arrange for brown 
tourism signs for Poolbeg Lighthouse, swimming locations, and the Shelley Banks as 
well as other notable locations on the Poolbeg Peninsula, in particular from the 
roundabout at Sean Moore/Pigeon House Road. 

 
Q.53 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if he is satisfied that the necessary traffic and parking 
arrangements will be in place to facilitate the major development of the Irish Glass 
Bottle site and if he will elaborate on the Council’s engagement (previous or planned) 
for same. 

 
Q.54 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager for a report on the usage of Capel St/Parliament street during the 
trial pedestrianisation. 

 
Q.55 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager if the lanes at the ‘new houses’ in Irishtown could be flagged for 
clearing. 

 
Q.56 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager if it would be possible to engage with insurance Ireland regarding 
the difficulty of homes in Ringsend and Irishtown in securing home insurance, 
particularly flood insurance, to see what measures the council might take to mitigate 
this difficulty.  

 
Q.57 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manger to host a meeting with Cllrs for the South East Inner City and Gardaí 
from Pearse street to discuss recent events in the area  

 
Q.58 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager for a report on the use of CCTV in the Pearse Street area, if there 
have been cameras broken and repaired etc. 

Page 158



 
Q.59 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager to add Bath Avenue and satellite streets to the programme for 
tree pruning. 

 
Q.60 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager if the ESB are installing electric car charging units being installed 
on Bath Avenue and if so where they will be placed. 

 
Q.61 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Captains' Place.  With regard to the newly built older persons’ apartment blocks beside 
the Rosary brought up the following points:   
Could the feasibility of adding some recycling banks near their building be examined?  
Also, could an update be given on the building sites and hoarding?  There is constant 
dumping and it is visually unattractive, and residents feel like they are living in a 
building site.  

 
Q.62 Councillor Pat Dunne 

In relation to Star Bingo Lane entrance to Willie Pearse Park could a meeting be held 
with Parks, Star Bingo and local residents to see how they laneway can be made safer, 
reduce dumping fires and anti-social behaviour.  

 
Q.63 Councillor Pat Dunne 

There has been an increase in fires in the last few weeks in the Crumlin area. Lourdes 
football pitches and fires on Sundrive & Bangor Circle. These fires happen at night-
time but when Gardaí are called the debris is not removed and the fires are often lit a 
while later.  Can an interim solution until Halloween be set up to allow for these items 
to be removed as a priority to prevent fires and to liaise with Gardaí? Similarly, when 
fires occur, can the removal of debris be removed quickly, and the area cleaned up.   
 

Q.64 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Area Manager if Granite Place, Ballsbridge, Dublin 4 can be resurfaced.  

 
Q.65 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager to ensure that the dangerous hole in the path on Dunville 
Avenue as per the attached image is fixed.  

 
 
Q.66 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager if he could address the issues raised in the email below.  
“To be honest I despair at the ostensible lack of action (or pride in their work) by Dublin 
City Council in maintaining the trees and general planting and the control of weeds in 
the Rathmines/ Ranelagh area. The COVID situation should no longer hamper outdoor 
work. This is in complete contrast to for example the proactive initiatives by the council 
in Blackrock and Dun Laoghaire areas. In these areas there are more seating options 
and attractive planting. There is practically zero maintenance and many overgrown 
trees and weeds in the Rathmines/Ranelagh area.  
 

Page 159



I am struggling to understand why this situation is allowed to prevail and my fear is that 
the plants and weeds will get so out of control that they will be simply removed one 
day.  
 
Please explain what is happening and clarify what the council is doing in this area. 
Please do not quote Covid as a justification in your response - this is outdoor work and 
other councils have risen admirably to the challenge.” 

 
Q.67 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager if he could address the issues raised in the email below.  
 
Subject: Re: Mount Pleasant Avenue Upper 
Dear James, we have just learned that Rathmines is going to become a dedicated bus 
corridor with no access for residential cars. We would ask you to support the reopening 
of access via Mountpleasant Avenue Upper for residents of Mountpleasant Avenue 
Lower, Richmond Hill, Bessborough Parade, Mountpleasant Terrace and Bannaville. 
Moving the no entry point from the junction of Richmond Hill to the end of the Avenue 
at the canal would be a simple fix for everyone for the future. It would leave the whole 
avenue connected for residents and commuter cyclists while cutting off all commuter 
car traffic in both directions. Many thanks for your consideration of this idea. 
 

Q.68 Councillor James Geoghegan 
To ask the Area Manager, further to my question to the Chief Executive in April if he 
can provide a copy (by email) of each of the filed court documents in proceedings 
bearing court reference number 2020/111 JR and 2020/112 JR respectively which 
have been opened in court and which have concluded in the delivery of a judgment; if 
he could also provide a copy of the Notice of Appeal filed to the Court of Appeal in 
respect of the appeal of these proceedings.  

 
Q.69 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager for a timeline for repair, works and maintenance on the pond 
in Palmerston Park. How regularly is the pond cleared of refuse, mud and other debris; 
how regularly are water levels maintained or reinstated; and what is the timeline for 
repairing the fountain? 

 
Q.70 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if waste bins can be installed at key points along Leinster 
Road. As a main thoroughfare to and from Rathmines the street is currently subjected 
to heavy littering. 

 
Q.71 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if a waste bin, dog poo bin, or awareness signage directing 
dog walkers to nearby bins can be placed at St Clare’s Avenue? The street has 
become a dumping spot for bagged dog poo in recent months (see attached). 

 
Q.72 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if the open green space beside the health centre on Crumlin 
Road (opposite Crumlin Shopping Centre) could be leased to a community group in 
order to create a community garden or allotments. The space lacks direct access and 
has been unused for many years.  

 
Q.73 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager if a meeting with residents of Raphoe Road could be 
arranged with a view to making improvements to the street, including the addition of 
greenery and planting and traffic calming measures  

Page 160



 
Q.74 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager to outline specifically what plans are in place in the South 
East Area to deal with the spectrum of illegal and/or antisocial behaviours associated 
with Halloween but which local residents find they are now dealing with from July to 
October. These behaviours include but are not limited to fireworks, bonfires, hoarding 
of rubbish for bonfires, and are already having an enormous impact on the mental 
health and wellbeing of local residents, particularly elderly residents and those with 
small children and pets.  

 
Q.75 Councillor Carolyn Moore 

To ask the area manager what can be done to deal with the marked increase in anti-
social behaviour in Mount Argus Park in recent months, including drinking, drug taking, 
public defecation, and hostile and aggressive behaviour towards families and other 
park users. 
 

Q.76 Councillor Hazel Chu 
To ask the manager for the continuation of pedestrianisation on the side of 
Sandymount Green that has been pedestrianised?" 
 

Q.77 Councillor Hazel Chu 
To ask the manager of plans for traffic calming for Dunville Avenue and surrounding 
areas, for a mobility access space to be placed in front of the pharmacy that service 
many users requiring disability access and to look at repairing of footpaths, and place 
in safety measures for Church Road and Castlewood in light of the increase drop offs 
for local facilities. 
 

Q.78 Councillor Hazel Chu 
To ask the manager of resurfacing of footpaths and cycle ways in various SEAC areas 
including Orwell Road (around Marianella), Winton Road, Merrion Road and Nutley 
Road. 
 

Q.79 Councillor Hazel Chu 
To ask the manager the status of plans of 24 cycle lane for Ranelagh and Rathmines. 
 

Q.80 Councillor Pat Dunne 
Regarding Double Yellow Lines - Could a review of roads be undertaken in Crumlin 
with a view to adding yellow lines?  Parking is occurring on many street corners and 
making it dangerous for pedestrians, cyclists and drivers. The yellow lines will serve 
as a reminder to drivers that they cannot park there. A list of corners can be supplied 
if it would expedite this process.   
 

Q.81 Councillor Pat Dunne 

After the recent successful mattress recycling event in Rosary College, could we look 

at a trial run before Halloween the placement of skips to reduce household dumping? 

This scheme has been successful for a number of years in the South Central Area.  

 
Q.82 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Regarding the 83 bus terminus at Stannaway Avenue - Could DCC contact Dublin Bus 

to ask for the terminus bus shelter to be reinstated?  There are many senior citizens 

complexes close by, and with the winter coming on, it would be important that people 

would be able to shelter from the rain.  

 
 

Page 161




	Agenda
	1 Presentation on Sandymount Coastal Flood Defence Scheme
	2 Minutes of the South East Area Committee Meeting held on 12th July 2021
	3 Environment and Transportation Department Matters
	4 Culture, Recreation and Emergency Services Matters
	Donnybrook Graveyard Site Plan 21051-4DRAFT-CT
	Donnybrook Graveyard SPC-BPS-SYNOPSIS_30-04-21-DRAFT-optimised

	5 Planning and Property Management Department Matters
	Report on proposed disposal of fee simple interest plot to rear of 12 Coolevin Road map
	Further Report on Proposed Disposal of Plot at 20 Cambridge Avenue
	Further Report on Proposed Disposal of Plot at 20 Cambridge Avenue -  MAP
	Report on Proposed Grant of 15 Year Licence to Sportsworld Running Club - Bushy Park
	Report on Proposed Grant of 15 Year Licence to Sportsword Running Club MAP
	Report on Proposed Disposal of Fee Simple in Lands at Berth 47A adj. to Pigeon House Road
	Report on Proposed Disposal of Fee Simple in Lands at Berth 47A adj. Pigeon House Road MAP
	Report on Proposed Disposal Lease Retail init junc of Drury Street  Stephen Street Lwr to Deenish Ltd ta Masa
	Report on Proposed Disposal Lease Retail init junc of Drury Street  Stephen Street Lwr to Deenish Ltd ta Masa MAP
	Report on proposed disposal 133 Upper Rathmines Road to HAIL Housing Association
	Report on Proposed Disposal 133 Upper Rathmines Road to HAIL Housing Association Map
	Report on Proposed Disposal Lease - Former Fire Station 190A Rathmines Road Lower  to MART-
	Report on Proposed Disposal Lease - Former Fire Station 190A Rathmines Road Lower  to MART Map
	Report on Proposed Disposal Fee Simple Plot to rear of- 363 Crumlin Road
	Report on Proposed Disposal Fee simple Plot to rear of- 363 Crumlin Road Map

	6 South East Area Office Matters
	Area Committee Report Naming and Numbering Mill Pond September 2021
	SM-2021-0548
	Area Committee Report The Dockyard September 2021
	SM-2021-0619 The Dockyard
	Developer's numbering drawing The Dockyard

	7 Motions
	Mot 14 DB Memorials policy development CRES ETQ att

	8 Questions to the Chief Executive 13th September 2021

